
ANNUAL REPORT
2012



Forward Looking Advisory

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report constitute forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking 
statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated. 
No assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report should not be 
unduly relied upon. These statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. Information and statements in this Annual Report relating to “reserves” and 
“resources” are deemed to be forward-looking information and statements, as they are based on certain estimates and assumptions. Please see the “Forward Looking 
Information” advisory in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) at page 52 of this Annual Report and the “Forward Looking Statements” advisory and 
“Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Information Form (AIF) dated March 28, 2013, which is available at www.sedar.com. The risks and uncertainties referred to 
above are described in more detail in the Company’s MD&A and AIF. The Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking 
statements except as required by applicable securities laws. 
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10,700	BOE/D	
LIGHT	OIL	

PEAK PRODUCTION 
57% LIQUIDS 

AT DECEMBER 17, 2012

10.6	BILLION	
BBL	BITUMEN	

CONTINGENT RESOURCES 
(BEST ESTIMATE)  

AT DECEMBER 31, 2012

364	MILLION	
BOE	(2P)

THERMAL AND LIGHT OIL 
(NET OF DIVESTITURES) 
AT DECEMBER 31, 2012

EYE	ON	THE	PRIZE
Athabasca Oil Corporation (the “Company” or “Athabasca”) is a dynamic energy company 
endowed with a diverse portfolio of thermal and light oil assets situated in Alberta’s Western 
Canadian Sedimentary Basin. Athabasca successfully executed its 2012 business plan, 
achieving major milestones in the development of its 4.3-million-acre (net) land base.

In 2012, Athabasca transformed from a pure exploration to an exploration and production 
(“E&P”) company. On December 17, 2012, the Company’s Light Oil Division achieved a peak 
production rate of approximately 10,700 barrels of oil equivalent per day (“boe/d”) which 
was comprised of 57 percent liquids. Athabasca’s Thermal Oil Division received regulatory 
approvals, in October 2012, to construct the Hangingstone Project 1, a 12,000 barrel per day  
(“bbl/d”) Steam Assisted Gravity Drainage (“SAGD”) operation near Fort McMurray. 
Construction commenced at Hangingstone before year end 2012, and first steam is targeted 
for late 2014.

At December 31, 2012, independent engineering evaluations established that Athabasca’s 
combined thermal and light oil reserves increased, net of divestitures, by 4.5 percent over 
2011, to 364 million boe proved plus probable reserves (“2P”) of which 22 million boe was 
light oil. The Company’s bitumen resources increased, year-over-year, by approximately  
eight percent to 10.6 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate).

Poised to become a major oil producer, Athabasca aims to produce 200,000 boe/d by 2020, 
comprised of a 50/50 weighting of thermal and light oil. With its eye fixed firmly on the prize, 
Athabasca’s entrepreneurial team is focused on developing Athabasca’s world class assets.
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FIRST-CLASS	EXECUTION

2012	MILESTONES

THERMAL OIL DIVISION
Athabasca advanced the development of its various bitumen 
properties in both the oil sands and carbonate assets, increasing its 
year-over-year reserves and resources base.

• Received regulatory approvals, in October 2012, for the construction 
of the Hangingstone Project 1, a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project;

• In November 2012, the Board of Directors sanctioned the 
$536-million construction of the Hangingstone Project 1 and  
$27 million for associated infrastructure;

• At the Hangingstone asset, an independent engineering evaluation 
assigned 51 million bbl of proved reserves, 66 million bbl of 
probable reserves and 0.9 billion bbl of contingent resources  
(best estimate), at December 31, 2012;

• Bitumen resources increased, year-over-year, by approximately 
eight percent to 10.6 billion bbl of contingent resources (best 
estimate), at December 31, 2012; 

• Drilled 99 wells on Athabasca’s wholly-owned oil sands leases:  
39 delineation wells and 15 observation wells at the Hangingstone 
Project 1; 22 delineation wells at Birch; and 23 water source and 
disposal wells across Hangingstone, Birch and Dover West;

• Acquired 159 kilometres of 2-D and 51 square kilometres of 3-D 
seismic data in the Hangingstone area, and 54 square kilometres 
of 3-D seismic data at Birch;

• Demonstrated “proof of concept” of the Thermal Assisted Gravity 
Drainage (“TAGD”) production technology during field tests 
at Dover West, effectively heating the reservoir and mobilizing 
bitumen in the Leduc carbonates.

LIGHT OIL DIVISION
Athabasca established itself as an E&P company in the liquids-rich 
Alberta Deep Basin, and constructed its wholly-owned gathering and 
production facilities and infrastructure.

• Achieved a peak production rate, on December 17, 2012, of 
approximately 10,700 boe/d which was comprised of 57% liquids;

• Invested $188 million in infrastructure, including constructing a 
63-kilometre-long, 12-inch-diameter trunk pipeline from Kaybob 
West to the Keyera Simonette Gas Plant and oil batteries at 
Kaybob West, Kaybob East and Saxon/Placid with a capacity of 
36,000 bbl/d of oil and 48 mmcf/d of natural gas;

• At December 31, 2012, an independent engineering evaluation 
added 12.8 million boe of proved plus probable reserves, 
representing a 139% year-over-year increase;

• Drilled 46 horizontal wells (and completed 44 horizontal wells) 
targeting unconventional reservoirs in the Duvernay, Montney and 
Nordegg formations, including Alberta’s first horizontal Duvernay 
oil well at Kaybob East;

• At year-end, 33 horizontal wells were tied-in and on production;

• Acquired 710 square kilometres of 3-D seismic data and  
698 kilometres of 2-D seismic data; 

• High-graded 350,000 acres (net) of Duvernay potential, including 
200,000 acres (net) at Kaybob which contain greater than  
20 metres of net pay and lie in the heart of the Duvernay Fairway;

• High-graded more than 2,000 drilling locations (targeting the 
stacked Duvernay and Montney formations) to develop the 
Kaybob and Saxon/Placid areas;

• Increased land position in northwestern Alberta, to greater than 
675,000 acres (net) at Caribou, targeting light oil in the Slave Point 
Formation, and to greater than 650,000 acres (net) at Muskwa, 
targeting the liquids-rich shales of the Muskwa Formation.

4.3	MILLION	
ACRES	(NET)

THERMAL AND LIGHT OIL 
19% YEAR-OVER-YEAR INCREASE

 

$1.0	BILLION	
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 
AT DECEMBER 31, 2012

  

$4.4	BILLION	
MARKET CAPITALIZATION 

AT DECEMBER 31, 2012
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BUILDING	ON	SUCCESS

2013	OBJECTIVES

THERMAL OIL DIVISION
Athabasca plans to invest $533 million to advance the development 
of its thermal oil assets in the oil sands and carbonate reservoirs, 
including the fabrication of its innovative production technology and 
the construction of its wholly-owned Hangingstone Project 1. 

HANGINGSTONE	PROJECT	1
• Construct the central processing facility, well pads, pipelines and 

area infrastructure for a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project;

• Commence the drilling of 20 well pairs (five well pairs per pad) 
by mid year 2013.

HANGINGSTONE	PROJECTS	2	AND	3	
• Conduct a 23-well appraisal drilling program to delineate bitumen 

resources at the Hangingstone Project 2;

• Submit regulatory applications in Q2 2013, for Projects 2 and 3 
(“the Hangingstone Expansion”), a 70,000 bbl/d SAGD project.

DOVER	WEST	SANDS	AND	CARBONATES	
• Invest $42 million to construct roads and infrastructure;

• Obtain regulatory approvals, expected in 2013, for the 12,000 bbl/d  
SAGD Dover West Sands Project 1;

• Conduct the third production phase field test of the TAGD 
production technology;

• Complete the construction, expected in Q2 2013, of the TAGD 
Heater Assembly Facility near Strathmore, Alberta, and advance 
the Heater Development Project;

• Obtain regulatory approvals, expected in 2013, for the Dover 
West Carbonates TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project.

DOVER	COMMERCIAL	JOINT	VENTURE	PROJECT	
• Obtain regulatory approvals, expected in 2013, for the  

250,000 bbl/d SAGD joint venture project, giving Athabasca the 
opportunity to exercise the Put Option to sell its 40% interest  
for $1.32 billion.

LIGHT OIL DIVISION
Athabasca plans to deploy $236 million to advance the development 
of its organically driven exploration and production activities targeting 
the liquids-rich, multi-zone geological potential at Kaybob, Simonette 
and Saxon/Placid (collectively known as the “Fox Creek” area). 

• Achieve a mid-year production guidance of 11,000 to 13,000 
boe/d comprised of 40 to 50 percent liquids;

• Invest $63 million to construct gathering lines, facilities and 
infrastructure, including roads and the pipeline interconnect 
between the Kaybob East and Kaybob West batteries; 

• Invest $137 million in a development drilling program comprised 
of 20 horizontal wells (utilizing six drilling rigs) targeting the 
Montney Formation;

• Monitor and optimize production and decline rates of the horizontal 
wells, establishing type well curves by formation (Duvernay, 
Montney and Nordegg) and by area, in order to create multi-year 
development plans for the Fox Creek area;

• Create a multi-year development plan, using the type well curves, 
to exploit the 350,000 high-graded acres (net) of liquids-rich 
Duvernay potential, including 200,000 acres (net) near Kaybob 
which contain greater than 20 metres of net pay and lie in the heart 
of the Duvernay Fairway;

• Capture a premium price for the produced oil by blending the sales 
product mix with the condensate-rich Duvernay production; 

• Acquire 325 kilometres of 2-D seismic data and drill and core five 
exploration wells at Caribou and Muskwa, Athabasca’s recently 
acquired exploration areas in northwestern Alberta.

$798	MILLION	
2013 CAPITAL BUDGET 

THERMAL AND LIGHT OIL

$1.32	BILLION	
DOVER PUT OPTION PROCEEDS 

(IF EXERCISED)

11,000	TO		
13,000	BOE/D	
LIGHT OIL MID-YEAR GUIDANCE 

40 TO 50% LIQUIDS
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EXECUTIVE	TEAM

Left	 to	 Right:	 Rob	 Broen,	 Terry	 Bachynski,	 Rob	 Harding,	 Andre	 De	 Leebeeck,		
Rick	 Koshman,	 Heather	 Douglas,	 Rob	 Bowie,	 Sveinung	 Svarte,	 Dan	 Hauserman,	
Anne	Schenkenberger,	Ian	Atkinson,	Bryan	Gould,	Don	Verdonck	and	Brent	Heagy
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FROM	THE	CHIEF	EXECUTIVE	OFFICER

Athabasca’s long-term strategy is to become a large 
E&P company. Our vision and ambitious goal is to reach 
200,000 boe/d of production by 2020, comprised of a 
50/50 split between thermal and light oil.

Founded in 2006, Athabasca’s success is based 
upon creating shared corporate goals and designing 
a business strategy to transform its vision into reality. 
Athabasca’s corporate brand, an external reflection 
of its guiding vision, can be described by two words: 
“quality” and “deliverability.”

Since its inception, Athabasca has identified joint 
ventures with large international corporations as the main 
source of corporate financing to achieve its ambitious 
production goals. Joint venture agreements continue to 
represent excellent vehicles for Athabasca to develop 
its 4.3 million acres (net) of thermal and light oil assets, 
tapping into third-party capital and technical expertise. 
Although an oil sands joint venture was not finalized 
in 2012, I remain optimistic that one is still achievable. 
Athabasca’s large Duvernay land position in the Alberta 
Deep Basin also represents an attractive candidate for a 
joint venture, especially following the strong production  
results in all of the Company’s Duvernay wells.

On December 17, 2012, the Light Oil Division achieved a peak production rate of 
approximately 10,700 boe/d which was comprised of 57-percent liquids. During the 
past year, Athabasca executed the construction of its wholly-owned gathering and 
production facilities at Kaybob West, Kaybob East and Saxon/Placid. In late 2012, 
the Thermal Oil Division received the green light, from the Government of Alberta 
and the Company’s Board of Directors, to construct the Hangingstone Project 1,  
its first wholly-owned SAGD project. These two events represent significant  
milestones in Athabasca’s history and are value-added transformations for the 
Company’s  shareholders. 

During 2012, the Company drilled 46 horizontal wells targeting stacked unconventional 
reservoirs in the Duvernay, Montney and Nordegg formations. By year-end, 44 wells 
had been completed and 33 were on production. 

As one of the largest Duvernay land holders in the Alberta Deep Basin, Athabasca 
is very encouraged by its recent horizontal well results and by the production rates 
from other operators’ wells in the Duvernay Fairway. Athabasca is also pleased to see 
recent industry transactions which support its view of the value of the Duvernay play 
to shareholders.

Control of its light oil gathering and production facilities enables Athabasca 
to optimize operational costs. As production ramps up, Athabasca expects to  
deliver incremental, low cost reserves and improved finding and development  
costs. The Company has high-graded more than 2,000 drilling locations at Kaybob 
and Saxon/Placid. 

During Q4 2012 and Q1 2013, the Light Oil Division’s development drilling program 
utilized six rigs, drilling 20 horizontal wells targeting the Montney Formation. Poised 
to increase light oil production, Athabasca has set a mid-year production guidance of  
11,000 to 13,000 boe/d comprised of 40 to 50 percent liquids.

During Q2 2013, the Thermal Oil Division intends to submit regulatory applications to 
construct Hangingstone Projects 2 and 3, two consecutive SAGD projects which are 
expected to add an additional 70,000 bbl/d of bitumen production in the Company’s 
Hangingstone area.

The Company’s diversified portfolio creates a number of tangible benefits: the light 
oil assets provide value-added, immediate cash flow while the thermal oil assets — 
with their longer development timeframes — represent long-life or legacy assets for 
the Company’s shareholders. Moreover, the production of gas and condensate, major 
feedstocks for thermal oil operations, provides Athabasca with a full-cycle hedge.

Athabasca had a banner year, achieving numerous corporate milestones and transitioning from 
a pure exploration company to an exploration and production company with a balanced portfolio 
of light oil production and a thermal oil project under construction. Athabasca’s decision, in 2010, 
to diversify the Company’s exploration and development portfolio into the liquids-rich light oil 
plays of the Alberta Deep Basin, is reaping benefits today.
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I envision the allocation of financial and human resources, in parallel 
and at a similar pace, to grow these complementary businesses, 
enabling Athabasca to balance the high returns and flexibility inherent 
in the light oil business with the attractive and stable returns and 
production characteristics of the thermal oil business.

Maintaining capital discipline, Athabasca is well funded to support its 
2013 capital budget of $798 million. As in 2012, the Company will 
conduct a mid-year review of its 2013 capital budget and production 
guidance, assessing well performance, commodity prices and 
corporate events. 

EXTERNAL	CHALLENGES

As Athabasca turns its vision into reality and strives to deliver long-
term sustainable value for shareholders, it faces external challenges 
common to other Alberta-based E&P companies. Bottlenecks in 
pipeline capacity carrying Alberta’s crude oil and bitumen to markets 
in the United States have resulted in fluctuating commodity prices 
and large differentials between Alberta’s bitumen and West Texas 
Intermediate crude.

Athabasca is not facing these external challenges in isolation: as a 
member of several leading Canadian energy industry associations, 
the Company benefits from their expertise and North American reach 
with respect to improving market access and energy sector growth. 
Aligned with many SAGD operators, Athabasca believes that Asia, 
and not the U.S. Gulf Coast, is the logical market for Alberta’s vast 
bitumen resources. 

Athabasca anticipates the construction of additional pipelines to 
transport Alberta’s bitumen to diversified markets. Options on 
the table currently include TransCanada Corporation’s proposed 
construction of the Keystone XL pipeline to U.S. markets, Kinder 
Morgan Canada’s proposed expansion of the Trans Mountain pipeline 
to a marine terminus in Vancouver, British Columbia, Enbridge Inc.’s 
proposed construction of the Northern Gateway pipeline to a marine 
terminus in Kitimat, British Columbia; and the conversion of existing 
natural gas pipelines to carry bitumen to markets in Eastern Canada. 

At Athabasca, we believe that increases in North American pipeline 
capacity — combined with short-term rail and barge transport 
solutions — will ensure that Alberta-based E&P companies, Albertans 
and all Canadians, receive their fair share of revenues derived from 
bitumen extraction. Notwithstanding these challenges, the Company 
anticipates that some of these issues will be addressed by early 2015 
when bitumen production commences at Hangingstone, Athabasca’s 
12,000 bbl/d SAGD project.

PEOPLE

Already endowed with world class thermal and light oil assets, the key 
to Athabasca’s success is its people.

One of Athabasca’s greatest corporate achievements, to date, has 
been its ability to attract top notch employees from across the energy 
sector — skilled technical, operations, administrative and business 
people who are empowered to run with the corporate vision, adding 
their unique input along the way. 

During 2012, Athabasca’s team grew from approximately 200 to  
350 employees. By the end of 2013, the team is projected to grow to 
400 employees.

Athabasca’s entrepreneurial team delivered on its 2012 corporate 
goals and substantially advanced the development of the Company’s 
thermal and light oil assets. In response to achieving these significant 
corporate milestones and in order to position the Company for 
future growth, the Board of Directors announced several executive 
appointments. In addition, two key positions were created — senior 
vice president, light oil, and senior vice president, thermal oil. 
Furthermore, my role, as president and chief executive officer was 
divided into two positions. On page nine, readers will hear from Mr. 
Bryan Gould, Athabasca’s new president, who is responsible for all 
operations, operating assets and technical functions.

In closing, I would like to thank Athabasca’s Board of Directors, whose 
oversight and corporate governance extends across all corporate 
functions including matters pertaining to health, safety, security 
and the environment. I would also like to thank all of Athabasca’s 
employees who have worked tirelessly, during 2012, achieving 
corporate milestones and setting the stage for unprecedented growth 
in 2013 and beyond. Last but not least, I’d like to thank the people 
who we all work for — our shareholders. On behalf of Athabasca’s 
team, I sincerely thank the shareholders for their ongoing support as 
we march towards the ambitious goal of 200,000 boe/d by 2020. 

Most sincerely yours,

Sveinung Svarte 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Athabasca’s independent reserves and resources evaluators, GLJ Petroleum 
Consultants Ltd. and DeGolyer MacNaughton Canada Limited, performed 
engineering evaluations of the Company’s thermal and light oil assets, effective  
December 31, 2012. 

The Thermal Oil Division’s contingent bitumen resources (best estimate) increased, 
year-over-year, by approximately eight percent to 10.6 billion bbl. Proved plus 
probable bitumen reserves increased over the previous year’s estimate of 339 billion 
bbl (net of the disposition of the MacKay River Joint Venture), to an estimated  
342 million bbl. Year-over-year additions to the reserves and resources base also 
reflect the successful results of the 2011-2012 Winter Drilling and Seismic Program 
which further delineated the bitumen deposits.

In 2012, Athabasca received regulatory approvals to construct the Hangingstone 
Project 1, a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project. The Company’s Board of Directors 
subsequently sanctioned the Hangingstone Project 1, triggering the reclassification 
of 51 million bbl of Hangingstone’s probable reserves to the proved reserve category.

In March 2012, Athabasca closed the sale of its remaining 40-percent interest in 
the MacKay River Joint Venture to Phoenix Energy Holdings Limited (“Phoenix”), 
successor by amalgamation to Cretaceous Oilsands Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of PetroChina Company International Limited (“PetroChina”). The 
sale resulted in the divestiture of a combined 114 million bbl of proved plus probable 
reserves and 573 million bbl (best estimate) of contingent resources. 

At Dover West, Athabasca acquired oil sands leases which contained approximately 
1.0 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate) at December 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2012, the Light Oil Division’s reserves increased, year-over-year, 
from 9.2 million boe of proved plus probable reserves to 22.0 million boe proved 
plus probable reserves. This 139-percent, year-over-year increase in Athabasca’s  
proved plus probable reserves reflects a successful drilling and completion program 
in 2012 which targeted stacked (or multi-zone) unconventional reservoirs in the 
Duvernay and Montney formations. 

At year-end, the Light Oil Division had established production from 33 horizontal wells. 
Production facilities in the Fox Creek area were commissioned in late 2012, limiting the 
reporting period for well production histories. As production trends and type curves are 
established in 2013, the Company expects to prove reservoir recoveries and additional 
proved plus probable reserves. Additional wells were drilled in late 2012, but were not 
completed or tested prior to year-end — production from these new wells is expected 
to contribute additional proved plus probable reserves in 2013.

Athabasca’s land base increased, year-over-year, by approximately 19 percent, from 
3.6 to 4.3 million acres (net). The Company holds greater than 1.5 million acres (net) 
of oil sands leases and permits and greater than 2.8 million acres (net) of petroleum 
and natural gas leases.

For additional information on the Company’s reserves and resources, please refer to 
Athabasca’s Annual Information Form dated March 28, 2013, which is available on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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Investments	 in	 the	 development	 of	 thermal	 oil	 at	 Hangingstone	 and	
light	oil	at	Fox	Creek	have	laid	the	foundation	for	profitable	production	
growth	during	the	coming	decade.
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FROM	THE	PRESIDENT

Athabasca experienced a watershed year in 2012, one that marked the Company’s transition 
to the production and development phases of its corporate life cycle. In 2012, the Company 
deployed a $1.1-billion capital budget — weighted 44 percent for thermal oil and 56 percent  
for light oil operations — to transform its vast resource base into commercial production.

The Thermal Oil Division received regulatory approvals 
for the Hangingstone Project 1, Athabasca’s first  
wholly-owned SAGD operation near Fort McMurray, 
and commenced construction before year-end. The 
Company demonstrated “proof of concept” of the 
TAGD production technology, mobilizing and producing 
bitumen in the Leduc carbonates. 

The Light Oil Division took a major step forward, 
constructing and commissioning Athabasca’s  
wholly-owned infrastructure in the Fox Creek area.  
At year-end, 33 horizontal wells were producing, including 
two of the Company’s first three Duvernay wells in the 
Alberta Deep Basin. I’m very pleased with the initial 
performance of these Duvernay wells — in particular, 
early production rates from the 2-34-62-20 W5M  
well explain the industry’s great appetite for this 
condensate-rich play.

In 2013, the Company plans to further develop its 
prospective light oil land base, conducting a 20-well 
horizontal drilling program in the Fox Creek area 
which targets the Montney Formation. Athabasca 
will undertake early stage exploration programs in 
northwestern Alberta in 2013, targeting the Muskwa 
liquids-rich shales at Rainbow Lake and the oil rich Slave 
Point carbonates at Caribou.

Behind the scenes, Athabasca’s staff worked diligently, advancing corporate 
management systems designed to steward the Company’s growing capital 
expenditures and to achieve operational excellence. I view Athabasca’s growing team 
as a “melting pot” of people with diverse skills and backgrounds, and I’m excited to 
see the team develop a corporate culture that’s efficient and results driven.

I believe passionately in work place safety. At Athabasca, we’re intent upon 
embedding health, safety, security and the environment (“HSSE”) practices, from the 
senior corporate leaders through to our employees and contractors in the field. Our 
systematic, hands-on approach to workplace safety and environmental protection 
leads to operational efficiencies and excellence in all aspects of our business 
performance. We strive to have each and every worker return home safely, each and 
every night.

Industry-standard HSSE processes underpin all of Athabasca’s activities — whether 
constructing the 63-kilometre-long, 12-inch-diameter pipeline from the Kaybob 
West Battery to the Keyera Simonette Gas Plant or managing the 99-well drilling 
program to delineate our bitumen assets.

Athabasca’s social license to operate involves actively engaging with stakeholders 
in the communities where it operates. The Company has endeavoured to 
establish a respectful, two-way dialogue with diverse stakeholders which includes 
the transparent exchange of information. Athabasca is focused on achieving  
“win-win” solutions which advance its corporate goals while addressing the needs of 
its multi-stakeholders.

I’m pleased to present the 2012 operational summaries, the 2013 capital budget and 
guidance, and the ongoing initiatives on health, safety, security and the environment 
and community engagement.

I join Mr. Sveinung Svarte, Athabasca’s chief executive officer, in celebrating Team 
Athabasca’s value-added contributions during 2012. 

Most sincerely yours,

Bryan Gould 
President  
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In	 late	2012,	Athabasca	commenced	construction	at	Hangingstone,	 its	
wholly-owned	12,000	bbl/d	SAGD	project.	Light	oil	production	reached	
a	peak	production	rate	of	10,700	boe/d	(comprised	of	57	percent	liquids)	
on	December	17,	2012.
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2012	OPERATIONS

THERMAL	OIL	DIVISION

Athabasca continued the development of its thermal oil assets, proceeding on many 
parallel fronts — exploration, development, road construction, TAGD production testing, 
environmental impact assessments, engineering procurement and modularization. 

In 2012, Athabasca invested $458 in its wholly-owned thermal oil assets, comprised 
of $169 million at Hangingstone, $258 million at Dover West and $31 million at Birch.

Athabasca’s 2011-2012 Winter Drilling Program was comprised of 99 wells on the 
Company’s wholly-owned oil sands leases: 39 delineation wells and 15 observation 
wells at the Hangingstone Project 1; 22 delineation wells at Birch; and 23 water 
source and disposal wells across Hangingstone, Birch and Dover West. The winter 
drilling program was completed on time and under budget.

The Company’s 2011-2012 Winter Seismic Program consisted of 159 kilometres of 
2-D seismic data and 51 square kilometres of 3-D seismic data in the Hangingstone 
area, and 54 square kilometres of 3-D seismic data in the Birch area.

The acquisition of the new drilling, core and seismic data has enhanced the Company’s 
geological and geophysical understanding of the complex subsurface depositional 
environments, further delineating its abundant bitumen resources. Data obtained 
during the winter drilling and seismic programs were analyzed by independent 
engineers, increasing Athabasca’s year-over-year bitumen reserves and contingent 
resources. 

Development work continued, during 2012, to unlock the vast bitumen potential of 
Athabasca’s carbonate plays. The Company conducted two “proof of concept” TAGD 
field tests at Dover West, effectively heating the carbonate reservoir and mobilizing 
bitumen to a production well. Near Strathmore, Alberta, Athabasca commenced 
the construction of the Heater Assembly Facility where the TAGD downhole heater 
prototype was tested.

At December 31, 2012, the Company’s bitumen resources increased, year-over-year, by 
approximately eight percent to 10.6 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate). 
Athabasca increased its year-over-year proved plus probable bitumen reserves (net 
of the sale of its 40-percent interest in the MacKay River Joint Venture) from 339 to  
342 million bbl.

The Hangingstone project area is comprised of 136,000 acres of oil sands leases 
which, based upon an independent engineering estimate, at December 31, 2012, 
contains 51 million bbl of proved reserves, 66 million bbl of probable reserves and  
0.9 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate). 

Regulatory approvals of the Hangingstone Project 1 — combined with project 
sanctioning by the Board of Directors — precipitated the reclassification of 51 million 
bbl of probable reserves to the proved reserve category, effective December 31, 2012.
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HANGINGSTONE PROJECT 1 
The Hangingstone Project 1, a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD operation, is located approximately 
20 kilometres southwest of Fort McMurray.

In October 2012, Athabasca received approvals from the Government of Alberta,  
to construct the Hangingstone Project 1, its first wholly-owned SAGD project.  
In late November 2012, Athabasca’s Board of Directors sanctioned the Hangingstone 
Project 1 capital budget of $536 million and an additional $27 million for the 
construction of supporting infrastructure. 

The front-end engineering and design (“FEED”) process for the Hangingstone  
Project 1 was completed in 2012. By year-end, Athabasca had contractually 
committed more than 60 percent of the forecasted capital expenditures, including 
the procurement of long-lead equipment such as the boilers, evaporators, pumps, 
two SAGD drilling rigs and one SAGD completions rig. During Q3 2012, Athabasca 
awarded a contract to an Alberta-based company for the fabrication of its  
production modules. 

First steam is targeted for late 2014.
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3-D rendering of the Hangingstone Project 1 
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HANGINGSTONE PROJECTS 2 AND 3
The Hangingstone Project 1 is intended to be followed by two 
consecutive SAGD projects, bringing the area’s overall production to 
more than 80,000 bbl/d. 

In 2012, Athabasca designed the full-asset life cycle development 
plan for the Hangingstone Projects 2 and 3, including the required 
expansions to the central processing plant and the well pad layouts. 
As part of the full-asset life cycle development plan, the Company 
gathered environmental data to support regulatory submissions for 
these two commercial SAGD projects.

The provincial regulatory process for a commercial SAGD project 
involves the submission of an environmental impact assessment  
(an “EIA”). Athabasca anticipates submitting an EIA during Q2 2013,  
for the Hangingstone Expansion. 

DOVER WEST CARBONATES  
(TAGD PILOT/DEMONSTRATION PROJECT)
Production from the Company’s bitumen-rich Leduc Formation — 
originally formed as a coral reef and characterized today by excellent 
porosity and permeability — is expected to utilize TAGD, an innovative 
production technology employing downhole conduction heaters.

At December 31, 2012, an independent reserves and resources 
review, employing the industry-proven SAGD production technology, 
estimated that Athabasca’s Leduc carbonate trend contains 16.7 billion 
bbl of petroleum initially in place (of which 11.6 billion bbl is discovered) 
and 3.0 billion bbl of contingent resource (best estimate).

In 2012, Athabasca’s “proof of concept” field tests delivered  
all of their objectives, confirming that the TAGD production technology 
could effectively heat the reservoir and mobilize bitumen to  
a production well, and paving the way to launching the TAGD  
Pilot/Demonstration Project.

Two production phases were conducted at Dover West during  
2012 — the TAGD technology successfully mobilized bitumen at 
lower temperatures than those utilized in the SAGD production 
process. During these production phases, bitumen was mobilized at 
an estimated 70 to 90 °C, and 60 to 70 percent of the bitumen heated  
to greater than 80 °C was recovered. The conduction heating cables 
were fully operational throughout the field tests.

Data obtained during the field tests have enabled Athabasca to model 
the deployment of this innovative production technology, simulating 
the production performance of a commercial TAGD project.

In 2012, Athabasca commenced construction of its Heater Assembly 
Facility (“HAF”) near Strathmore, Alberta. The Company drilled a 
horizontal and a vertical well at the HAF, and assembled a downhole 
heater prototype for the TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project.

Engineering and development plans progressed during 2012, and the 
regulatory approval process for the TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project 
moved forward. 

Athabasca anticipates receiving regulatory approvals in 2013.

DOVER WEST SANDS PROJECT 1 
The Dover West Sands Project 1 is planned as a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD 
operation. Engineering and development plans progressed, during 
2012, and Athabasca completed the construction of a 64-kilometre-
long, all-season access road to the site. 

Regulatory approval is expected during 2013. 

JOINT VENTURE ASSETS
In March 2012, Athabasca closed the sale of its remaining 40-percent 
interest in the MacKay River Joint Venture to Phoenix for $680 million 
(gross). Net proceeds were $202 million, after Athabasca’s repayment 
of two loans owing to PetroChina and closing adjustments. The sale 
represented a divestiture of a combined 114 million bbl of proved plus 
probable reserves and 573 million bbl (best estimate) of contingent 
resources, at December 31, 2011.

In 2012, the Company invested $8 million at Dover, an oil sands 
joint venture operated by Dover Operating Corp. (“Dover OPCO”),  
a company jointly owned by Athabasca (40%) and Phoenix (60%). 

Dover OPCO anticipates receiving regulatory approvals, in 2013, for a 
250,000 bbl/d SAGD project comprised of five, 50,000 bbl/d phases. 
Receipt of provincial regulatory approvals would allow Athabasca 
to exercise the Put Option for proceeds of $1.32 billion dollars to  
the Company. 
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LIGHT	OIL	DIVISION

Athabasca conducted a 2012 mid-year review of its capital allocation, increasing 
the Light Oil Division’s capital budget from $403 to $525 million which included 
petroleum and natural gas lease acquisitions. By year end 2012, the Company had 
invested $611 million to advance its liquids-rich plays in the Alberta Deep Basin. 

In 2011, Athabasca commenced exploring the liquids-rich Alberta Deep Basin. 
Since then, the Company has drilled one vertical well and 62 horizontal wells 
targeting multi-zone (or stacked) geological reservoirs, increasing its geological and 
engineering knowledge of these unconventional plays. 

The Company has moved swiftly up the learning curve, in terms of understanding the 
Duvernay reservoir’s fracture characteristics and developing innovative multi-stage 
hydraulic fracturing techniques which have yielded strong production test results.  
In 2012, Athabasca drilled and completed Alberta’s first Duvernay horizontal oil well 
at Kaybob East.

Athabasca’s Duvernay Fairway consists of 350,000 acres (net) with geological 
potential, including 200,000 acres which contain greater than 20 metres of net 
pay. These lands are situated near Kaybob in the heart of the Duvernay Fairway.  
The Company has identified more than 2,000 drilling locations targeting 
unconventional reservoirs in the Duvernay and Montney formations.

In 2012, the Light Oil Division drilled 46 horizontal wells targeting the Montney and 
Duvernay formations. At year-end, 44 horizontal wells had been completed and  
33 were on production, including two of the Company’s three Duvernay wells which 
were drilled in 2012.

Athabasca’s year-end well inventory included 22 horizontal wells (completed with 
multi-stage hydraulic fracturing) awaiting tie-in and seven horizontal wells awaiting 
multi-stage completions.

During 2012, the Light Oil Division deployed $320 million for an exploration and 
development drilling program and $15 million for exploration programs. Recognizing 
the benefits of controlling its production and gathering facilities, Athabasca also 
invested $189 million to construct its wholly-owned facilities and infrastructure. 

In April 2012, the Company completed the construction of a 63-kilometre-long,  
12-inch diameter trunk pipeline from the Kaybob West Battery to the Keyera 
Simonette Gas Plant. The pipeline is capable of transporting up to 180 mmcf/d of 
natural gas.

Athabasca constructed gathering systems and oil batteries in the Fox Creek area 
with a combined processing capacity of up to 36,000 bbl/d of oil and 48 mmcf/d 
of natural gas production. Daily oil and gas production ramped up during Q4 2012:  

Light Oil Assets
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the Kaybob West Battery was commissioned in October 2012, followed by the 
Kaybob East and Saxon/Placid batteries in mid-December 2012. 

On December 17, 2012, the Light Oil Division achieved a peak production rate 
of approximately 10,700 boe/d which was comprised of 57 percent liquids. 
Subsequently, in January and February, the Company experienced throughput 
capacity constraints in a third-party transmission line in the Kaybob East area, 
curtailing Athabasca’s production by approximately 2,500 to 3,000 boe/d. At the end 
of February 2013, Athabasca experienced additional throughput constraints due to 
unexpected downtime at the Keyera Simonette Gas Plant. Although the unexpected 
operational issues at the Keyera Simonette Gas Plant have been resolved, the facility 
is not expected to be fully functioning until early April 2013. Despite these capacity 
constraints, during January and February 2013, the Company’s production averaged 
approximately 7,500 boe/d which was comprised of more than 54 percent liquids. 

In late February 2013, Athabasca completed the construction of a 35-kilometre-long 
pipeline interconnect between the Kaybob East and Kaybob West oil batteries. This 
pipeline will be commissioned in early April 2013, in conjunction with the resumption 
of full operations at the Keyera Simonette Gas Plant. Commissioning of the pipeline 
interconnect will enable the Company to switch to its wholly-owned infrastructure, 
lessening the impacts of this third-party facility constraints and bringing its currently 
curtailed production back on stream. Commissioning of the pipeline interconnect will 
also enable Athabasca to produce the incremental production that it expects from 
additional new wells.

At year-end, the Light Oil Division had established production from 33 horizontal 
wells. At December 31, 2012, Athabasca increased its year-over-year proved plus 
probable reserves by 139 percent, from 9.2 million boe to 22 million boe of proved 
plus probable reserves.

Production facilities at Fox Creek were commissioned in late 2012, limiting the 
reporting period for well production histories. As production trends and type curves 
are established in 2013, the Company expects to prove reservoir recoveries and 
additional proved plus probable reserves. Additional wells were drilled in late 2012, 
but were not completed or tested prior to year-end — production from these new 
wells is expected to contribute additional proved plus probable reserves in 2013.

Diversifying its light oil portfolio out of the Deep Basin in 2012, Athabasca increased 
its acreage holdings to greater than 675,000 acres (net) of petroleum and natural gas 
leases at Caribou, in northwestern Alberta. The Caribou leases contain Athabasca’s 
newest exploration play, light oil in the Slave Point Formation. Athabasca also 
increased its acreage position to greater than 650,000 acres (net) at North and 
South Rainbow Lake (collectively known as “Muskwa”), in northwestern Alberta, 
where the Company is exploring for liquids-rich shales of the Muskwa Formation. 

2012 CAPITAL SPENDING
($ million)

Light oil $611

Hangingstone $169

Dover West $258

Birch $31

Other $31

Total: $1,100 million

October 2012: Installing five pipelines from a well pad site to 
the Saxon/Placid Battery
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HEALTH,	SAFETY,	SECURITY	AND		
THE	ENVIRONMENT	

In response to becoming an active production company in the Alberta 
Deep Basin, Athabasca strengthened its company-wide initiatives 
in the Health, Safety, Security and the Environment (“HSSE”) areas. 
In step with changes in Athabasca’s operational risk profile, the 
Company developed and embedded Emergency Response Plans and 
Integrity Management Programs in its Light Oil Division.

During 2012, the Company hired a team of seasoned industry 
professionals to develop and implement an HSSE management 
system which defines roles and responsibilities and sets expectations 
on how HSSE risks will be managed. 

In 2012, Athabasca organized cross-business teams in the Thermal 
and Light Oil divisions to work on the foundations of site safety 
management, and it commissioned competence management tools 
for front-line operations. The Company developed a framework for 
contractor safety management, including the use of a third-party 
(or sub-contractor) prequalification tool. Athabasca’s corporate 
framework for incident management includes a robust incident 
reporting system. 

In the coming year, the Company will continue building its positive 
corporate culture of HSSE — from the senior executives to line 
managers and contractors working in the field — further embedding 
corporate-wide initiatives into the business processes and functions, 
and defining critical standards of performance and accountabilities. 

Athabasca has set HSSE targets for 2013 and intends to measure 
against them, continuously improving HSSE performance and 
regulatory compliance. The Company will implement an online 
incident tracking system in 2013. 

Athabasca’s land reclamation plans incorporate input from its many 
stakeholders and are reviewed in consultation with regulatory officials. 
Field operations begin with the end in mind — whether acquiring  
seismic data, drilling exploration wells or designing the Hangingstone 
Project 1, a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD production operation near  
Fort McMurray, full-cycle development planning includes the ultimate 
reclamation of the land. 

On the environmental and sustainability front, Athabasca undertook 
initiatives during 2012 to reduce its operational field footprint. In the 
Alberta Deep Basin, the Company drilled multiple horizontal wells from 

the same surface pads, limiting the surface disturbances created by 
well sites, roads and pipelines. Athabasca constructed new pipelines 
along existing pipeline corridors, minimizing surface disturbances by 
up to 50 percent. In anticipation of future increased production rates 
from the Fox Creek area, the Company installed multiple and parallel 
pipelines along common right of ways.

In response to increasing water usage for hydraulic fracturing 
operations, the Light Oil Division recycled its load water, dramatically 
reducing water requirements per horizontal well. During 2012,  
the Company developed a long-term water usage strategy, drilling 
its first non-potable water source well and minimizing its reliance on 
surface waters. 

In the Thermal Oil Division’s northern operations, land disturbance 
is kept at a minimum by securely stockpiling removed soil, trees 
and mulch for future reclamation operations. To date, Athabasca 
has drilled approximately 590 wells to evaluate its vast bitumen  
resources — at December 31, 2012, the Company had reclaimed  
510 of these well sites and their access roads.

During the 2011-2012 Winter Drilling Program, the Thermal Oil 
Division designed a portable, truck-mounted centrifuge to remove drill 
cuttings and solids from the drilling mud system — this innovative-
yet-simple solution enabled Athabasca to reuse its drilling mud, 
thereby decreasing the volume of surface water, per well, from 14,000 
to 1,000 cubic metres. Time savings associated with the handling 
smaller volumes of water, mud and drilling waste led to efficiencies 
during drilling operations and a 10- to 15-percent cost savings per well. 

Employees and contractors attend safety meeting before the start-up of  
field operations



2012 ANNUAL REPORT     ATHABASCA OIL CORPORATION  17

COMMUNITY	ENGAGEMENT	

Athabasca’s social license to operate involves actively engaging with 
stakeholders in the communities where it operates. The Company’s 
community engagement is centered around proactively building 
long-term relationships with local residents, First Nations, Métis, 
government bodies and multi-stakeholder organizations. 

Through open dialogue, Athabasca strives to develop relationships 
which are based upon mutual respect, the transparent and timely 
exchange of information regarding its projects, and the achievement 
of mutually beneficial outcomes for all parties. The Company 
participates in agreements and partnerships which benefit the people 
working and living in the regions that it operates. 

During 2012, Athabasca launched its community engagement 
newsletter which is intended to provide communities and stakeholders 
with clear and timely information on Athabasca’s projects.

In May and June 2012, the Thermal Oil Division held two open houses 
in Fort McMurray, attracting aboriginal and non-aboriginal, local and 
regional contractors. The open houses were well attended, and the 
Company hired more than 150 people from these various stakeholder 
groups who were seeking employment opportunities. Athabasca’s 
thermal oil asset directors and project managers participated in the 
open houses, along with company representatives specializing in 
operations, contracts, procurement, drilling, human resources and 
stakeholder engagement.

During 2012, Athabasca outlined the development plans for its 
vast bitumen resources, presenting them to the Northeastern 
Alberta Aboriginal Business and the Fort McMurray Construction 
associations. The development plans highlighted the Hangingstone 
Project 1, Athabasca’s first SAGD project, which is located  
20 kilometres southwest of Fort McMurray. 

Athabasca continued to engage with northern groups, including First 
Nations, on the development of Athabasca’s bitumen resources. 
Company representatives assisted the Fort McKay First Nation, 
volunteering employee time and donating money to a weekly program 
called the Moms of McKay. Athabasca’s employees reached out to 
young mothers in the aboriginal community, teaching classes on how 
to cook nutritional meals, baking cookies for bake sales, and organizing 
fundraisers to pay for the veterinary care of animals in distress.

Respectful of cultural differences within aboriginal and Métis 
communities, the Company proactively consults with these 
stakeholders on a regular basis, establishing an open dialogue about 
its corporate development plans and field operations. Consultations 
can take the form of face-to-face meetings, town hall meetings, chief 
and council meetings or a site visit with a trapper. Where possible, 
Athabasca endeavours to employ aboriginal contractors. 

Athabasca’s Light Oil Division is making a difference in the 
communities where it operates in central and northwestern Alberta.  
In 2012, the Company donated 15 computers to the Sturgeon Lake  
Band K-12 School, enabling students to access online educational 
resources required for high school graduation. Athabasca’s community 
outreach in northwestern Alberta ranges from supporting local hockey 
teams, hockey rinks, ice fishing tournaments, winter festivals, and 
small-town rodeos.

Last but certainly not least, in terms of giving back to the community, 
Athabasca’s 57-man Movember team grew mustaches during the 
month of November, raising $190,000 during the 2012 Movember 
and Sons Challenge, a global campaign to raise money and awareness 
for prostate cancer and men’s health initiatives. Competing 
amongst its peer group of 65 fundraising teams in Calgary’s Oil 
Rig Rumble (Oil & Gas Challenge), Athabasca’s mustachioed 
team took first place. Team Athabasca placed third in Canada and 
fourth worldwide. The mustaches are long gone, but Athabasca’s 
achievement speaks to its corporate culture of camaraderie  
and team work. 

Company representative engages with aboriginal stakeholder at Fort McMurray
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Building	upon	success,	Athabasca	will	advance	the	development	of	 its	
thermal	 oil	 projects	 in	 oil	 sands	 and	 carbonate	 reservoirs.	 In	 parallel,		
the	 Company	 will	 develop	 its	 organically	 driven	 light	 oil	 assets	 in	 the	
liquids-rich	Alberta	Deep	Basin.
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2013	CAPITAL	BUDGET	AND	GUIDANCE	

In December 2012, Athabasca’s Board of Directors 
approved the 2013 capital budget of $798 million 
and set a mid-year production guidance of 11,000 to 
13,000 boe/d comprised of 40 to 50 percent liquids. 

Building on success, the 2013 capital investment includes $236 million for organically 
driven E&P activities in the Light Oil Division and $533 million to advance the 
Thermal Oil Division’s various assets, including the construction of its wholly-owned 
Hangingstone Project 1, a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project near Fort McMurray.

Capital expenditures in 2013 will be financed from cash on hand and cash flow 
from light oil production. Maintaining capital discipline, Athabasca is well funded to 
support its 2013 capital budget: at December 31, 2012, the Company had $1.0 billion 
in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, and a $200-million undrawn 
revolving credit facility. 

As in 2012, Athabasca intends to conduct a mid-year review of its 2013 capital 
budget and production guidance, assessing horizontal well performance, commodity 
prices and corporate events. 

Athabasca anticipates that the Dover Joint Venture will receive regulatory approvals, 
in 2013, for the construction of a five-phase, 250,000 bbl/d SAGD project operated 
by Dover OPCO. Receipt of regulatory approvals provides Athabasca with the 
opportunity to exercise the Dover Put Option which is valued at $1.32 billion.

At December 31, 2012, Athabasca’s workforce was comprised of approximately  
350 employees, a significant increase over the 200 employees at year-end 2011.  
The Company continues to attract skilled and talented employees, and anticipates 
having a motivated workforce of more than 400 employees by year end 2013.

LIGHT OIL 
2013 CAPITAL BUDGET

($ million)

Development drilling $137

Exploration $15

Facilities and infrastructure $63

Other $21

Total: $236 million

THERMAL OIL 
2013 CAPITAL BUDGET

($ million)

Hangingstone $456

Dover West $42

Dover $31

Corporate $29

Other $4

Total: $562 million
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THERMAL	OIL	DIVISION

Athabasca plans to invest $533 million, in 2013, to advance projects 
on its greater than 1.5 million acres (net) of thermal oil assets.

Athabasca plans to spend $456 million (or 86 percent) of its 2013 
thermal oil capital budget at Hangingstone. In mid-year 2013, 
Athabasca expects to commence the drilling of 20 SAGD well pairs 
at the Hangingstone Project 1. Construction of the project’s central 
processing facility and area infrastructure will continue during 2013.

By effectively managing the project execution process, Athabasca’s 
in-house design and management teams have awarded contracts for 
more than 60 percent of the forecasted capital expenditures for the 
Hangingstone Project 1 which is comprised of a central processing 
facility and four well pads with five SAGD well pairs per pad. 

The Company is targeting first steam, at the Hangingstone Project 1, 
in late 2014.

During the 2012-2013 winter drilling season, Athabasca will drill and 
core 23 wells to further evaluate the bitumen resources which will 

supply the Hangingstone Project 2. In Q2 2013, the Company intends 
to submit regulatory applications for the Hangingstone Extension, 
comprised of two consecutive SAGD projects, bringing the area’s 
overall production to more than 80,000 bbl/d. 

At Dover West, Athabasca intends to invest $42 million to construct 
roads and infrastructure. The Company anticipates receiving 
regulatory approvals, during 2013, for its Dover West Sands Project 1, 
a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD operation.

During the winter of 2012-2013, the Company plans to conduct its third 
production phase of the TAGD field test at Dover West, mobilizing and 
producing bitumen from the Leduc Formation carbonate reservoir. In 
parallel, the design, procurement and construction work will continue 
at the TAGD Heater and Assembly Facility near Strathmore, Alberta. 
This work will support Athabasca’s goal of unlocking the significant 
bitumen potential of the carbonate reservoirs at Dover West.

Athabasca anticipates receiving regulatory approval, in 2013, for its 
TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project at Dover West. 

Development

THE	NEXT	FIVE	YEARS
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LIGHT	OIL	DIVISION

Athabasca plans to invest $236 million, in 2013, to advance the development of its  
2.8 million acres (net) of light oil assets in the liquids-rich Alberta Deep Basin.

The Company set its mid-year production guidance at 11,000 to 13,000 boe/d 
comprised of 40 to 50 percent liquids. A mid-year review will follow, evaluating the 
allocation of the Light Oil Division’s capital budget and setting the 2013 year-end 
production guidance.

Sixty percent (or $137 million) of the Light Oil Division’s 2013 capital budget is 
planned to be invested in a development drilling and completion program targeting 
the Montney Formation. Athabasca’s 2012-2013 development drilling program will 
utilize six drilling rigs to drill and complete 20 horizontal Montney wells.

Most of the heavy lifting was accomplished in the Fox Creek area, during 2012, with 
respect to constructing Athabasca’s wholly-owned facilities and infrastructure at 
Simonette, Kaybob West, Saxon/Placid and Kaybob East. In 2013, the Company 
intends to invest an additional $63 million to construct roads, gathering lines for new 
wells and the 35-kilometre-long pipeline interconnect between the Kaybob East and 
Kaybob West oil batteries. Construction of the pipeline interconnect was completed 
in late February 2013, ahead of schedule.

Poised to increase production in 2013, the Light Oil Division’s facilities in the Fox 
Creek area can process up to 36,000 bbl/d of oil and 48 mmcf/d of natural gas, 
providing flexibility with respect to production growth and changing commodity 
prices and market conditions. 

Incremental light oil production will be accretive to the Company’s bottom line, and 
is expected to assist in lowering operating costs and finding and development costs, 
on a boe basis.

During the first half of 2013, Athabasca will monitor the production and decline 
rates of its horizontal wells, establishing type well curves by formation (Duvernay, 
Montney and Nordegg) and by area. Using the type curves, the Company will create 
a multi-year development plan to exploit these unconventional reservoirs. Athabasca 
holds 350,000 high-graded acres (net) of lands with Duvernay potential, including 
200,000 acres near Kaybob which contain greater than 20 metres of net pay and lie 
in the heart of the Duvernay Fairway.

By blending its sales product mix with the condensate-rich Duvernay production, 
Athabasca intends to capture a premium price for its produced oil. 

Athabasca plans to conduct early stage exploration activities, during 2013, on its 
recently acquired 1.3-million-plus acres (net) of petroleum and natural gas leases at 
Caribou and Muskwa. The Company intends to acquire 350 kilometres of exploratory 
2-D seismic data and conduct a five-well drilling and coring program, evaluating the 
oil-bearing carbonates of the Slave Point Formation at Caribou, and the liquids-rich 
shales of the Muskwa Formation at Rainbow Lake.

Monitoring drilling operations

Employees at the Kaybob West Battery
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The	Company	is	endowed	with	a	diverse	portfolio	of	Thermal	and	Light	
Oil	Assets	situated	in	the	Western	Canadian	Sedimentary	Basin.	With	its	
eye	fixed	firmly	on	the	prize,	Athabasca’s	entrepreneurial	team	is	focused	
on	developing	these	world	class	assets.
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THERMAL	OIL	DIVISION

The Company has accumulated greater than 1.5 million (net) acres of oil sands leases in 
the Athabasca area of northern Alberta. The leases are wholly-owned, with the exception 
of the Grosmont Carbonate Project and the Dover Joint Venture where Athabasca holds a 
50-percent and a 40-percent interest, respectively.

HANGINGSTONE
• 136,000 acres (net); 

• 15 to 20 kilometres southwest of Fort McMurray;

• Received regulatory approvals and Board of Directors’ sanctioning in late 2012,  
for the Hangingstone Project 1 (12,000 bbl/d SAGD);

• Commenced construction of the Hangingstone Project 1 by year end 2012, 
targeting first steam by late 2014;

• Prepare and submit regulatory applications for the Hangingstone Expansion,  
a 70,000 bbl/d SAGD project, during Q2 2013;

• 51 million bbl of proved reserves (at December 31, 2012);

• 66 million bbl of probable reserves (at December 31, 2012);

• 0.9 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate) (at December 31, 2012).

Oil sands development targets include bitumen in the 
stacked Wabiskaw and McMurray formations as well as 
bitumen in the carbonates of the Leduc and Grosmont 
formations. The Company expects to produce bitumen 
using in situ production technologies including  
SAGD and TAGD, its innovative downhole electrical 
resistance technology. 

The Thermal Oil Division’s bitumen resources increased, 
year-over-year, by approximately eight percent to  
10.6 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate). 
At year-end, Athabasca had 342 million bbl of proved 
plus probable bitumen reserves and 10.6 billion bbl of 
contingent resources (best estimate).

At December 31, 2012, an independent reserves and 
resources review, employing the industry-proven SAGD 
production technology, estimated that Athabasca’s 
Leduc carbonate trend at Dover West contains  
16.7 billion bbl of petroleum initially in place (of which 
11.6 billion bbl is discovered) and 3.0 billion bbl of 
contingent resources (best estimate).

Thermal Oil Assets
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DOVER WEST 
• 240,000 acres (net) of stacked sand and carbonate reservoirs; 

• 90 kilometres northwest of Fort McMurray.

DOVER WEST CARBONATES
• TAGD field tests demonstrated “proof of concept” for this 

innovative production technology, mobilizing bitumen to a 
production well;

• Conduct the third production phase of the TAGD field test during 
the winter of 2012-2013;

• Anticipate receiving regulatory approvals, in 2013, for the TAGD 
Pilot/Demonstration Project;

• Complete construction of the TAGD Heater Assembly Facility near 
Strathmore in 2012-2013;

• 3.0 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate), based upon 
using SAGD production technology (at December 31, 2012);

• 16.7 billion bbl petroleum initially in place of which 11.6 billion bbl is 
discovered (at December 31, 2012).

DOVER WEST SANDS
• Anticipate receiving regulatory approvals, in 2013, for a  

12,000 bbl/d SAGD project;

• 87 million bbl of probable reserves and 2.9 billion bbl of contingent 
resources (best estimate) (at December 31, 2012).

BIRCH
• 470,000 acres (net);

• 95 kilometres northwest of Fort McMurray;

• 2.1 billion bbl of contingent resources (best estimate)  
(at December 31, 2012).

JOINT VENTURE THERMAL OIL ASSETS

GROSMONT	CARBONATES	(ATHABASCA	50%;		
ZAM	VENTURES	ALBERTA	INC.	50%)
• 788,000 acres (gross); 394,000 (net);

• 185 kilometres north of Slave Lake;

• Long-term asset with considerable upside in the Grosmont and 
Nisku formations;

• TAGD candidate;

• 0.8 billion bbl (gross lease) of contingent resources (best estimate)  
or 0.4 billion bbl (company working interest) of contingent 
resources (best estimate) (at December 31,2012).

DOVER	(ATHABASCA	40%;	PHOENIX	60%)
• 150,000 acres (gross); 60,000 acres (net);

• 250,000 bbl/d SAGD comprised of five phases of 50,000 bbl/d;

• Anticipate receiving regulatory approvals, in 2013, for Phase 1  
(50,000 bbl/d SAGD);

• The Dover Put/Call Option is exercisable upon receipt of provincial 
regulatory approvals (Athabasca is able to sell its 40% interest for 
$1.32 billion);

• 3.0 billion bbl (gross lease) of contingent resources (best estimate) 
or 1.2 billion bbl (company working interest) of contingent 
resources (best estimate) (at December 31, 2012).

2012 TAGD Field Test at Dover West: Demonstrating “proof of concept”
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THERMAL	OIL	PRODUCTION	TECHNOLOGIES	

SAGD
Steam Assisted Gravity Drainage is a widely used thermal production technology 
which extracts bitumen from Alberta’s subsurface oil sands deposits. Athabasca is 
utilizing this in situ production technology to tap the potential of the oil sands in the 
stacked Wabiskaw and McMurray formations.

Developed by the Canadian oil and gas industry to unlock northern Alberta’s vast 
bitumen resources, SAGD employs a horizontal well pair configuration — an upper 
steam injection well and a lower production well which is drilled in parallel, some 
five metres below. Steam is injected into the oil sands reservoir, creating a steam 
chamber that expands vertically and horizontally within the geological formation. 
Heat transfers to the bitumen, reducing its viscosity and enabling it to flow — by gravity 
drainage — into the production well where it is pumped to the surface for processing.

The water required to generate steam for SAGD operations is typically sourced from 
local subsurface aquifers located nearby. Athabasca’s development plans involve 
recycling more than 90 percent of the water required for steam generation. The 
SAGD production technology has a significantly smaller surface footprint than oil 
sands mining operations and it does not require the use of tailings ponds. 

TAGD HEATER WELL
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TAGD
Athabasca is pioneering the application of Thermal Assisted 
Gravity Drainage production technology, an innovative process 
for the in situ recovery of Alberta’s subsurface bitumen deposits. 
The Company views TAGD as a potential production technology to 
tap the Company’s extensive bitumen resources contained in the 
porous carbonate reservoirs of the Leduc and Grosmont formations. 
Athabasca anticipates receiving regulatory approvals, in 2013, for the 
TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project at Dover West.

TAGD uses an array of downhole electrical resistance heaters 
contained in coiled tubing which is installed in horizontal wells, 
heating the reservoir via thermal conduction. TAGD operates at lower 
temperatures than SAGD, leading to increased energy efficiencies and 
lower operational costs. 

Because TAGD doesn’t require the use of water during the bitumen 
recovery process — there’s no need for costly steam generation and 
water treatment facilities — initial capital expenditures are significantly 
lower than those of comparably sized SAGD projects.

Data obtained during Athabasca’s 2012 production tests at Dover 
West have enabled Athabasca to model the carbonate reservoir, 
simulating the performance of a TAGD commercial project in the 
Leduc carbonates. During Q1 2013, Athabasca will conduct a third 
production phase of the TAGD technology at Dover West. 

TAGD field tests in the Leduc carbonates — ancient coral reefs which 
are characterized today by excellent reservoir quality — indicate 
that effective reservoir permeability is considerably higher than 
previously anticipated. Data gathered during the initial two TAGD 
field production phases suggest that commercial-scale development 
requires heating of the horizontal wells to approximately 300 °C  
which, in turn, warms the surrounding carbonate reservoir to 
approximately 150 °C. Reservoir modeling simulations suggest single 
well production rates on the order of 1,000 to 2,000 bbl/d, depending 
upon reservoir thickness.

HEATER ASSEMBLY FACILITY
While conducting the “proof of concept” TAGD field tests at Dover 
West, Athabasca recognized the need for a more efficient method of 
installing conduction heaters in the TAGD heater wells. The concept 
of the Heater Assembly Facility (“HAF”) was born out of this need. 
Considerable cost savings can be realized by assembling and testing 
TAGD heaters at a facility located near a major labour pool.

Construction of the HAF Building will be completed in Q2 2013.  
The HAF Building will then be outfitted with the requisite equipment 
to assemble the TAGD heaters. Additional prototype assembly and 
testing will be conducted during the remainder of 2013.

Located near Strathmore, Alberta, less than an hour’s drive from 
Calgary, the HAF includes a custom-designed building where heaters 
can be constructed year-round in an indoor environment, assuring 
quality control. After testing, the heater assembly units will be 
transported to the Dover West Leduc Field and deployed into TAGD 
heater wells. 

The Heater Assembly Facility is comprised of two wells: the first well, 
the vertical assembly well, will be used to assemble heaters for the 
planned TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project. The second well, the 
horizontal testing well, will be used to test the assembled TAGD 
heaters prior to shipping them to the field. Athabasca has constructed 
facilities capable of energizing 400-metre-long pilot heaters and 
1,200-metre-long demonstration heaters.

Prior to constructing the HAF Building, the Company successfully 
assembled its first pilot heater prototype in the assembly well, 
quantifying all of the elements and components required for the 
successful fabrication of a heater. This prototype heater was 
subsequently deployed into the horizontal testing well where it 
underwent electrical testing. 

TAGD in action: Deployment at Dover West and monitoring tests at the Heater Assembly Facility
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LIGHT	OIL	DIVISION	

The Company has accumulated greater than 2.8 million (net) acres of petroleum and 
natural gas rights in several prolific geological trends in central and northwestern Alberta. 
Athabasca has strategically acquired large contiguous blocks of land, targeting light oil and 
liquids-rich natural gas in the Duvernay, Montney, Nordegg, Charlie Lake, Muskwa and 
Slave Point formations.  

In 2012, Athabasca transitioned from a pure exploration company to an E&P company 
with a diverse portfolio of thermal and light oil assets. On December 17, 2012, 
the Company achieved a peak production rate of 10,700 which was comprised of  
57 percent liquids. 

At December 31, 2012, Athabasca’s reserves were estimated at 22 million boe proved 
plus probable, representing a 139-percent year-over-year increase.

Athabasca has set the Light Oil Division’s mid-year production guidance at 11,000 to 
13,000 boe/d comprised of 40 to 50 percent liquids.

The Alberta Deep Basin is a large stratigraphic trap which extends from northwestern 
Alberta to northeastern British Columbia. The vertically stacked, unconventional 
sand and shale reservoirs in the Alberta Deep Basin are often over-pressured  
and gas-saturated. Gas contained in these reservoirs are typically rich in natural  
gas liquids (NGLs).

Using state-of-the-art horizontal drilling and multi-stage hydraulic fracturing 
technologies, Athabasca is developing the unconventional reservoirs situated on its 
lands in Alberta’s Deep Basin. Characterized by multiple stacked hydrocarbon zones, 
development of the Company’s assets involves the drilling of multiple horizontal 
wells from common surface facilities.

Athabasca is focused on efficiently developing its light oil assets, by achieving lower 
development and operating costs. The light oil value-add is based upon scalability, 
repeatability and the significant potential of these assets.

The Company’s land holdings in the Alberta Deep Basin are located at Grande Prairie, 
Kaybob East, Kaybob West and Saxon/Placid. Since 2011, Athabasca has drilled  
62 horizontal wells and one vertical well, targeting vertically stacked (or multi-
zone) geological targets, including the Duvernay, Montney, Charlie Lake and  
Nordegg formations.

Athabasca holds more than 1.3 million acres (net) at Caribou and Muskwa, its newest 
exploration acreage situated in northwestern Alberta. At Muskwa, the Company is 
targeting the oil and gas condensate maturity windows of the Muskwa Formation.  
At Caribou, Athabasca is focused on exploring for light oil in the carbonates of the 
Slave Point Formation. 

Multi-zone (or stacked) geological targets in the Alberta  
Deep Basin
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KAYBOB EAST AND WEST
• Located near the town of Fox Creek;

• 413,000 acres (net) or 645 sections (net);

• High-graded Montney potential in 140 sections (net); 

• High-graded Duvernay potential in 220 sections (net) containing  
greater than 20 metres of net pay; 

• Nordegg resource evaluation work progressing.

SAXON/PLACID
• Located 40 to 50 kilometres west of Fox Creek;

• 157,000 acres (net) or 245 sections (net) at Saxon, Placid, 
Simonette, Berland, and Waskahigan;

• High-graded Montney potential in 130 sections (net);

• High-graded Duvernay potential in 75 sections (net) containing 
greater than 20 metres of net pay;

• Nordegg exploration/appraisal work progressing.

GRANDE PRAIRIE
• Stretching from Valleyview to 80 kilometres north of Spirit River;

• >797,000 acres (net) or 1,245 sections (net);

• High-graded Charlie Lake in more than 100 sections.
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CARIBOU
• Located north of the town of High Level; 

• >675,000 acres (net) or 1,055 sections (net) at Caribou, Glenevis, Red Rock  
and Sawn;

• Slave Point Formation potential (an oil-bearing carbonate reservoir);

• Potentially analogous to Slave Point carbonate reservoirs to the south at Red Earth, 
Evi and Otter in northwestern Alberta.

MUSKWA
• Located near the town of Rainbow Lake;

• >650,000 acres (net) or 1,000 sections (net) at Rainbow Lake North and  
Rainbow Lake South;

• Located in the peak oil and condensate maturity windows, up dip from the Horn 
River Gas Play in northeastern British Columbia;

• Exploration target is the liquids-rich shales in the Muskwa Formation  
(age equivalent to the Duvernay Formation).

LIGHT	OIL	PRODUCTION	TECHNOLOGY	

HYDRAULIC FRACTURING
Hydraulic fracturing is used to produce economic quantities of hydrocarbons from 
lower permeability or “tight” reservoirs. Hydraulic fracturing enhances permeability 
networks within the rock, enabling hydrocarbons to flow more freely into the wellbore.

Athabasca has rapidly advanced its knowledge in the Alberta Deep Basin, with respect 
to understanding the fracture characteristics of these unconventional reservoirs. An 
evolution of the Company’s application of hydraulic fracturing techniques has yielded 
strong production results. 

Fracture networks are created by pumping fluids under pressure into these 
unconventional oil and gas reservoirs. The type of fracture fluid used is dependent 
upon the reservoir’s geological characteristics. ‘Frac’ fluid is generally water-based, 
and is often pumped into the reservoir along with a gas (nitrogen or carbon dioxide), 
gels, foams and other additives.

Sand is also pumped into the formation during the hydraulic fracturing process. 
Sand or “proppant” is injected after the initial volume of fluid, and works to prop 
open the fracture networks created during the hydraulic fracturing process. Fracture 
stages are placed along the horizontal wellbore at regular intervals, stimulating the 
reservoir multiple times along the well’s trajectory and increasing the rate of flow of 
hydrocarbons into the wellbore.

Light Oil Assets in northwestern Alberta
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This	 management’s	 discussion	 and	 analysis	 of	 financial	 condition	 and	 results	 of	 operations	 (“MD&A”)	 of	 Athabasca	 Oil	 Corporation		
(“Athabasca”	or	the	“Company”)	is	dated	March	20,	2013	and	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	audited	consolidated	financial	statements	
of	the	Company	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2012	and	December	31,	2011.	These	financial	statements,	including	the	comparative	figures,	
were	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 (“IFRS”).	 Unless	 otherwise	 noted,	 all	 financial	 measures	 are	
expressed	in	Canadian	dollars	and	tabular	dollar	amounts	are	in	thousands.	This	MD&A	contains	forward	looking	information	based	on	the	
Company’s	current	expectations	and	projections.	For	 information	on	the	material	 factors	and	assumptions	underlying	such	forward	 looking	
information,	refer	to	the	“Forward	Looking	Information”	advisory	on	page	52	of	this	MD&A.	For	a	listing	of	abbreviations,	refer	to	“Abbreviations”	
on	page	54	of	this	MD&A.	See	also	“Reserve	and	Resource	information”	at	page	54	of	this	MD&A	for	important	information	regarding	the	
Company’s	reserves	and	resources	information	included	in	this	MD&A.	Additional	information	relating	to	Athabasca	is	available	on	SEDAR	at	
www.sedar.com,	including	the	Company’s	most	recent	Annual	Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2013.	The	Company’s	common	shares	
are	listed	on	the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange	under	the	trading	symbol	“ATH.”

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The	Company	is	focused	on	the	exploration	and	development	of	unconventional	oil	resource	plays	in	Alberta,	Canada.	Athabasca	is	organized	
into	two	divisions:

•	 Thermal	Oil	–	with	a	 land	base	of	over	 1.5	million	net	acres	of	 leases	 in	 the	Athabasca	area	of	northern	Alberta,	 the	division	 includes		
six	projects	with	10.6	billion(1)	barrels	of	contingent	resources	(best	estimate)	and	342	million(1)	barrels	of	proved	and	probable	reserves.	
The	Company’s	major	oil	sands	projects	are	Hangingstone	(100%),	Dover	West	Sands	(100%),	Dover	West	Carbonates	(100%),	Dover	
(40%),	Birch	(100%)	and	Grosmont	(50%).	First	significant	production	from	the	Thermal	Oil	Division	is	expected	in	2015.	Development	
targets	include	oil	sands	in	the	Wabiskaw	and	McMurray	Formations	as	well	as	carbonates	in	the	Leduc	and	Grosmont	Formations.	The	
Company	expects	to	produce	its	recoverable	bitumen	using	in-situ	recovery	methods	such	as	Steam	Assisted	Gravity	Drainage	(“SAGD”)	
or	other	suitable	technologies	currently	emerging	or	under	development	such	as	Thermally	Assisted	Gravity	Drainage	(“TAGD”).	

•	 Light	Oil	–	with	a	land	base	of	over	2.8	million	net	acres	of	petroleum	and	natural	gas	rights	in	northwestern	Alberta,	initial	developments	
include	the	Kaybob	and	Saxon/Placid	areas	near	Fox	Creek.	Exploration	activity	is	underway	in	Grande	Prairie	and	other	areas.	Formation	
targets	 include	the	Duvernay,	Montney,	Charlie	Lake,	Nordegg,	Slave	Point	and	Muskwa	Formations.	Athabasca	produces	 light	oil	and	
liquids-rich	natural	gas	using	horizontal	drilling	and	multi-stage	hydraulic	fracturing	technology.	

Athabasca’s	 strategic	 vision	 is	 to	 produce	 greater	 than	 200,000	 gross	 barrels	 of	 oil	 equivalent	 per	 day	 by	 the	 year	 2020,	 comprised	 of	 a	
50/50	split	between	Thermal	Oil	and	Light	Oil.	

MD&A section Page 

Highlights	for	the	12	months	ended	December	31,	2012 31

Selected	financial	information 32

Results	of	operations 33

Capital	expenditures	and	outlook 35

Quarterly	results 41

Liquidity	and	capital	resources 43

Equity	investments	and	assets	held	for	sale 46

Related	party	transactions 47

Accounting	policies	and	estimates 47

Advisories	and	other	guidance 51

(1)	 	Based	on	Dec.	31,	2012	 independent	 resource	 reports.	See	Reserves	and	Resources	section	on	page	54.	Contingent	 resources	(best	estimate)	 include	418	million	barrels	 in	
Grosmont	which	the	Company’s	independent	qualified	reserve	evaluators	consider	sub-economic	based	upon	a	10%	discount	factor.
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HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE 12 MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012
THERMAL OIL
•	 In	 October	 2012,	 Athabasca	 received	 regulatory	 approval	 for	 the	 development	 of	 the	 Hangingstone	 Project	 1,	 a	 12,000	 bbl/d	 SAGD	

oil	 project.	 In	 November,	 Athabasca’s	 Board	 of	 Directors	 sanctioned	 the	 development	 of	 the	 $536	 million	 base	 facility	 and	 approved		
$27	million	for	associated	infrastructure.	Civil	infrastructure	construction	was	started	by	the	end	of	the	year.	Front	end	engineering	and	
design	(FEED)	for	the	Hangingstone	Project	1	is	complete	and	the	major	long-lead	items	have	been	ordered.	The	project	is	on	budget	and	
on	schedule	with	first	steam	targeted	for	late	2014.

•	 On	March	15,	2012	the	Company	closed	the	sale	of	its	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	to	Cretaceous	Oilsands	Holdings	
Limited,	an	entity	which	was	amalgamated	into	Phoenix	Energy	Holdings	Limited	(“Phoenix”),	a	wholly-owned	subsidiary	of	PetroChina	
Company	Limited	(“PetroChina”),	for	gross	proceeds	of	$680	million.	Net	proceeds	were	$202	million	after	Athabasca’s	repayment	of		
two	loans	owing	to	Phoenix	and	closing	adjustments.

•	 During	 the	 year,	 through	 a	 series	 of	 transactions	 totaling	 $135.4	 million,	 the	 Company	 acquired	 a	 100%	 interest	 in	 approximately		
32,000	 acres	 of	 oil	 sands	 leases	 in	 the	 Dover	 West	 area	 which	 are	 contiguous	 to	 the	 Company’s	 existing	 Dover	 West	 Sands	 leases.	
Athabasca	estimates	that	the	combined	Dover	West	Sands	asset,	once	fully	developed,	could	now	support	approximately	270,000	bbl/d	
of	production.	Regulatory	approvals	for	a	Dover	West	Sands	12,000	bbl/d	SAGD	project	are	expected	in	2013.

•	 During	 2012,	 continuation	 of	 the	 Dover	 West	 Carbonates	 Field	 Test	 successfully	 demonstrated	 “proof	 of	 concept”	 for	 the	 Company’s	
TAGD	technology.	The	Company	anticipates	 regulatory	approvals	of	 its	first	TAGD	Pilot/Demonstration	Project	 in	2013.	During	2012,	
the	Company	constructed	a	64	kilometre-long	all	season	access	road	to	the	project	site.	The	Company	started	construction	of	a	heater	
assembly	facility	near	Strathmore,	Alberta	which	is	expected	to	be	completed	during	the	first	half	of	2013.

•	 The	2011/2012	99-well	thermal	oil	winter	drilling	program	was	completed	on	time	and	under	budget	with	61	delineation	wells,	23	water	
wells	and	15	observation	wells	drilled	in	Hangingstone,	Dover	West	and	Birch.	Athabasca’s	Thermal	Oil	Division	now	holds	10.6	billion	
barrels	of	contingent	resources	(best	estimate)	and	342	million	barrels	of	proved	and	probable	reserves.

LIGHT OIL 
•	 During	2012,	the	Company	drilled	46	horizontal	wells	and	completed	44	in	the	Fox	Creek	area.	Following	a	successful	2012	drilling	program,	

Athabasca	plans	to	invest	$236	million	in	2013	to	advance	the	development	of	its	liquids-rich	Montney	assets.	The	Company	expects	to	
achieve	a	mid-year	exit	rate	of	11,000	–	13,000	boe/d	by	June	30,	2013.	

•	 During	2012,	Athabasca	drilled	three	horizontal	wells	targeting	the	Duvernay	Formation,	including	the	first	horizontal	Duvernay	oil	well	in	
the	province	of	Alberta.	By	early	January	2013,	all	three	Duvernay	wells	were	tied-in	and	producing	and	early	test	results	are	encouraging.

•	 Athabasca	 completed	 construction	 of	 its	 100%-owned	 63	 kilometre-long,	 12-inch-diameter	 trunk	 pipeline	 from	 Kaybob	 West	 to	 the	
Keyera	Simonette	Gas	Plant	in	the	Fox	Creek	area.	The	Company	also	built	three	oil	batteries	and	gas	compression	facilities	which	were	
commissioned	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	providing	Athabasca	with	production	capacity	for	36,000	bbl/d	of	oil	and	48	mmcf/d	of	
natural	gas.	Two	of	the	three	batteries	are	currently	tied	into	the	main	gas	pipeline,	and	the	third	is	expected	to	be	tied-in	and	commissioned	
during	the	first	quarter	of	2013.

•	 During	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2012,	 Athabasca	 began	 recognizing	 significant	 growth	 in	 revenues	 from	 its	 Light	 Oil	 Division	 as	 the	
wholly-owned	 infrastructure	 came	 on	 stream.	 Athabasca	 produced	 over	 4,000	 boe/d,	 comprised	 of	 42%	 liquids	 during	 the	 quarter,	
compared	to	approximately	400	boe/d	(26%	liquids)	during	the	same	quarter	in	the	prior	year.

•	 During	the	year,	Athabasca	acquired	greater	than	675,000	exploratory	acres	in	the	Slave	Point	region	where	it	is	planning	an	exploratory	
drilling	and	seismic	program	in	2013.

CORPORATE
•	 On	November	19,	2012,	Athabasca	successfully	issued	$550	million	(net	proceeds	of	$528.5	million)	in	Senior	Secured	Second	Lien	Notes	

(the	“Notes”).	The	Notes	bear	interest	at	a	rate	of	7.50%	and	mature	in	2017.	

•	 On	November	30,	2012,	 the	Company	entered	 into	a	short-term	revolving	senior	secured	first	 lien	credit	 facility	(the	“Credit	Facility”)	
providing	Athabasca	with	an	additional	borrowing	capacity	of	up	to	$200	million.	The	Credit	Facility	was	undrawn	at	December	31,	2012.

•	 The	Company	has	attracted	a	workforce	of	approximately	350	employees	at	December	31,	2012	compared	with	approximately	200	at	
December	31,	2011.	The	Company	expects	to	have	over	400	employees	by	the	end	of	2013.	
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The	following	tables	summarize	selected	financial	information	of	the	Company	as	at	and	for	the	periods	indicated:

 
Year ended ($ Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

December 31,  
2012

December 31, 
2011

December 31,  
2010

INCOME	STATEMENT	ITEMS:

	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales $ 25,797 $ 4,070 $ 743

	 Gain	(loss)	on	sale	of	assets $ (742) $ - $ 1,662,196

	 Gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investees $ - $ - $ 1,155,450

	 Unrealized	Put	Option	gain $ 374,582 $ 216,146 $ -

	 Net	income	 $ 260,234 $ 142,315 $ 2,474,456

	 Net	income	per	share	–	basic	 $ 0.65 $ 0.36 $ 7.10

	 Net	income	per	share	–	diluted $ 0.65 $ 0.35 $ 7.05

	 Dividends	declared	and	paid	per	share $ - $ - $ 4.25

STATEMENT	OF	CASH	FLOW	ITEMS:

	 Net	proceeds	from	sale	of	investments	 $  681,689 $ - $ 1,884,701

	 Net	proceeds	from	IPO	and	other	equity	issuances $  9,718 $ 5,227 $ 1,397,006

	 Dividend	paid	on	common	shares $  - $ - $ (1,332,299)

	 Net	proceeds	from	long	term	debt	issuance $  528,520 $ 24,148 $ 449,736

	 Repayment	of	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2 $  (473,884) $ - $ -

	 Repayment	of	senior	secured	notes $  - $ - $ (400,000)

	 Additions	to	property,	plant	and	equipment $  (595,793) $ (6,122) $ (758)

	 Additions	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets $  (484,673) $ (587,491) $ (177,180)

 
As at ($ Thousands) 

December 31,  
2012

December 31, 
2011

December 31,  
2010

BALANCE	SHEET	ITEMS:

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 $  426,013 $ 424,542 $ 469,504

	 Short-term	investments $  536,787 $ 799,441 $ 1,334,028

	 Total	assets $  4,458,635 $ 3,944,786 $ 3,638,677

	 Long-term	debt $  529,011 $ - $ 449,736

	 Shareholders’	equity $  3,459,720 $ 3,153,894 $ 2,998,827

Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	were	from	Athabasca’s	initial	and	restricted	production	(due	to	infrastructure	capacity)	in	the	Light	Oil	Division	
in	2011	and	for	most	of	2012.	Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	in	2010	related	to	production	from	two	shallow	gas	wells	that	were	acquired	along	
with	a	land	acquisition.	In	2012,	the	Company	was	required	to	value	the	Dover	Put	Option	and	recognized	a	$374.6	million	gain	in	the	fourth	
quarter	of	2012.		In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	its	MacKay	River	Put	Option	to	sell	the	40%	interest	in	the	project	for	gross	
proceeds	of	$680.0	million	and	recognized	a	$216.1	million	gain.	The	unrealized	gains	recognized	in	both	2012	and	2011	were	offset	by	general	
and	administrative	expenses,	financing	and	interest,	stock	based	compensation	and	other	operating	expenses.

The	gain	on	the	sale	of	assets	and	the	gain	on	the	revaluation	of	the	equity	investee	in	2010	are	a	result	of	the	$1.9	billion	sale	of	a	wholly-owned	
subsidiary	that	held	a	60%	working	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	commercial	oil	sands	projects	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction”).	

Capital	expenditures	on	property,	plant	and	equipment	relate	primarily	to	Athabasca’s	drilling	and	infrastructure	development	activities	in	the	
Kaybob	and	Saxon/Placid	Light	Oil	areas.	Capital	spending	on	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	in	2012	was	primarily	related	to	engineering	
and	 infrastructure	development	 for	 the	first	projects	 in	 the	Hangingstone	and	Dover	West	areas.	Exploration	and	evaluation	spending	also	
includes	amounts	spent	in	the	Light	Oil	Division	for	drilling	and	land	acquisitions	outside	of	the	Fox	Creek	area.

Also	see	“Capital	Expenditures	and	Outlook”	below.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The	following	table	summarizes	the	Company’s	results	of	operations	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	and	2011:	

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

LIGHT	OIL	NETBACK	(1)

	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 $ 25,797 $ 4,070

	 Operating	and	transportation	expenses (10,124) (1,541)

	 Royalties (1,242) (595)

14,431 1,934

CORPORATE	AND	OTHER

	 Unrealized	put	option	gain 374,582 216,146

	 Loss	on	sale	of	assets (742) -

	 Interest	income	and	other 13,468 22,457

	 General	and	administrative (50,318) (28,233)

	 Stock-based	compensation (18,293) (18,597)

	 Financing	and	interest (14,384) (29,004)

	 Depreciation	and	depletion (25,110) (3,154)

Net	income	before	income	taxes 293,634 161,549

INCOME	TAXES

	 Current	income	tax	recovery (1,348) -

	 Deferred	income	tax	expense	 32,542 14,634

31,194 14,634

Net	income	before	the	following 262,440 146,915

Equity	loss	on	investments (2,206) (4,600)

Net	income	and	comprehensive	income $ 260,234 $ 142,315

(1)		 Refer	to	Non-GAAP	Financial	Measures	on	page	51	under	Advisories	and	Other	Guidance

LIGHT OIL NETBACK

Year ended 
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

SALES	VOLUMES

	 Oil	(bbl/d) 611 56

	 Natural	gas	(mcf/d) 5,984 1,141

	 Natural	gas	liquids	(bbl/d) 90 12

Total	(boe/d)	(1) 1,684 258

Oil	and	natural	gas	liquids	% 42% 26%

REALIZED	PRICES	

	 Oil	($/bbl) $ 76.92 $ 90.84

	 Natural	gas	($/mcf)	 $ 3.03 $ 4.52

	 Natural	gas	liquids	($/bbl) $ 64.26 $ 76.92

Total	Sales	($/boe)	(1) $ 41.98 $ 43.16

Royalties	($/boe) $ (2.02) $ (6.32)

Operating	expenses	and	transportation	($/boe) $ (16.47) $ (16.36)

Light	Oil	Netback	($/boe) $ 23.49 $ 20.48

(1)		 Includes	a	conversion	rate	of	6	:	1	(mcf	to	boe)
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The	Light	Oil	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	in	2011	and	2012	relates	to	initial	and	restricted	production	from	the	Light	Oil	Division.	Athabasca’s	
production	was	restricted	due	to	third	party	facility	access	limitations	and	the	lack	of	necessary	infrastructure.	Material	increases	in	revenues	
occurred	late	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012	when	Athabasca’s	wholly-owned	infrastructure,	consisting	of	a	63	kilometre-long	pipeline	and	
three	oil	batteries	and	gas	processing	facilities	in	the	Fox	Creek	area,	was	completed	and	brought	on	stream.	

Operating	and	transportation	expenses	increased	by	$8.6	million	in	2012,	as	the	Company’s	Light	Oil	Division	ramped	up	its	operations	with	the	
commissioning	of	wholly-owned	delivery	infrastructure.	Royalty	expenses	were	approximately	5%	of	revenue	in	2012	due	to	low	initial	royalty	
rates	on	new	horizontal	wells.

PUT OPTION GAIN AND LOSS ON SALE OF ASSETS
In	2012,	Athabasca	was	required	to	measure	the	Dover	Put	Option	given	greater	clarity	around	regulatory	approval	and	potential	exercise	of	the	
option.	The	valuation	resulted	in	a	unrealized	gain	of	$374.6	million	which	was	recognized	in	net	income.

In	 December	 2011,	 Athabasca	 exercised	 its	 option	 to	 divest	 its	 40%	 interest	 in	 the	 MacKay	 River	 oil	 sands	 project	 to	 Phoenix	 for	 gross	
proceeds	of	$680.0	million.	With	the	exercise	of	the	option,	Athabasca	recognized	a	gain	of	$216.1	million	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011.	
On	March	15,	2012,	Athabasca	completed	the	sale	and	recognized	a	net	loss	of	$0.7	million	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	relating	to	
working	capital	adjustments	associated	with	the	closing	of	the	transaction.	

INTEREST INCOME 
Interest	 income	 is	 primarily	 comprised	 of	 interest	 earned	 on	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 and	 short-term	 investments.	 For	 the	 year	 ended	
December	31,	2012,	interest	income	decreased	by	$8.9	million	compared	to	2011	due	to	lower	cash	and	short-term	investment	balances	held	
during	the	period.	

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Salaries	and	benefits $ 26,481 $ 14,285

Office	costs 12,692 7,209

Legal,	accounting,	and	consulting 8,815 3,894

Stakeholder	relations 1,843 1,291

Other 487 1,554

$ 50,318 $ 28,233

General	and	administrative	expense	is	comprised	of	non-project	salaries	and	benefits,	office	rent,	consulting	fees	and	other	office-related	costs.	
For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	general	and	administrative	expenses	increased	by	$22.1	million	compared	to	2011.	The	increase	resulted	
primarily	from	the	addition	of	staff	and	office	space.	Athabasca’s	employee	count	including	full-time	equivalent	consultants	has	increased	from	
approximately	200	at	December	31,	2011	to	approximately	350	at	December	31,	2012.	

STOCK‑BASED COMPENSATION 
For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	the	stock-based	compensation	expense	was	consistent	with	the	same	periods	in	2011.	The	increase	in	
stock	based	compensation	expense	from	new	grants	was	offset	by	higher	capitalization	rates	and	lower	fair	values	per	award.

FINANCING AND INTEREST 
Compared	to	2011,	financing	and	interest	expense	decreased	by	$14.6	million	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012.	The	decrease	was	due	
primarily	to	repayment	of	the	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2	(as	defined	herein)	on	March	15,	2012,	with	the	sale	of	the	Company’s	40%	interest	
in	MacKay	River	 resulting	 in	no	outstanding	debt	during	the	second	and	third	quarter	of	2012.	This	decline	was	offset	by	 interest	expense	
recognized	on	$550	million	in	long-term	Notes	issued	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012.	The	Notes	bear	interest	at	a	rate	of	7.50%	per	annum.	
Included	 in	 financing	 and	 interest	 expense	 is	 accretion	 expense	 on	 the	 Company’s	 decommissioning	 obligations	 of	 $3.0	 million	 in	 2012	
(2011	-	$2.2	million).	
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DEPRECIATION AND DEPLETION

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Depletion	of	oil	and	gas	assets $ 17,711 $ 1,648

Depreciation	of	infrastructure	assets 1,903 -

Depreciation	of	office	assets 5,496 1,506

$ 25,110 $ 3,154

The	$22.0	million	increase	in	depreciation	and	depletion	in	2012	is	mainly	due	to	depletion	charged	on	additional	production	from	Light	Oil	
assets	compared	to	2011.	Production	increased	materially	during	2012	with	the	completion	of	44	horizontal	wells	in	the	year	and	start	up	of	
wholly-owned	delivery	infrastructure.	During	the	year,	the	Company	also	began	recognizing	depreciation	on	supporting	infrastructure	assets	
once	 they	became	ready	 for	use.	Additional	corporate	assets	held	 in	2012	 to	support	Athabasca’s	growing	work	 force	 resulted	 in	a	higher	
depreciation	expense	in	the	period.	

CURRENT INCOME TAX RECOVERY
The	 current	 income	 tax	 recovery	 in	 2012	 of	 $1.3	 million	 related	 to	 the	 carry	 back	 of	 provincial	 non-capital	 losses	 to	 a	 previous	 period’s	
taxable	income.	

DEFERRED INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The	deferred	income	tax	expenses	in	2012	and	2011,	were	primarily	due	to	the	unrealized	gains	recognized	on	the	Dover	and	MacKay	River	Put	
Options,	respectively.	At	December	31,	2012,	the	Company	had	approximately	$1.96	billion	of	tax	pools	available	for	deduction	against	future	
taxable	income.

EQUITY LOSS ON INVESTMENTS 
Athabasca	accounts	for	the	interest	it	held	in	the	MacKay	River	joint	venture	and	its	interest	in	the	Dover	joint	venture	using	equity	accounting.	
The	equity	loss	on	investments	primarily	represents	the	Company’s	share	of	the	oil	sands	projects’	general	and	administrative	expenses.	The	loss	
decreased	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	by	$2.4	million	due	to	general	and	administrative	costs	relating	to	the	MacKay	River	project	
no	longer	being	incurred	by	Athabasca	subsequent	to	the	closing	of	the	disposition	of	the	Company’s	interest	in	the	project	on	March	15,	2012.	

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND OUTLOOK

The	following	table	summarizes	the	consolidated	capital	expenditures	made	by	the	Company	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2012	and	2011:

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

	 Light	Oil $ 611,337 $ 351,617

	 Hangingstone 169,328 110,530

	 Dover	West 258,296 77,925

	 Birch 30,388 32,702

	 Other	capital	projects	and	corporate	assets 11,117 20,839

Total	expenditures	on	E&E	and	PP&E 1,080,466 593,613

	 Expenditures	included	in	investments	(1) 8,195 12,414

	 Expenditures	included	in	assets	held	for	sale	(1) 11,355 15,922

Total	capital	expenditures $ 1,100,016 $ 621,949

(1)	 Relates	to	the	Company’s	40%	working	interest	in	the	Dover	and	MacKay	River	oil	sands	projects.	Athabasca	accounts	for	its	investments	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	
ventures	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	in	December	2011,	this	investment	became	an	asset	held	for	sale.	



         36 	 ATHABASCA	OIL	CORPORATION					2012	ANNUAL	REPORT

LIGHT OIL
The	following	table	summarizes	the	Light	Oil	Division	capital	expenditures	by	activity:

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Light	Oil	capital	expenditures

Mineral	properties	–	acquisitions	and	rentals $ 41,021 $ 199,986

Geological	and	geophysical 22,660 18,854

Exploration	and	development	drilling 320,063 109,749

	 Infrastructure	and	well	equipment 227,593 23,028

$ 611,337 $ 351,617

Expenditures	in	2012	relate	primarily	to	Athabasca’s	multi-well	drilling	and	completion	program	targeting	the	Duvernay,	Montney,	Charlie	Lake,	
and	Nordegg	Formations,	utilizing	horizontal	drilling	and	multi-stage	fracture	technology.	Spending	also	included	the	construction	of	related	
infrastructure,	the	purchase	of	additional	crown	lands	and	the	acquisition	of	710	square	kilometres	of	3D	seismic	data	and	698	kilometres	of	
2D	seismic	data.

Based	 on	 successful	 delineation	 drilling	 results	 in	 2011	 and	 2012,	 Athabasca	 has	 identified	 three	 significant,	 initial	 developments	 in	 the	
Fox	Creek	area:	Kaybob	East,	Kaybob	West	and	Saxon/Placid.	A	significant	portion	of	2012	capital	spending	was	targeted	towards	constructing	
wholly-owned	infrastructure,	including	the	construction	of	pipelines,	gathering	lines,	liquids	batteries	and	gas	compression	facilities	in	each	of	
these	three	development	areas.

During	the	second	quarter	of	2012,	Athabasca	completed	the	construction	of	a	63	kilometre-long,	12-inch-diameter	natural	gas	trunk	pipeline	
from	Kaybob	West	to	the	Keyera	Simonette	Gas	Plant.	The	first	facility,	Kaybob	West	Battery,	with	a	design	capacity	of	13,000	bbl/d	of	oil	and	
24	mmcf/d	of	natural	gas,	was	commissioned	in	early	October	2012.	The	second	facility,	the	Saxon	Battery,	with	a	design	capacity	of	10,000	
bbl/d	of	oil	and	12	mmcf/d	of	natural	gas,	was	commissioned	late	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	and	was	tied	into	the	main	pipeline	by	the	end	
of	year.	The	third	facility,	the	Kaybob	East	Battery,	with	a	design	capacity	of	13,000	bbl/d	of	oil	and	12	mmcf/d	of	natural	gas,	was	also	brought	
on	stream	late	in	the	fourth	quarter.	Construction	of	a	pipeline	to	connect	the	Kaybob	East	Battery	to	the	Company’s	main	trunk	pipeline	was	
completed	during	the	first	quarter	of	2013.	The	three	facilities	bring	the	total	capacity	to	36,000	bbl/d	of	oil	and	48	mmcf/d	of	natural	gas	
production.	This	infrastructure	is	expected	to	provide	wholly-owned	capacity	for	production	that	is	currently	behind	pipe,	as	well	as	for	future	
production	from	development	drilling.	
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During	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2012,	 the	 Company	 drilled	 14	 horizontal	 wells	 and	 completed	 14.	 The	 following	 table	 summarizes	 the	 gross	
horizontal	wells	drilled	(rig	released)	and	completed	in	2012	by	area	and	Formation:

Wells
Kaybob 

East
Kaybob

West
Saxon/

Placid Other Total

DRILLED

	 Montney 13 14 8 2 37

	 Duvernay 1 1 1 - 3

	 Nordegg 1 2 - - 3

	 Charlie	Lake - - - 2 2

	 Rainbow	Lake - - - 1 1

15 17 9 5 46

COMPLETED

	 Montney 12 13 6 3 34

	 Duvernay	 1 1 1 - 3

	 Nordegg 1 2 - 1 4

	 Charlie	Lake - - - 3 3

14 16 7 7 44

The	Company	began	drilling	wells	in	the	Light	Oil	Division	assets	in	2011.	Since	then,	the	Company	has	drilled	62	horizontal	wells	and	has	completed	
55.	 During	 most	 of	 2012,	 Athabasca’s	 production	 was	 restricted	 due	 to	 third-party	 limitations	 and	 the	 lack	 of	 necessary	 infrastructure.	 Despite	
delays	experienced	from	poor	weather	conditions	during	the	second	and	third	quarters	of	2012,	the	Company	successfully	executed	its	infrastructure	
development	plan,	commissioning	all	three	facilities	prior	to	year-end.	As	the	oil	batteries	and	gas	compression	facilities	came	on	stream,	Athabasca	
materially	increased	its	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales.	

During	the	first	quarter	of	2012,	Athabasca	completed	three	wells	in	the	Charlie	Lake	Formation	in	the	Grande	Prairie	area.	The	Company	is	evaluating	
tie-in	options	for	the	three	wells	in	order	to	evaluate	the	longer	term	production	potential	from	this	zone.	With	additional	land	acquisitions	in	2012,	
Athabasca	now	has	greater	than	675,000	and	650,000	exploratory	acres	in	the	Slave	Point/Caribou	and	Rainbow	Lake/Muskwa	regions,	respectively,	
and	is	planning	an	exploratory	drilling	and	seismic	programs	in	the	areas	for	2013.	

In	late	December,	2012,	Athabasca	achieved	peak	production	rates	of	greater	than	10,000	boe/d	which	was	comprised	of	more	than	50%	liquids.	
Subsequently,	the	Company	experienced	throughput	capacity	constraints	in	a	third-party	transmission	line	in	the	Kaybob	East	area	which	resulted	in	
Athabasca’s	production	being	curtailed	by	approximately	2,500	to	3,000	boe/d.	At	the	end	of	February,	Athabasca	experienced	additional	throughput	
constraints	due	to	unexpected	downtime	at	the	Keyera	Simonette	gas	plant.	The	unexpected	operational	issues	at	the	Keyera	gas	plant	have	been	
resolved,	but	the	plant	is	not	expected	to	be	fully	functioning	until	early	April.	Despite	these	constraints,	January	and	February	production	averaged	over	
7,000	boe/d	and	was	comprised	of	greater	than	50%	liquids.	

Once	Athabasca’s	pipeline	interconnect	from	Kaybob	East	to	Kaybob	West	is	commissioned	in	early	April,	the	additional	wholly-owned	infrastructure	
should	lessen	the	impacts	of	third	party	facility	constraints	allowing	curtailed	production	on	stream	in	addition	to	incremental	production	that	the	
Company	expects	to	produce	as	additional	new	wells	come	on	stream.

Building	 upon	 a	 successful	 2012	 drilling	 program,	 Athabasca	 plans	 to	 invest	 $236	 million	 in	 2013	 to	 primarily	 advance	 the	 development	 of	 its		
liquids-rich	Montney	assets	in	the	Fox	Creek	area.	The	Company	expects	to	achieve	a	mid-year	exit	rate	of	11,000	–	13,000	boe/d	comprised	of	40	to	
50%	liquids	by	June	30,	2013.	
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HANGINGSTONE
The	following	table	summarizes	the	capital	expenditures	in	the	Hangingstone	area	by	activity:

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Hangingstone	capital	expenditures

	 Central	processing	facility $ 65,703 $ 2,961

	 Drilling,	pads	and	pipelines 2,115 -

Total	Project	1	base	facility 67,818 2,961

	 Engineering	and	design 6,262 9,875

	 Supporting	asset	development 11,107 398

	 Project	support	costs(1) 83,939 43,244

	 Mineral	properties	–	acquisitions	and	rentals 200 54,052

$ 169,328 $ 110,530

(1)	 Includes	geosciences,	regulatory	costs,	delineation	drilling,	observation	drilling	and	capitalized	salaries.

In	 October	 2012,	 Athabasca	 received	 regulatory	 approval	 for	 the	 development	 of	 the	 Hangingstone	 Project	 1,	 a	 12,000	 bbl/d	 commercial	
SAGD	project.	The	Board	of	Directors	sanctioned	the	project	in	November	and	construction	of	the	$536	million	base	facility	and	$27	million	
for	 associated	 infrastructure	 was	 initiated.	 Civil	 infrastructure	 construction	 was	 started	 prior	 to	 the	 end	 of	 the	 year.	 Front	 end	 engineering	
and	design	(“FEED”)	for	the	Hangingstone	Project	1	is	complete	and	the	major	long-lead	items	required	to	meet	the	targeted	first	steam	date		
have	been	ordered.	The	Company	expects	mechanical	site	construction	to	commence	during	the	third	quarter	of	2013.	The	project	is	on	budget	
and	on	schedule	with	first	steam	targeted	for	late	2014.

The	$169.3	million	spent	on	Hangingstone	expenditures	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	primarily	relates	to	the	winter	drilling	program,	
acquisition	of	3D	and	2D	seismic	data,	FEED	and	procurement	for	the	12,000	bbl/d	Hangingstone	Project	1.	During	the	year,	Athabasca	also	
awarded	a	number	of	key	high-value	contracts,	including	a	fabrication	contract	for	modular	construction.

At	Hangingstone,	the	2011/2012	winter	drilling	program	was	comprised	of	66	wells.	The	results	of	the	drilling	program	confirmed	the	Company’s	
view	of	the	area’s	geology,	and	the	existence	of	adequate	water	resources	for	the	first	Hangingstone	Project.	

During	the	year,	Athabasca	also	continued	with	pre-FEED	activities	on	the	70,000	bbl/d	Hangingstone	Project	2	and	3	Commercial	Development	
(the	“Hangingstone	Extension”).	The	Company	has	initiated	the	design	basis	memorandum	engineering	and	is	undertaking	a	2012/2013	winter	
delineation	drilling	program	to	support	the	two	subsequent	phases.	During	the	year,	Athabasca	progressed	toward	a	full	environmental	impact	
assessment	submission	and	anticipates	filing	a	regulatory	application	for	the	Hangingstone	Extension	in	the	first	half	of	2013.	Upon	completion	
of	the	three-phase	development	plan,	the	Hangingstone	asset	is	targeted	to	produce	more	than	80,000	bbl/d.

DOVER WEST
The	following	table	summarizes	the	capital	expenditures	in	the	Dover	West	area	by	activity:

Year ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Dover	West	capital	expenditures

	 Mineral	properties	–	acquisitions	and	rentals $ 138,235 $ 747

	 Geological	and	geophysical 13,522 5,695

	 Exploration	and	evaluation	drilling 27,219 54,219

	 Engineering	and	development 79,320 17,264

$ 258,296 $ 77,925

Expenditures	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	include	the	drilling	of	10	water	source	wells,	the	advancement	of	TAGD	technology	and	
the	construction	of	a	64	kilometre-long	permanent	access	road	into	the	area.	Additionally,	in	a	series	of	transactions	totaling	$135.4	million,	
the	Company	acquired	a	100%	interest	in	approximately	32,000	acres	of	oil	sands	leases	in	the	Dover	West	area	which	are	contiguous	to	the	
Company’s	existing	Dover	West	leases.	With	these	acquisitions,	Athabasca	believes	the	Dover	West	Sands	asset	could	now	ultimately	support	
approximately	270,000	bbl/d	of	production	once	fully	developed.	
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In	 December	 2011,	 Athabasca	 applied	 for	 the	 Dover	 West	 Sands	 Project	 1,	 a	 12,000	 bbl/d	 SAGD	 Project.	 The	 first	 and	 second	 rounds	 of	
supplemental	information	requests	(“SIRs”)	have	been	received	and	responded	to	and	the	engineering	design	specifications	are	progressing.	
Athabasca	has	leveraged	the	Hangingstone	Project	1	design	work	in	order	to	gain	efficiencies	at	the	Dover	West	Sands	Project	1.	Regulatory	
approval	is	anticipated	during	2013.

In	the	Dover	West	Carbonates,	the	Company	continued	operation	of	the	TAGD	Field	Test	which	evaluated	the	Company’s	“proof	of	concept”	of	
the	downhole	conductive	heating	technology.	Results	from	the	TAGD	Field	Test	are	encouraging	and	have	demonstrated	the	ability	to	heat	the	
reservoir	resulting	in	the	mobilization	and	production	of	bitumen.	Regulatory	applications	for	Athabasca’s	TAGD	Pilot/Demonstration	Project	
were	filed	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011.	Athabasca	anticipates	receiving	regulatory	approvals	in	2013.	The	project	is	expected	to	confirm	
the	commercial	recovery	factors	and	energy	requirements	for	a	commercial	TAGD	process.	The	design	basis	memorandum	is	complete,	and	
the	engineering	design	specification	work	is	well	underway.	Pilot	heating	could	start	by	the	end	of	2014.	Once	fully	developed,	the	Dover	West	
Carbonates	asset	could	potentially	support	over	250,000	bbls/d	of	production.

During	the	year,	Athabasca	started	construction	of	a	Heater	Assembly	Facility	(“HAF”)	near	Strathmore,	Alberta.	Expenditures	during	the	year	
included	the	drilling	of	two	wells	(one	deviated;	one	horizontal)	in	the	facility	which	will	be	used	to	assemble	and	test	the	TAGD	heaters.	The	
HAF	is	expected	to	be	completed	in	the	first	half	of	2013.

BIRCH 
The	$30.4	million	spent	on	Birch	in	2012	relates	mainly	to	the	2011/2012	winter	drilling	program	which	consisted	of	22	delineation	wells	and	
one	water	well.	In	addition,	the	Company	shot	54	square	kilometres	of	3D	seismic	data.	The	Company	continues	with	regulatory	application	
preparation	and	is	currently	reviewing	the	optimal	size	of	the	first	oil	sands	project.

OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS AND CORPORATE ASSETS 
Other	capital	projects	and	corporate	asset	expenditures	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	related	primarily	to	information	technology	
assets	as	well	as	leasehold	improvements	on	additional	office	space.	The	additional	computers	and	office	space	were	needed	to	accommodate	
Athabasca’s	growing	workforce	and	expanding	operational	support.	At	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	had	approximately	350	staff	and	expects	
to	surpass	400	by	the	end	of	2013.	

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES INCLUDED IN INVESTMENT 
The	$8.2	million	spent	by	Athabasca	on	the	Dover	Commercial	Project,	in	2012,	was	mostly	for	the	winter	drilling	program	as	well	as	continued	
work	on	 the	field	development	plan.	The	winter	drilling	program	 included	five	water	wells	and	 12	observation	wells	 to	 further	 support	 the	
regulatory	application.	Regulatory	approval	for	the	Dover	Commercial	Project	1	is	anticipated	during	2013,	at	which	time	the	Dover	Put	Option	
for	$1.32	billion	becomes	exercisable.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES INCLUDED IN ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Expenditures	on	assets	held	for	sale	in	2012	related	to	capital	spending	on	the	Company’s	40%	interest	in	MacKay	River	before	the	closing	of	
the	sale	on	March	15,	2012.	
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2013 CAPITAL BUDGET
The	2013	budgeted	capital	spending	is	outlined	in	the	following	table:	

($ Millions) 2013 Budget

Thermal	Oil	Division

	 Hangingstone $ 456

	 Dover	West 42

	 Other 4

502

Light	Oil	Division

	 Development	drilling 137

	 Exploration 15

	 Facilities	and	infrastructure 63

	 Other 21

236

Corporate	and	joint	ventures

	 Corporate	assets	 29

	 Dover	(40%) 31

TOTAL	CAPITAL	EXPENDITURES $ 798

Athabasca’s	capital	budget	for	2013	is	$798	million.	Approximately	60%	of	the	budget	is	dedicated	to	the	advancement	of	the	Hangingstone	
asset,	with	$456	million	to	be	spent	on	the	12,000	bbl/d	Hangingstone	Project	1	and	supporting	infrastructure	as	well	as	delineation	drilling,	
geosciences	and	development	expenditures	for	the	Hangingstone	Extension	project,	which	is	expected	to	increase	total	production	from	the	
Hangingstone	area	by	an	additional	70,000	bbl/d.	The	Company	expects	to	spend	approximately	$42	million	in	the	Dover	West	area,	advancing	
the	TAGD	field	test,	constructing	the	heater	assembly	facility,	and	the	construction	of	supporting	infrastructure	in	the	Dover	West	region	while	
working	towards	regulatory	approval	for	the	areas’	first	projects.	

Approximately	30%	of	the	Company’s	2013	capital	budget	will	be	spent	in	the	Light	Oil	Division,	primarily	to	advance	the	development	of	the	
liquids-rich	Montney	Formation	assets.	The	Company	will	also	construct	additional	infrastructure	in	the	Fox	Creek	area;	a	pipeline	interconnect	
from	the	Kaybob	East	Battery	to	Athabasca’s	main	trunk	pipeline.	

Athabasca	plans	to	spend	approximately	$31	million	in	the	Dover	Joint	Venture,	with	regulatory	approvals	for	the	Dover	Commercial	Project	
expected	during	2013.	The	Company	plans	to	spend	approximately	$29	million	on	corporate	assets	and	other	capital	projects,	primarily	to	
support	the	Company’s	growing	work	force	which	is	expected	to	surpass	400	employees	by	the	end	of	2013.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The	following	table	summarizes	the	consolidated	results	of	the	Company	for	the	quarter	ended	December	31,	2012	and	2011:	

Quarter ended ($ Thousands)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011

LIGHT	OIL	NETBACK

	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 $ 16,244 $ 1,842

	 Operating	and	transportation	expenses (4,569) (707)

	 Royalties (844) (160)

10,831 975

CORPORATE	AND	OTHER

	 Unrealized	put	option	gain 374,582 216,146

	 Interest	income	and	other 3,059 4,854

	 General	and	administrative (14,572) (9,351)

	 Stock-based	compensation (4,737) (5,318)

	 Financing	and	interest (6,493) (7,498)

	 Depreciation	and	depletion (14,607) (1,606)

	 Loss	on	sale	of	assets (101) -

Net	income	before	income	taxes 347,962 198,202

INCOME	TAXES

	 Current	income	tax	expense - 15,413

	 Deferred	income	tax	expense 41,351 5,091

41,351 20,504

Net	income	before	the	following 306,611 177,698

	 Equity	loss	on	investments (455) (1,613)

Net	income	and	comprehensive	income $ 306,156 $ 176,085

Quarter ended
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011

PRODUCTION	VOLUMES

	 Oil	(bbl/d) 1,494 134

	 Natural	gas	(mcf/d) 14,139 1,628

	 Natural	gas	liquids	(bbl/d) 260 14

Total	(boe/d)	(1) 4,110 419

Oil	and	Natural	gas	liquids	% 43% 35%

REALIZED	PRICES	

	 Oil	($/bbl) $ 74.22 $ 94.85

	 Natural	gas	($/mcf)	 $ 3.56 $ 3.75

	 Natural	gas	liquids	($/bbl) $ 59.03 $ 85.96

Total	Sales	($/boe)	(1) $ 42.96 $ 47.74

Royalties	($/boe) $ (2.23) $ (4.15)

Operating	expenses	and	transportation	($/boe) $ (12.08) $ (18.34)

Light	Oil	Netback	($/boe) $ 28.65 $ 25.25

(1)	 Includes	a	conversion	rate	of	6	:	1	(mcf	to	boe)
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Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales,	royalties	and	operating	expenses	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	relate	to	initial	restricted	production	from	the	
Light	Oil	Division.	Material	operating	results	were	realized	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	when	the	Company’s	wholly-owned	infrastructure	
came	on	stream	which	occurred	primarily	in	December.

Interest	income	decreased	due	to	lower	cash	and	short-term	investment	balances	held	in	the	period.	General	and	administrative	costs	increased	
in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	compared	to	the	same	quarter	in	the	prior	year	from	higher	staff	counts	in	2012.

Financing	and	interest	costs	were	lower	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	compared	to	2011,	due	to	lower	average	long-term	debt	balances	held	
in	the	period.	The	unrealized	Put	Option	gains	in	the	fourth	quarters	of	2012	and	2011,	are	the	result	of	the	valuation	of	the	Dover	and	MacKay	
River	Put	Options,	respectively.

Current	tax	expense	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	was	a	result	of	a	change	in	assumption	relating	to	the	carry	back	of	provincial	non-capital	
losses.	The	2011	deferred	 income	tax	expense	was	mainly	due	to	 the	unrealized	gain	on	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	which	was	partially	
offset	by	the	change	in	assumption	relating	to	the	provincial	tax	carry	back	noted	above.	The	deferred	income	tax	expense	in	the	fourth	quarter	
of	2012,	relates	mainly	to	the	unrealized	gain	recognized	from	the	valuation	of	the	Dover	Put	Option.	

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
The	 following	 table	 summarizes	 the	 consolidated	 capital	 expenditures	 made	 by	 the	 Company	 for	 the	 quarters	 ending	 December	 31,	 2012		
and	2011:	

Quarter ($ Thousands)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011

	 Light	Oil $ 180,105 $ 122,409

	 Hangingstone 44,504 19,545

	 Dover	West 29,486 4,398

	 Birch 1,459 6,541

	 Other	capital	projects	and	corporate	assets 2,443 8,040

Total	expenditures	on	E&E	and	PP&E 257,997 160,933

	 Expenditures	included	in	investments	(1) - 6,055

Total	capital	expenditures $ 257,997 $ 166,988

	(1)	 Relates	to	the	Company’s	40%	working	interest	in	the	Dover	oil	sands	project.	Athabasca	accounts	for	its	investment	in	Dover	using	the	equity	method.	

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The	following	table	summarizes	selected	consolidated	financial	information	for	the	Company	for	the	preceding	eight	quarters:	

2012 2011

($ Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenue	(1)	 18,459 5,135 5,815 8,614 6,536 6,472 6,556 6,368

Net	income	(loss) 306,157 (11,793) (14,437) (19,693) 176,085 (13,159) (10,540) (10,075)

Net	income	(loss)	per	share	-	basic 0.77 (0.03) (0.04) (0.05) 0.44 (0.03) (0.03) (0.03)

Net	income	(loss)	per	share	-	diluted 0.76 (0.03) (0.04) (0.05) 0.44 (0.03) (0.03) (0.03)

(1)	 Consists	of	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales,	interest	income	and	royalties

Revenue	remained	relatively	flat	through	2011	as	initial	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	from	the	Light	Oil	Division	were	offset	by	declining	
interest	income	from	lower	cash,	cash	equivalents	and	short-term	investment	balances.	Revenue	increased	in	the	first	quarter	of	2012,	as	a	
result	of	additional	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	from	the	Light	Oil	Division	as	more	wells	came	on	to	production	during	the	period.	Revenue	
in	the	second	and	third	quarters	of	2012,	declined	primarily	due	to	lower	interest	income	earned.	In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	revenue	increased	
due	to	the	completion	of	wholly-owned	infrastructure	in	the	Light	Oil	division	allowing	Athabasca	to	deliver	higher	volumes.

The	Company	recorded	net	losses	in	the	first	three	quarters	of	both	2011	and	2012,	as	general	and	administrative,	stock-based	compensation	
and	other	expenses	exceeded	investment	income	and	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales.	The	net	loss	in	the	second	quarter	of	2012	was	lower	
than	the	first	quarter	primarily	due	to	the	elimination	of	interest	with	the	repayment	of	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2.	The	net	loss	in	the	third	
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quarter	of	2012,	was	lower	than	the	second	quarter	due	to	the	gain	recognized	on	the	final	closing	adjustments	from	the	sale	of	assets	to	Phoenix.	
Expenses	increased	throughout	2011	and	2012	with	higher	headcounts	and	more	office	space.	Net	income	in	the	fourth	quarters	of	2011	and	
2012,	were	primarily	the	result	of	the	unrealized	gains	recognized	on	the	valuation	of	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	Put	Options,	respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

WORKING CAPITAL 
At	December	31,	2012,	the	Company	had	net	working	capital	of	$1.15	billion.	Net	working	capital	consists	mostly	of	cash,	cash	equivalents,	
short-term	investments,		accounts	receivable	and	the	Dover	Put	Option	offset	by	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities.	The	interest	rate	on	
amounts	invested	in	cash,	cash	equivalents	and	short-term	investment	accounts	as	of	December	31,	2012,	range	from	0.50%	to	1.71%.

Athabasca’s	announced	2013	capital	and	operating	budgets	will	be	 funded	with	existing	cash	and	short	 term	 investments,	cash	flow	 from	
operations	and	available	operating	lines	of	credit.	Beyond	2013,	the	Company	will	require	additional	capital	to	maintain	its	pace	of	development.	
The	Company	may	also	require	additional	capital	or	an	acceptable	alternate	form	of	security	if	needed	to	file	an	objection	against	any	possible	
tax	reassessment.	Athabasca	believes	it	will	fund	its	activities	through	some	combination	of	cash	flow	from	operations,	the	potential	exercise	
of	 the	 Dover	 Put/Call	 Options,	 a	 reasonable	 level	 of	 debt	 and	 joint	 ventures.	 Until	 required,	 excess	 cash	 will	 be	 invested.	 The	 Company’s	
outstanding	financial	liabilities	mature	within	one	year,	except	for	the	Notes	which	mature	in	2017.

LONG‑TERM DEBT 
As	part	of	 the	PetroChina	 transaction,	Athabasca	entered	 into	a	 long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	of	$430.0	million	(“PetroChina	
Loan	 #1”).	 Athabasca	 also	 entered	 a	 second	 long-term	 non-revolving	 credit	 agreement	 of	 up	 to	 $100.0	 million	 (“PetroChina	 Loan	 #2”)	 of	
which	$43.9	million	had	been	drawn	as	at	December	31,	2011.	Interest	on	the	credit	agreements	was	equal	to	LIBOR	plus	450	basis	points	and	
was	paid	semi-annually.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca’s	effective	interest	rate	on	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2	was	5.8%.		
In	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	credit	agreements,	the	loans	matured	upon	exercise	by	Athabasca	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	and	were	
repaid	from	the	proceeds	of	the	sale,	which	closed	on	March	15,	2012.

On	November	19,	2012,	Athabasca	issued	the	Notes	in	an	aggregate	principal	amount	of	$550.0	million.	The	Notes	bear	interest	at	a	rate	of	
7.50%	per	annum	and	have	a	term	of	five	years	maturing	on	November	19,	2017.		Interest	payments	will	be	made	semi-annually	on	May	19	
and	November	19	of	each	year,	commencing	on	May	19,	2013.	The	Notes	are	collateralized	by	all	assets	of	the	Company	except	for	the	Dover	
Investment	and	the	Company’s	rights	under	the	Dover	Put/Call	Agreement.	Should	the	Dover	Put/Call	Options	be	exercised,	and	the	sale	of	the	
Dover	Investment	has	been	completed,	the	net	proceeds	from	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	would	also	be	held	as	collateral.	

Athabasca	has	the	option	to	redeem	the	Notes	at	any	time	prior	to	November	19,	2014	at	a	price	of	107.50%	plus	the	present	value	of	interest	
from	the	date	of	redemption	to	November	19,	2014.	Beyond	that	date,	Athabasca	will	have	the	option	to	redeem	the	Notes	at	a	price	of	107.50%,	
103.75%	and	100.00%	in	the	12-month	periods	ending	November	19,	2015,	2016	and	2017,	respectively.	Debt	issuance	costs	associated	with	
the	transaction	were	initially	capitalized	and	are	amortized	to	net	income	over	five	years	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

REVOLVING SENIOR SECURED DEMAND CREDIT FACILITY 
In	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2011,	 Athabasca	 entered	 into	 a	 revolving	 senior	 secured	 demand	 credit	 facility	 (the	 “Demand	 Facility”)	 for	 up	 to	
$25.0		million	which	could	be	used	to	fund	short-term	working	capital	activities	or	issue	letters	of	credit.	The	Demand	Facility	was	secured	with	
$25.0	million	in	cash	deposited	in	a	restricted	interest	bearing	cash	collateral	account.	All	borrowings	against	the	Demand	Facility	bore	interest,	
paid	monthly,	at	the	prime	rate.	

On	 November	 30,	 2012,	 the	 Demand	 Facility	 was	 replaced	 with	 a	 $200.0	 million	 revolving	 senior	 secured	 first	 lien	 credit	 facility	
(the	“Credit	Facility”).	Amounts	borrowed	under	the	Credit	Facility	bear	interest	at	a	floating	rate	based	on	the	applicable	Canadian	prime	rate,	
US	base	rate,	LIBOR	rate	or	bankers’	acceptance	rate,	between	1.00%	and	4.50%	depending	on	the	type	of	borrowing	and	the	Corporations’	
debt	to	EBITDA	ratio,	as	defined	in	the	credit	agreement	for	the	Credit	Facility.	All	borrowings	are	subject	to	a	quarterly	debt	to	EBITDA	ratio	
and	tangible	net	worth	covenants.	In	2013,	the	amount	drawn	on	the	Demand	Facility	is	limited	to	three	times	EBITDA.	The	Dover	Put	Option	
must	also	be	exercised	 if	 the	Demand	Facility	 is	drawn	upon.	Amounts	drawn	under	the	Demand	Facility	are	collateralized	by	all	assets	of	
the	Company	except	for	the	Dover	Investment.	Should	the	Demand	Facility	be	drawn	upon	and	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	has	been	
completed,	the	net	proceeds	from	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	would	also	be	held	as	collateral.

Under	the	terms	of	the	Credit	Facility,	the	restricted	interest	bearing	cash	collateral	account	was	no	longer	required	and	closed.	All	existing	
letters	of	credit	under	the	previous	Demand	Facility	are	now	backed	by	the	Credit	Facility.	Facility	setup	costs	were	initially	capitalized	to	prepaid	
expenses	and	are	amortized	to	net	income	over	one	year	using	the	straight	line	method.	At	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	had	$2.6	million	in	
issued	letters	of	credit	secured	by	the	Credit	Facility	(December	31,	2011	-	$4.1	million).	Other	than	the	issued	letters	of	credit,	there	were	no	
borrowings	drawn	against	either	facility	in	2012	or	2011.
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EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 
During	the	year,	1.1	million	common	shares	were	 issued	on	the	exercise	of	warrants	assumed	by	the	Company	as	part	of	the	acquisition	of	
Excelsior	 Energy	 Limited.	 On	 November	 9,	 2012,	 0.7	 million	 remaining	 unexercised	 Excelsior	 warrants	 expired.	 The	 Company	 also	 issued	
0.2	million	common	shares	from	stock	based	compensation	exercised/released	during	the	year.	

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
The	following	table	summarizes	Athabasca’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	as	at	December	31,	2012	for	the	following	five	years	
and	thereafter:	

($ Thousands) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

Interest	expense	on	Notes	 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 - $ 206,250

Repayment	of	Notes - - - - 550,000 - 550,000

Office	leases 4,112 4,092 10,256 10,181 9,775 88,837 127,253

Drilling	rigs 8,960 6,360 6,360 2,650 - - 24,330

Transportation 152 389 627 627 627 8,567 10,989

Purchase	commitments	and	other 7,486 94 - - - - 7,580

TOTAL	COMMITMENTS $ 61,960 $ 52,185 $ 58,493 $ 54,708 $ 601,652 $ 97,404 $ 926,402

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	Athabasca	sanctioned	the	development	of	its	first	thermal	oil	project	in	Hangingstone	for	a	$536	million	base	
facility	and	$27	million	in	supporting	infrastructure	(not	 included	in	the	table	above).	The	facilities	and	infrastructure	will	be	constructed	in	
2013	and	2014.

Athabasca	is	responsible	for	the	retirement	of	its	resource	assets	at	the	end	of	their	useful	lives.

Athabasca	has	entered	into	indemnity	agreements	with	its	directors	and	officers	whereby	the	Company	indemnifies	the	directors	and	officers	
from	all	personal	liability	and	loss	that	may	arise	in	service	to	the	Company.

In	2010	Dover	Operating	Corp	(“Dover	OpCo”),	was	created	to	operate	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures.	As	at	December	31,	2012	
(not	included	in	the	above	table),	Athabasca’s	40%	share	of	Dover	OpCo’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	was	$1.3	million	consisting	
mainly	of	office	leases.	

Athabasca	 is	 currently	 undergoing	 tax	 related	 reviews,	 including	 reviews	 of	 the	 capital	 treatment	 of	 the	 February	 2010	 transaction	 with	
PetroChina	and	the	March	2010	capital	dividend.	While	the	final	outcome	of	such	reviews	cannot	be	predicted	with	certainty	and	could	be	
significant,	Athabasca	believes	 its	positions	as	filed	are	supportable	under	applicable	 law	and	the	Company	has	not	currently	recognized	a	
provision	 in	 its	financial	statements	 for	any	potential	 reassessments.	 In	the	event	that	the	Company	 is	reassessed,	 the	Company	would	be	
required	to	deposit	cash	with	the	relevant	taxing	authority	in	order	to	file	an	objection	against	such	reassessment,	the	amount	of	which	deposit	
could	be	material.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
The	Company	has	certain	lease	agreements,	all	of	which	are	reflected	in	the	table	above	under	the	heading	“Commitments	and	Contingencies”,	
which	were	entered	 into	 in	 the	normal	course	of	operations.	The	 leases,	which	have	been	treated	as	operating	 leases,	have	been	recorded	
as	general	and	administrative	expenses.	No	asset	or	liability	value	has	been	assigned	to	these	agreements	on	the	Company’s	balance	sheet.	
The	Company	has	no	other	off	balance	sheet	arrangements.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 
The	following	table	summarizes	the	number	of	share	capital	instruments	outstanding	at	the	date	indicated:	

As at March 15, 2013

Common	shares	(1) 400,530,495

Convertible	securities:

Stock	options	outstanding	–	exercisable	and	unexercisable 12,834,770

Restricted	share	units	outstanding	–	exercisable	and	unexercisable 6,078,850

	(1)	 Includes	632,889	common	shares	held	in	trust	for	employees	and	other	service	providers	which	are	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company	if	length	of	service	requirements	are	
not	met.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The	Company	manages	the	capital	structure	and	makes	adjustments	 in	 light	of	changes	to	economic	conditions	and	risk	characteristics	of	
underlying	assets.	To	maintain	or	adjust	its	capital	structure	the	Company	may	obtain	or	repay	debt,	enter	into	joint	exploration	and	development	
arrangements,	acquire	or	dispose	of	assets,	issue	new	shares	or	repurchase	existing	shares.

To	facilitate	the	management	of	its	capital	requirements,	the	Company	prepares	annual	expenditure	budgets	that	are	approved	by	the	Board	of	
Directors	and	are	updated	throughout	the	year	as	required.	Longer	term	financial	models	are	also	utilized	to	schedule	and	forecast	anticipated	
cash	requirements.	Excess	cash	is	invested	in	accordance	with	an	investment	policy,	which	is	designed	to	ensure	that	cash	is	invested	in	highly	
liquid	short-term	 interest-bearing	 investments,	possessing	pre-approved	risk	profiles,	and	 is	available	as	 required.	The	 investment	policy	 is	
reviewed	periodically	by	the	Audit	Committee.

There	were	no	changes	in	the	Company’s	approach	to	capital	management	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012.	During	the	year,	Athabasca	
repaid	PetroChina	Loan	#1	and	PetroChina	Loan	#2	and	issued	long	term	Notes.	In	addition,	Athabasca	entered	into	the	Credit	Facility	providing	
additional	borrowing	capacity.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The	Company’s	consolidated	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	comprised	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash,	short-term	investments,	
accounts	receivable,	Dover	put/call	options,	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	and	long-term	debt.

FAIR VALUE 
The	carrying	values	of	Athabasca’s	financial	instruments,	other	than	the	long-term	debt,	approximate	their	fair	value	due	to	their	short	term	
nature.	As	at	December	31,	2012,	no	financial	assets	or	liabilities	were	measured	at	fair	value	aside	from	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	short-term	
investments	and	 the	Dover	Put	Option.	The	Company	classifies	 its	financial	 instruments	measured	at	 fair	value	according	 to	 the	 following	
hierarchy	based	on	the	amount	of	observable	inputs	used	to	value	the	instrument.	Assessment	of	the	significance	of	a	particular	input	to	the	fair	
value	measurement	requires	judgment	and	may	affect	the	placement	level	within	the	fair	value	hierarchy.	

•	Level	1	–	Unadjusted	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;

•	Level	2	–	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability	either	directly	or	indirectly;	and

•	Level	3	–	Inputs	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data.

The	Company’s	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments	and	restricted	cash	have	been	assessed	on	the	fair	value	hierarchy	described	
above	and	have	been	classified	as	Level	1.	At	December	31,	2012,	the	fair	value	of	Athabasca’s	long	term	Notes	was	$552.8	million	based	on	
observable	Level	2	inputs	which	were	quoted	prices	from	financial	institutions.

The	fair	value	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	has	been	classified	as	Level	3.	The	fair	value	was	determined	to	be	the	residual	of	the	fixed	exercise	price	
and	the	anticipated	carrying	value	of	the	Dover	investment	at	the	time	of	exercise,	discounted	for	the	duration	to	the	expected	transaction	close	
date.	The	fair	value	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	was	adjusted	for	the	estimated	probability	of	exercise	and	receipt	of	regulatory	approval.	Athabasca	
assessed	the	probability	of	Dover	Put	Option	exercise	and	receipt	of	regulatory	approval	as	both	being	greater	than	90%.	For	every	5%	increase	
(decrease)	in	either	probability,	the	fair	value	of	the	Put	Option	increases	(decreases)	by	approximately	$20.0	million.

CREDIT RISK 
The	 maximum	 exposure	 to	 credit	 risk	 is	 represented	 by	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 of	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash,	 short-term	
investments,	accounts	receivable	and	the	Dover	Put	Option	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheets.	Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash	and	
short-term	investments	held	by	the	Company	are	invested	with	counterparties	meeting	credit	quality	requirements	and	issuer	and	concentration	
limits	pursuant	to	an	investment	policy	that	is	periodically	reviewed	by	the	Audit	Committee.	The	policy	emphasizes	security	of	assets	over	
investment	yield.	

As	 at	 December	 31,	 2012	 and	 2011	 Athabasca’s	 cash,	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash	 and	 short-term	 investments	 were	 held	 with	 four	
counterparties.	The	Company	holds	investments	in	term	deposits	and	GICs	with	large	reputable	Canadian	financial	institutions.	The	Company’s	
management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	with	these	investments	is	low.	At	December	31,	2012,	no	one	institution	held	more	than	32%	
of	the	balances.	

As	at	December	31,	2012,	54%	of	the	Company’s	consolidated	accounts	receivable	balance	is	due	from	the	Government	of	Canada	for	input	
tax	credits.	25%	of	the	accounts	receivable	balance	relates	to	the	sale	of	petroleum	and	natural	gas	and	is	expected	to	be	collected	within	
the	first	30	days	after	year	end.	Management	believes	collection	risk	on	outstanding	accounts	receivable	as	at	December	31,	2012	is	minimal	
as	the	Company	deals	with	high	quality	counterparties.	No	material	amounts	were	past	due	at	December	31,	2012,	based	on	the	terms	with		
the	counterparties.
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As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	had	$9.4	million	in	income	tax	receivable	owing	from	the	provincial	government	for	tax	credits	earned	in	
2010	which	were	carried	back	and	claimed	against	2009	taxable	income.	The	receivable	was	collected	in	the	third	quarter	of	2012.	

Athabasca	holds	a	put	option	to	sell	its	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	oil	sands	project	for	gross	proceeds	of	$1.32	billion	which	has	been	valued	
on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet.	Should	the	Dover	Put	Option	be	exercised,	the	Company’s	management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	
with	this	financial	instrument	is	low	given	PetroChina’s	investment	grade	credit	rating.

LIQUIDITY RISK 
The	Company’s	objective	in	managing	liquidity	risk	is	to	maintain	sufficient	available	reserves	to	meet	its	liquidity	requirements	at	any	point.	
The	Company	achieves	this	by	managing	its	capital	spending	and	maintaining	sufficient	funds	for	anticipated	short-term	spending	in	cash	and	
cash	equivalent	accounts.

Athabasca’s	announced	2013	capital	and	operating	budgets	will	be	 funded	with	existing	cash	and	short	 term	 investments,	cash	flow	 from	
operations	and	available	operating	lines	of	credit.	Beyond	2013,	the	Company	will	require	additional	capital	to	maintain	its	pace	of	development.	
The	Company	may	also	require	additional	capital	or	an	acceptable	alternate	form	of	security	if	needed	to	file	an	objection	against	any	possible	
tax	reassessment.	Athabasca	believes	it	will	fund	its	activities	through	some	combination	of	cash	flow	from	operations,	the	potential	exercise	
of	 the	 Dover	 Put/Call	 Options,	 a	 reasonable	 level	 of	 debt	 and	 joint	 ventures.	 Until	 required,	 excess	 cash	 will	 be	 invested.	 The	 Company’s	
outstanding	financial	liabilities	mature	within	one	year	apart	from	the	Notes	which	mature	on	November	19,	2017.

INTEREST RATE RISK 
The	Company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	fluctuations	on	interest	earned	on	the	floating	rate	cash	balance	of	$378.3	million,	from	a	1.0%	change	
in	interest	rates,	would	be	approximately	$3.7	million	for	a	twelve	month	period.

PUT/CALL OPTIONS RELATED TO DOVER 
Detailed	below	are	the	Dover	Put/Call	Options	associated	with	the	Company’s	40%	interest	in	Dover	(the	“Dover	Put/Call	Options”).	The	fair	
value	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	was	recognized	for	accounting	purposes.

DOVER PUT OPTION

Phoenix	has	granted	to	the	Company	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option	within	30	days	following	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	project	
regulatory	approval	(as	described	in	the	Dover	Put/Call	Option	Agreement),	to	require	Phoenix	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOC	(Dover)		
for	the	purchase	price	of	$1.32	billion.	

DOVER CALL OPTION

The	Company	has	granted	to	Phoenix	the	right,	exercisable	at	Phoenix’s	option,	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOC	(Dover)	for	a	purchase	
price	of	$1.32	billion.	With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	by	Athabasca,	the	Dover	Call	Option	is	exercisable	and	will	remain	
exercisable	until	30	days	after	the	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	project	regulatory	approval.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

At	December	31,	2012,	the	Company	has	a	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	joint	venture	through	its	100%	wholly-owned	subsidiary,	AOC	(Dover).	
Previously,	Athabasca	also	held	a	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	joint	venture	through	its	100%	wholly-owned	subsidiary,	AOSC	(MacKay).	
As	a	result	of	 the	exercise	of	 the	MacKay	River	put	option	 in	the	 fourth	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	sold	 its	 remaining	40%	interest	 in	 the	
MacKay	joint	venture	to	Phoenix.	

The	Dover	joint	venture	(and	the	MacKay	River	joint	venture	before	it	was	sold)	is	an	investment	in	which	the	Company	has	significant	influence	
and	is	accounted	for	as	a	long-term	investment	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	whereby	the	carrying	value	of	the	investment	is	increased	
or	decreased	for	the	Company’s	percentage	of	net	 income	or	 loss,	reduced	by	dividends	paid	to	the	Company,	and	 increased	or	decreased	
to	reflect	the	Company’s	share	of	capital	transactions.	The	equity	investments	did	not	incur	any	revenues	during	2012	or	2011	nor	were	any	
dividends	paid.	
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The	 following	 historical	 cost	 table	 summarizes	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 equity	 investees	 as	 at	 December	 31,	 2012	 and	 the		
comparatives	thereto:

DOVER AND MACKAY RIVER INVESTMENTS 
(As at) ($ Thousands)

December 31, 
2012 (1)

December 31, 
2011 (2)

TOTAL	ASSETS $ 136,418 $ 207,416

	 Liabilities 26,551  41,716

	 Shareholders’	equity 109,867  165,700

TOTAL	LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY $ 136,418 $ 207,416

NET	LOSS	(YEAR	ENDED	DECEMBER	31) $ (1,389) $ (4,600)

(1	)	 Includes	the	Dover	investment	only.

(2)	 Includes	the	Dover	and	MacKay	River	investments.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Athabasca	has	seconded	staff	to	Dover	OpCo	and	some	members	of	Athabasca’s	staff	are	utilized	by	Dover	OpCo	under	a	shared	services	
arrangement.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	charged	Dover	OpCo	$6.8	million	to	recover	the	costs	of	these	seconded	and	
shared	service	staff	(2011	-	$8.2	million).	These	transactions	were	 in	the	normal	course	of	operations	and	were	measured	at	the	exchange	
amount.	The	charges	are	recorded	as	a	reduction	in	general	and	administrative	expense.	As	at	December	31,	2012,	accounts	receivable	did	not	
include	any	amounts	owing	from	Dover	OpCo	for	staff	discussed	above	(2011	-	$0.6	million).

During	the	first	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	entered	into	an	operating	and	technical	services	agreement	with	an	energy	company	that	has	certain	
directors	 in	common	with	Athabasca,	which	provides	 for	 the	mutual	exchange	of	certain	services.	For	 the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,		
no	costs	were	incurred	by	Athabasca	on	behalf	of	the	energy	company	(2011	-	$1.2	million)	and	at	December	31,	2012	no	amounts	remained	
receivable.	These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	course	of	operations	and	were	measured	at	the	exchange	amount.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	as	issued	by	
the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”).	The	following	significant	accounting	policies	were	used	during	the	year:

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION (“E&E”) ASSETS
Costs	of	exploring	for	and	evaluating	oil	and	gas	activities,	including	lease	acquisition	costs,	exploratory	drilling	to	delineate	resource	Formations,	
geological	and	geophysical	costs,	engineering,	licensing	and	regulatory	fees,	carrying	charges	on	non	productive	assets	and	employee	salaries	
and	stock	based	compensation	directly	related	to	exploration	and	evaluation	activities	are	initially	capitalized.	Exploration	and	evaluation	costs	
do	not	 include	general	prospecting	or	evaluation	costs	 incurred	prior	to	having	obtained	the	 legal	rights	to	explore	an	area,	these	costs	are	
expensed	directly	to	the	income	statement	as	they	are	incurred.

Tangible	assets	acquired	and	utilized	to	develop	an	exploration	and	evaluation	asset	are	recorded	as	part	of	the	cost	of	the	E&E	asset.	When	a	
tangible	asset	is	disposed	of	in	the	exploration	and	evaluation	phase	the	proceeds	of	the	assets	sold	is	de-recognized	from	the	E&E	asset	pool	
with	no	gain	or	loss	recognized.

E&E	assets	are	carried	at	cost	until	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	extracting	a	mineral	resource	is	considered	to	be	determined.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	thermal	oil	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	reserves	are	determined	to	
exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approvals	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	regulatory	authorities.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	conventional	petroleum	and	natural	gas	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	
reserves	are	determined	to	exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approval	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	
Upon	technical	 feasibility	and	commercial	viability	being	established,	E&E	assets	are	first	 tested	 for	 impairment	and	 then	 reclassified	 from	
exploration	and	evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (“PP&E”)
Items	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 measured	 using	 historical	 cost	 less	 any	 accumulated	 impairment	 losses.	 The	 initial	 cost	 of	 an	
asset	comprises	its	purchase	price,	any	cost	directly	attributable	to	bringing	the	asset	to	the	location	and	condition	necessary	for	its	intended	
use	and	an	initial	estimate	of	the	cost	of	dismantling	and	removing	the	item	and	restoring	the	site	on	which	it	is	located.	Included	in	PP&E	are	
assets	 that	have	been	 transferred	 from	exploration	and	evaluation	upon	 the	establishment	of	commercial	viability	and	 technical	 feasibility.		
Once	 Athabasca’s	 projects	 are	 available	 for	 use	 in	 the	 manner	 intended	 by	 management,	 they	 will	 be	 depreciated	 over	 their	 useful	 life	 or	
depleted	using	the	unit	of	production	method.	

The	Company	 is	 in	the	early	stages	of	developing	 its	thermal	oil	assets	and	the	assets	are	not	yet	ready	for	use;	therefore,	no	depletion	or	
depreciation	has	been	recorded	with	respect	to	the	related	thermal	oil	capitalized	expenditures	to	date.	Light	oil	assets	that	are	ready	for	use	
in	the	manner	intended	by	management	have	had	depletion	recorded	against	their	related	capitalized	expenditures.	Depreciation	of	corporate	
assets	is	calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	over	the	estimated	useful	life	of	the	asset,	ranging	from	one	to	five	years.

IMPAIRMENT
Impairment	tests	are	performed	on	cash-generating	units	(“CGUs”)	which	are	determined	by	the	Company	to	be	at	the	project	level	for	thermal	
oil	assets	and	at	the	area	level	for	light	oil	assets	in	the	development	phase.	Light	oil	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	may	be	grouped	together	
when	assessing	impairment	indicators.	CGUs	are	not	larger	than	an	operating	segment.	

Exploration	 and	 evaluation	 assets	 and	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 tested	 for	 impairment	 at	 each	 reporting	 date	 when	 facts	 and	
circumstances	suggest	that	the	carrying	amount	exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	The	recoverable	amount	is	determined	as	the	greater	of	the	
CGU’s	value	in	use	(“VIU”)	and	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	(“FVLCTS”).	In	assessing	VIU,	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	
their	present	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	
the	asset.	FVLCTS	is	defined	as	the	amount	obtainable	from	the	sale	of	an	asset	or	CGU	in	an	arm’s	length	transaction	between	knowledgeable	
parties,	less	the	costs	to	dispose	of	the	CGU.	

The	 calculations	 identified	 above	 require	 the	 use	 of	 estimates	 and	 assumptions	 and	 are	 subject	 to	 changes	 as	 new	 information	 becomes	
available.	Factors	that	are	subject	to	change	include	information	on	future	commodity	prices,	expected	production	volumes,	quantity	of	reserves	
and	discount	rates	as	well	as	future	development	and	operating	costs.	Changes	in	assumptions	used	in	determining	the	recoverable	amount	
could	affect	the	carrying	value	of	the	related	E&E	and	PP&E	assets	and	CGU’s.

PROVISIONS AND DECOMMISSIONING OBLIGATIONS
A	provision	is	recognized	if,	as	a	result	of	a	past	event,	the	Company	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	that	can	be	estimated	reliably,	
and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	Provisions	are	determined	by	discounting	the	
expected	future	cash	flows	at	a	pre-tax	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	
liability.	The	Company’s	oil	and	gas	activities	give	rise	to	dismantling,	decommissioning	and	site	disturbance	remediation	activities.	Provisions	
are	made	for	the	estimated	cost	of	site	restoration	and	capitalized	to	the	corresponding	asset.	

Decommissioning	obligations	are	measured	at	the	present	value	of	management’s	best	estimate	of	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	
The	 present	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 risk-adjusted	 expenditure	 estimates	 and	 the	 Company’s	 credit-adjusted	 risk-free	 discount	 rate.	
Subsequent	to	initial	measurement,	the	obligation	is	adjusted	at	the	end	of	each	period	to	reflect	the	passage	of	time,	changes	in	the	estimated	
future	cash	flows	underlying	the	obligation	and	changes	in	discount	rates.	The	increase	in	the	obligation	due	to	the	passage	of	time	is	recognized	
as	a	finance	cost	whereas	changes	due	to	revisions	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	and	discount	rate	are	capitalized.	Actual	costs	incurred	
upon	settlement	of	the	obligations	are	charged	against	the	provision	to	the	extent	the	provision	was	established.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
These	consolidated	financial	statements	reflect	the	activities	of	the	Company	and	its	wholly-owned	subsidiaries.	Intercompany	transactions	
and	balances	are	eliminated	upon	consolidation.	The	Company	accounts	for	its	investments	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	as	
equity	investments	in	accordance	with	IAS	28	Investments	in	Associates.	Management	has	made	an	assessment	under	IAS	27	Consolidated	
and	Separate	Financial	Statements,	IAS	31	Interest	in	Joint	Ventures	and	SIC	12	Consolidated	-	Special	Purpose	Entities	and	determined	that	
Athabasca	does	not	control	or	jointly	control	its	interests	in	these	joint	ventures	as	Athabasca	does	not	presently	have	exposure	to	the	majority	
of	associated	benefits	or	risks.	

The	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	are	investments	in	which	the	Company	has	significant	influence	and	are	accounted	for	as	long-term	
investments	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	whereby	the	carrying	value	of	the	investment	is	increased	or	decreased	for	the	Company’s	
percentage	 of	net	 income	 or	 loss,	 reduced	 by	dividends	 paid	 to	 the	 Company,	 and	 increased	 or	decreased	 to	 reflect	 the	 Company’s	 share	
of	capital	transactions.	As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	in	December	of	2011,	the	MacKay	River	investment	was	
presented	as	an	asset	held	for	sale	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet	as	at	December	31,	2011.	
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JOINT VENTURES
Athabasca	undertakes	certain	business	activities	through	joint	ventures.	A	joint	venture	is	established	under	contractual	arrangement	whereby	
two	or	more	parties	undertake	an	economic	activity	that	is	subject	to	joint	control.	Joint	control	is	the	contractually	agreed	sharing	of	control	
over	an	economic	activity,	and	exists	only	when	the	strategic	financial	and	operating	decisions	relating	to	the	activity	require	the	unanimous	
consent	of	the	parties	sharing	control.	The	Grosmont	joint	venture	is	accounted	for	as	jointly	controlled	assets	whereby	Athabasca	recognizes	
its	proportionate	share	of	assets,	liabilities,	income	and	expenses	that	arise	from	the	joint	venture.	

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The	 preparation	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 requires	 management	 to	 make	 estimates	 and	 assumptions.	 These	 estimates	 and	
assumptions	affect	the	reported	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities,	the	disclosure	of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	date	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of	revenues	and	expenses	during	the	applicable	reporting	period.	These	estimates	relate	to	
unsettled	transactions	and	events	as	of	the	date	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	may	differ	from	actual	results	as	future	confirming	
events	occur.	Estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	are	reviewed	by	management	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	
recognized	prospectively	in	the	year	in	which	the	estimates	are	revised.	Changes	in	the	Company’s	accounting	estimates	and	judgments	could	
have	a	significant	impact	on	net	income.

The	carrying	value	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	related	to	reserve	amounts	used	for	impairment	and	depletion	calculations	which	are	
based	on	estimates	of	bitumen	and	oil	and	gas	 reserves	and	 resources,	 future	commodity	prices	and	 future	costs	 required	 to	develop	and	
produce	the	reserves	and	resources.	The	Company	expects	that	reserve	estimates	could	be	revised	either	upwards	or	downwards	based	on	
updated	information	from	drilling	and	operating	results.	Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	require	 judgment	as	to	whether	future	economic	
benefits	exist,	including	the	existence	of	proven	reserves	and	the	ability	to	finance	exploration	and	evaluation	projects,	where	technical	feasibility	
and	commercial	viability	has	not	yet	been	determined.

The	 fair	 value	 calculation	 of	 decommissioning	 obligations	 is	 based	 upon	 numerous	 assumptions	 including	 the	 ultimate	 settlement	
amounts,	 inflation	 factors,	 credit-adjusted	 discount	 rates,	 timing	 of	 settlement	 and	 changes	 in	 the	 legal,	 regulatory,	 environmental	 and		
political	environments.	

The	provision	for	 income	taxes	is	based	on	judgments	in	applying	income	tax	law	and	estimates	on	the	timing	and	likelihood	of	reversal	of	
temporary	differences	between	the	accounting	and	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities.	Athabasca	has	had	significant	taxable	events	in	the	past	
and	the	tax	authorities	have	not	concluded	on	Athabasca’s	tax	treatment	of	each	event.	The	provision	for	income	taxes	is	based	on	Athabasca’s	
interpretation	of	the	tax	legislation	and	regulations	which	is	also	subject	to	change.	Athabasca	recognizes	a	tax	provision	when	a	payment	to	
tax	authorities	is	considered	more	likely	than	not.

Valuation	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	includes	estimates	for	the	expected	timing	and	probability	of	regulatory	approval	as	well	as	the	probability	
of	either	party	exercising	their	option.	Judgment	was	also	applied	in	determining	the	appropriate	discount	rate	to	be	used	in	the	valuation	and	
additional	costs	to	be	incurred	prior	to	completion.	

Stock-based	compensation	includes	volatility,	option	life	and	forfeiture	rates	which	are	based	on	management’s	assumptions	and	estimates.

Commitment	disclosures	relating	to	post-sanction	thermal	oil	projects	include	estimates	of	the	total	cost	of	the	long	term	projects	and	could	be	
revised	either	upwards	or	downwards	based	on	the	actual	results	of	operations.

All	of	these	estimates	are	subject	to	measurement	uncertainty	and	changes	in	these	estimates	could	materially	impact	the	financial	statements	
of	future	periods	and	have	a	significant	impact	on	net	income.

INCOME TAXES
Income	tax	is	comprised	of	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	expense	is	recognized	in	the	statement	of	income	and	comprehensive	income	
except	to	the	extent	that	it	relates	to	items	recognized	directly	in	equity,	in	which	case	it	is	recognized	in	equity.	Current	tax	is	the	expected	tax	
payable	(receivable)	on	the	taxable	income	(loss)	for	the	period,	using	tax	rates	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	reporting	date,	and	any	
adjustment	to	tax	payable	in	respect	of	previous	years.	

Deferred	tax	is	recognized	using	the	balance	sheet	method,	providing	for	temporary	differences	between	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	
liabilities	for	financial	reporting	purposes	and	the	amounts	used	for	taxation	purposes.	Deferred	tax	is	not	recognized	on	the	initial	recognition	
of	assets	or	liabilities	in	a	transaction	that	is	not	a	business	combination	and	does	not	affect	profit.	Deferred	tax	is	measured	at	the	tax	rates	that	
are	expected	to	be	applied	to	temporary	differences	when	they	reverse,	based	on	the	laws	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	
the	reporting	date.	
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Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	if	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset	and	they	relate	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	
tax	authority	on	the	same	taxable	entity,	or	on	different	tax	entities,	but	the	Company	intends	to	settle	current	tax	liabilities	and	assets	on	a	net	
basis	or	the	tax	assets	and	liabilities	will	be	realized	simultaneously.	A	deferred	tax	asset	is	recognized	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	
taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	temporary	difference	can	be	utilized.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	
and	are	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	is	no	longer	probable	that	the	related	tax	benefit	will	be	realized.	Athabasca	also	recognizes	deferred	tax	
liabilities	on	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries	unless	the	Company	is	able	to	control	the	timing	of	the	reversal	
of	the	temporary	differences	and	it	is	probable	that	they	will	not	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.	

STOCK‑BASED COMPENSATION
The	Company’s	stock-based	compensation	plans	for	employees,	directors,	and	consultants	consist	of	stock	options	and	restricted	share	units.	
Athabasca	also	has	issued	and	outstanding	incentive	shares	granted	under	legacy	plans	which	are	held	in	trust	until	certain	length	of	service	
requirements	are	met.	At	the	grant	date	the	Company	uses	the	fair	value	method	to	account	for	securities	issued	as	part	of	its	stock-based	
compensation	plans.	The	fair	value	is	recorded	as	stock-based	compensation	over	the	vesting	period	with	a	corresponding	amount	reflected	in	
contributed	surplus.	When	stock	options	are	exercised,	the	cash	proceeds	along	with	the	amount	previously	recorded	as	contributed	surplus	
are	recorded	as	share	capital.	

The	 stock-based	 compensation	 fair	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 an	 estimated	 forfeiture	 rate.	 Compensation	 ultimately	 recognized	 is	 revised	
in	 subsequent	 periods	 to	 reflect	 the	 final	 grant	 amounts.	 For	 employees	 and	 consultants	 who	 are	 working	 on	 specific	 capital	 projects,	 the	
stock-based	compensation	is	allocated	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	or	property,	plant	and	equipment.	For	the	remainder	of	employees,	
the	compensation	is	expensed.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In	November	2009,	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”)	issued	IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments.	The	standard	was	expanded	in	
October	2010.	The	new	standard	is	the	first	phase	of	three	to	replace	IAS	39	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement.	This	standard	
replaces	the	current	approach	to	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	and	uses	a	model	of	only	two	classification	
categories:	fair	value	or	amortized	cost.	The	standard	also	clarifies	the	use	of	a	single	impairment	method	when	evaluating	financial	instruments.	
The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	Athabasca	will	
be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	9	on	January	1,	2015.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	IFRS	10	creates	a	standard	definition	of	control	focusing	on	power	to	
direct	activities	and	variable	returns.	This	new	control	definition	replaces	those	found	in	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements	
and	SIC	 12	Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities.	Athabasca	will	be	 required	 to	adopt	 IFRS	 10	on	 January	 1,	2013.	The	adoption	of	 this	
standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements.	The	standard	classifies	joint	arrangements	as	either	joint	operations	or	joint	ventures,	
based	on	the	rights	and	obligations	of	the	participants.	Equity	accounting	is	required	for	joint	ventures	while	for	joint	operations	each	participant	
recognizes	their	share	of	rights	and	obligations.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	11	on	January	1,	2013.	The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	
not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	12	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities	which	requires	the	disclosure	of	information	that	enables	users	
of	 financial	 statements	 to	 evaluate	 the	 nature	 of,	 and	 risks	 associated	 with	 its	 interests	 in	 other	 entities	 and	 the	 effects	 of	 those	 interests	
on	 a	 Company’s	 financial	 position,	 financial	 performance	 and	 cash	 flows.	 Athabasca	 will	 be	 required	 to	 adopt	 IFRS	 12	 on	 January	 1,	 2013.		
The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company	other	than	additional	disclosures	in	the	Company’s	
consolidated	financial	statements.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement	which	provides	guidance	on	the	measurement	of	fair	value	and	related	disclosures.	
The	standard	aims	to	improve	consistency	and	reduce	complexity	by	providing	a	precise	definition	of	fair	value	and	a	single	source	of	fair	value	
measurement	and	disclosure	requirements	for	use	across	IFRSs.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	13	on	January	1,	2013.	The	adoption	
of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

ADVISORIES AND OTHER GUIDANCE

NON‑GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
The	Light	Oil	Netback	financial	measure	in	this	document	does	not	have	a	standardized	meaning	as	prescribed	by	IFRS	and	is	considered	a		
non-GAAP	measure.	This	measure	may	not	be	comparable	to	similar	measures	presented	by	other	issuers	and	should	not	be	considered	in	
isolation	with	measures	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRS.	The	Light	Oil	Netback	measure	in	this	MD&A	includes	petroleum	and	natural	gas	
sales,	operating	and	transportation	expenses	and	royalties.	The	netback	table	on	page	33	reconciles	back	to	net	income	in	the	consolidated	
financial	statements.	The	Light	Oil	netback	measure	allows	management	and	other	users	to	evaluate	the	production	results	from	the	Company’s	
oil	and	gas	assets.	

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure	controls	and	procedures	are	designed	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	that	 information	required	to	be	disclosed	 in	reports	filed	
with,	 or	 submitted	 to,	 securities	 regulatory	 authorities	 is	 recorded,	 processed,	 summarized	 and	 reported	 within	 the	 time	 periods	 specified	
under	Canadian	securities	law.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	an	evaluation	was	carried	out	under	the	supervision	of	and	with	the	
participation	of	Athabasca’s	management,	including	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer,	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	design	
and	operations	of	the	Company’s	disclosure	controls	and	procedures.	Based	on	that	evaluation,	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	
Officer	concluded	that	the	design	and	operation	of	these	disclosure	controls	and	procedures	were	effective	in	ensuring	that	information	required	
to	be	disclosed	by	Athabasca	in	reports	that	it	files	with	or	submits	under	applicable	securities	legislation	is	recorded,	processed,	summarized	
and	reported	within	the	time	periods	required.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management	of	Athabasca	is	responsible	for	establishing	and	maintaining	adequate	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	such	term	is	
defined	in	the	rules	of	the	Canadian	Securities	Administrators.	The	Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	is	a	process	designed	
under	the	supervision	and	with	the	participation	of	executive	and	financial	officers	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	the	reliability	of	
financial	reporting	and	the	preparation	of	the	Company’s	financial	statements	for	external	reporting	purposes	in	accordance	with	IFRS.

The	Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	includes	policies	and	procedures	that:

•	 pertain	to	the	maintenance	of	 records	that,	 in	 reasonable	detail,	accurately	and	fairly	 reflect	 transactions	and	dispositions	of	assets	of	
the	Company;

•	 provide	reasonable	assurance	that	transactions	are	recorded	as	necessary	to	permit	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	
GAAP;	and

•	 provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	prevention	or	timely	detection	of	unauthorized	acquisition,	use	or	disposition	of	the	Company’s	
assets	that	could	have	a	material	effect	on	the	financial	statements.

Athabasca’s	 internal	control	over	financial	reporting	may	not	prevent	or	detect	all	misstatements	because	of	 inherent	 limitations.	A	control	
system,	no	matter	how	well	conceived	or	operated,	can	provide	only	reasonable,	but	not	absolute,	assurance	that	the	objectives	of	the	control	
system	are	met.	Additionally,	projections	of	any	evaluation	of	effectiveness	to	future	periods	are	subject	to	the	risk	that	controls	may	become	
inadequate	 because	 of	 changes	 in	 conditions	 or	 deterioration	 in	 the	 degree	 of	 compliance	 with	 the	 Company’s	 policies	 and	 procedures.	
Management,	including	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer,	assessed	the	effectiveness	of	the	Company’s	internal	control	
over	financial	reporting	as	of	December	31,	2012,	based	on	the	framework	established	in	Internal	Control	–	Integrated	Framework	issued	by	the	
Committee	of	Sponsoring	Organizations	of	the	Treadway	Commission	(COSO).	Based	on	this	assessment,	management	concluded	that	the	
Company	maintained	effective	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	of	December	31,	2012.	During	the	year,	the	Company	implemented	
a	new	integrated	ERP	accounting	system.	During	this	transition,	management	maintained	a	sufficient	level	of	internal	control	over	the	financial	
records,	information	technology	and	related	processes	which	impact	financing	reporting.	Other	than	the	transition	to	a	new	ERP	system,	there	
were	 no	 changes	 in	 the	 internal	 control	 over	 financial	 reporting	 during	 the	 year	 ended	 December	 31,	 2012	 that	 materially	 affected,	 or	 are	
reasonably	likely	to	materially	affect,	the	Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting.
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RISK FACTORS

Factors	currently	influencing	the	Company’s	ability	to	succeed	include,	but	are	not	limited	to,	the	following:

•	 Substantial	capital	requirements;

•	 Ability	to	obtain	financing	for	capital	requirements;

•	 Fluctuations	in	market	prices	of	crude	oil,	bitumen	blend	and	natural	gas;

•	 Regulatory	approvals	and	compliance;

•	 Development	schedules	and	the	risk	of	cost	over-runs;

•	 Variations	in	foreign	exchange	rates	and	interest	rates;

•		 Risk	of	reassessments	of	the	Company’s	tax	filings	by	taxation	authorities;	

•		 Risk	of	changes	to	royalty	and	income	tax	regimes;

•	 Reliance	on,	competition	for,	loss	of	and	failure	to	attract	key	personnel;

•	 Uncertainties	associated	with	estimating	reserves	and	resources	volumes;

•	 Status	and	stage	of	development;

•	 Bitumen	recovery	processes;

•	 Long-term	production	transportation	solutions;

•	 Availability	of	and	access	to	suppliers;

•	 Environmental	risks	and	hazards;

•	 Environmental	regulation	compliance;	and

•	 Claims	by	Aboriginal	peoples.

For	additional	information	regarding	the	risks	and	uncertainties	to	which	the	Company	and	its	business	are	subject,	please	see	the	information	
under	 the	headings	“Forward	Looking	 Information”	below,	and	under	 the	headings	“Forward-Looking	Statements”	and	“Risk	Factors”	 in	 the	
Company’s	most	recent	Annual	Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2013,	on	the	Company’s	SEDAR	profile	at	www.sedar.com.	

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

This	 MD&A	 contains	 forward-looking	 information	 that	 involves	 various	 risks,	 uncertainties	 and	 other	 factors.	 All	 information	 other	 than	
statements	of	historical	fact	is	forward-looking	information.	The	use	of	any	of	the	words	“anticipate,”	“plan,”	“continue,”	“estimate,”	“expect,”	
“may,”	“will,”	“project,”	“should,”	“believe,”	“predict,”	“pursue”	and	“potential”	and	similar	expressions	are	intended	to	identify	forward-looking	
information.	 The	 forward-looking	 information	 is	 not	 historical	 fact,	 but	 rather	 is	 based	 on	 the	 Company’s	 current	 plans,	 objectives,	 goals,	
strategies,	 estimates,	 assumptions	 and	 projections	 about	 the	 Company’s	 industry,	 business	 and	 future	 financial	 results.	 This	 information	
involves	known	and	unknown	 risks,	uncertainties	and	other	 factors	 that	may	cause	actual	 results	or	events	 to	differ	materially	 from	 those	
anticipated	 in	 such	 forward-looking	 information.	 No	 assurance	 can	 be	 given	 that	 these	 expectations	 will	 prove	 to	 be	 correct	 and	 such	
forward-looking	information	included	in	this	MD&A	should	not	be	unduly	relied	upon.	This	information	speaks	only	as	of	the	date	of	this	MD&A.	
In	particular,	this	MD&A	may	contain	forward-looking	information	pertaining	to	the	following:		the	Company’s	capital	expenditure	programs;	
expected	timing	of	first	commercial	production	from	the	Thermal	Oil	Division;	the	estimated	quantity	of	the	Company’s	Contingent	Resources;	
anticipated	timing	of	first	steam	from	Hangingstone	Project	1;	the	Company’s	drilling	plans;	the	Company’s	plans	for,	and	results	of,	exploration	
and	development	activities;	the	Company’s	estimated	future	commitments;	business	plans;	development	of	the	Company’s	oil	sands	projects;	
timing	of	facilities	construction	and	production;	the	use	of	in-situ	recovery	methods	such	as	SAGD	and	TAGD	for	production	of	recoverable	
bitumen,	including	the	potential	benefits	of	such	methods;	targeted	production	rates	by	the	end	of	the	second	quarter	of	2013	and	beyond	and	
long-term	production	goals;	timing	of	submission	of	project	regulatory	applications;	estimated	timing	of	first	steaming,	completion	of	FEED,	
selection	of	equipment	manufactures	and	internal	sanction,	as	applicable,	of	the	Company’s	projects;	estimated	initial	and	full	production	of	the	
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Company’s	projects;	Athabasca’s	plans	with	respect	to	the	Light	Oil	assets	and	the	expected	benefits	to	be	received	by	Athabasca	from	such	
assets;	expectations	 regarding	 the	Company’s	Light	Oil	development	areas	 including	anticipated	production	 levels	and	 timing	of	 receipt	of	
revenues	and	operating	results	therefrom;	the	timing	for	receipt	of	regulatory	approvals;	expected	timing	of	submission	of	an	application	for	the	
Birch	project;	expected	increase	to	number	of	staff	members	in	2013;	the	focus	of	near	term	drilling	on	the	Montney,	Duvernay	and	Nordegg	
formations;	 and	 future	 accounting	 pronouncements	 and	 timing	 of	 adoption	 by	 Athabasca.	 With	 respect	 to	 forward-looking	 information	
contained	 in	 this	MD&A,	assumptions	have	been	made	 regarding,	among	other	 things:	 the	Company’s	ability	 to	obtain	qualified	staff	and	
equipment	 in	 a	 timely	 and	 cost-efficient	 manner;	 the	 regulatory	 framework	 governing	 royalties,	 taxes	 and	 environmental	 matters	 in	 the	
jurisdictions	in	which	the	Company	conducts	and	will	conduct	its	business;	the	applicability	of	technologies	for	the	recovery	and	production	of	
the	Company’s	reserves	and	resources;	future	capital	expenditures	to	be	made	by	the	Company;	future	sources	of	funding	for	the	Company’s	
capital	programs;	the	Company’s	future	debt	levels;	geological	and	engineering	estimates	in	respect	of	the	Company’s	reserves	and	resources;	
the	geography	of	the	areas	in	which	the	Company	is	conducting	exploration	and	development	activities;	the	impact	that	the	agreements	relating	
to	the	PetroChina	Transaction	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements”)	will	have	on	the	Company,	 including	on	the	Company’s	financial	
condition	and	results	of	operations;	and	the	Company’s	ability	to	obtain	financing	on	acceptable	terms.	Actual	results	could	differ	materially	
from	 those	 anticipated	 in	 this	 forward-looking	 information	 as	 a	 result	 of	 the	 risk	 factors	 set	 forth	 in	 the	 Company’s	 most	 recent	 Annual	
Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2013,	including,	but	not	limited	to:	fluctuations	in	market	prices	for	crude	oil,	natural	gas	and	bitumen	
blend;	general	economic,	market	and	business	conditions;	dependence	on	Phoenix	as	the	joint	venture	participant	in	the	Dover	oil	sands	project;	
variations	 in	 foreign	 exchange	 and	 interest	 rates;	 factors	 affecting	 potential	 profitability;	 uncertainties	 inherent	 in	 estimating	 quantities	 of	
reserves	 and	 resources;	 Athabasca’s	 status	and	stage	of	development;	uncertainties	 inherent	 in	SAGD,	TAGD	 and	other	 bitumen	 recovery	
processes;	the	potential	impact	of	the	exercise	of	the	Dover	put/call	options	on	the	Company;	failure	to	meet	the	conditions	precedent	to	the	
exercise	by	the	Company	of	the	Dover	put	option;	failure	to	receive	regulatory	approval	for	the	Dover,	Hangingstone,	Dover	West	Sands,	Dover	
West	Carbonates	or	other	oil	sands	projects	when	anticipated	or	at	all;	failure	to	obtain	necessary	regulatory	approvals	for	completion	of	the	
Dover	 put/call	 option	 transaction,	 if	 any,	 on	 the	 terms	 and	 conditions	 set	 forth	 in	 the	 Dover	 Put/Call	 Option	 Agreement;	 failure	 to	 meet	
development	schedules	and	potential	cost	overruns;	increases	in	operating	costs	making	projects	uneconomic;	the	effect	of	diluent	and	natural	
gas	 supply	 constraints	 and	 increases	 in	 the	 costs	 thereof;	 gas	 over	 bitumen	 issues	 affecting	 operational	 results;	 the	 potential	 for	 adverse	
consequences	in	the	event	that	the	Company	defaults	under	certain	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements;	environmental	risks	and	hazards	
and	 the	cost	of	compliance	with	environmental	 regulations,	 including	greenhouse	gas	 regulations	and	potential	Canadian	and	U.S.	climate	
change	legislation;	failure	to	obtain	or	retain	key	personnel;	the	substantial	capital	requirements	of	the	Company’s	projects;	the	need	to	obtain	
regulatory	approvals	and	maintain	compliance	with	 regulatory	 requirements;	extent	of,	and	cost	of	compliance	with,	government	 laws	and	
regulations	and	 the	effect	 of	 changes	 in	 such	 laws	 and	 regulations	 from	 time	 to	 time;	 changes	 to	 royalty	 regimes;	political	 risks;	 failure	 to	
accurately	estimate	abandonment	and	reclamation	costs;	risks	inherent	in	the	Company’s	operations,	including	those	related	to	exploration,	
development	and	production	of	oil	sands,	crude	oil	and	natural	gas	reserves	and	resources,	including	the	production	of	oil	sands	reserves	and	
resources	using	SAGD,	TAGD	or	other	in-situ	technologies	and	the	production	of	crude	oil	and	natural	gas	using	multi-stage	fracture	and	other	
stimulation	 technologies;	 the	 potential	 for	 management	 estimates	 and	 assumptions	 to	 be	 inaccurate;	 long-term	 reliance	 on	 third	 parties;	
reliance	on	third	party	infrastructure	for	project	facilities;	failure	by	counterparties	(including	without	limitation	Phoenix)	to	make	payments	or	
perform	their	operational	or	other	obligations	to	the	Company	in	compliance	with	the	terms	of	contractual	arrangements	between	the	Company	
and	such	counterparties	and	the	possible	consequences	thereof;	the	potential	lack	of	available	drilling	equipment	and	limitations	on	access	to	
the	Company’s	assets;	Aboriginal	claims;	seasonality;	hedging	 risks;	 risks	associated	with	establishing	and	maintaining	systems	of	 internal	
controls;	insurance	risks;	claims	made	in	respect	of	the	Company’s	operations,	properties	or	assets;	the	potential	for	adverse	consequences	as	
a	 result	 of	 the	 change	 of	 control	 provisions	 in	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction	 Agreements;	 competition	 for,	 among	 other	 things,	 capital,	 the	
acquisition	of	reserves	and	resources,	export	pipeline	capacity	and	skilled	personnel;	the	failure	of	the	Company	or	the	holder	of	certain	licenses	
or	leases	to	meet	specific	requirements	of	such	licenses	or	leases;	risk	of	reassessments	of	the	Company’s	tax	filings	by	taxation	authorities;	
risks	arising	from	future	acquisition	and	joint	venture	activities;	risks	that	joint	venture	arrangements	will	not	perform	as	expected;	volatility	in	
the	market	price	of	the	common	shares;	and	the	effect	that	the	issuance	of	additional	securities	by	the	Company	could	have	on	the	market	price	
of	 the	 common	 shares.	 In	 addition,	 information	 and	 statements	 in	 this	 MD&A	 relating	 to	 “reserves”	 and	 “resources”	 are	 deemed	 to	 be	
forward-looking	 information,	 as	 they	 involve	 the	 implied	 assessment,	 based	 on	 certain	 estimates	 and	 assumptions,	 that	 the	 reserves	 and	
resources	described	exist	in	the	quantities	predicted	or	estimated,	and	that	the	reserves	and	resources	described	can	be	profitably	produced	in	
the	future.	The	assumptions	relating	to	the	Company’s	reserves	and	resources	are	contained	in	the	reports	of	GLJ	Petroleum	Consultants	Ltd.	
(“GLJ”)(the	“GLJ	Report”)	and	DeGolyer	and	MacNaughton	Canada	Limited	(the	“D&M	Report”)	dated	effective	December	31,	2012.	

The	risks	and	uncertainties	 referred	to	above	are	described	 in	more	detail	 in	Athabasca’s	most	 recent	Annual	 Information	Form	to	be	filed	
by	March	31,	2013,	on	the	Company’s	SEDAR	profile	at	www.sedar.com.	Readers	are	cautioned	that	the	foregoing	list	of	risk	factors	should	
not	be	construed	as	exhaustive.	The	forward-looking	information	included	in	this	MD&A	is	expressly	qualified	by	this	cautionary	statement	
and	is	made	as	of	the	date	of	this	MD&A.	The	Company	does	not	undertake	any	obligation	to	publicly	update	or	revise	any	forward-looking	
information	except	as	required	by	applicable	securities	laws.

The	Company’s	financial	condition	and	results	of	operations	discussed	in	this	MD&A	will	not	necessarily	be	indicative	of	the	Company’s	future	
performance,	as	they	reflect	the	start-up	nature	of	the	Company’s	activities	to	date.	
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TECHNOLOGY UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND EMERGING TECHNOLOGY
The	Company’s	resources	at	its	Dover	West	Carbonates	and	Grosmont	assets	are	contained	in	carbonate	reservoirs.	SAGD,	the	in-situ	bitumen	
recovery	processes	utilized	by	GLJ	to	model	these	assets,	is	considered	by	GLJ	to	be	“technology	under	development”	in	carbonate	reservoirs.	
TAGD	is	considered	an	“emerging	technology.”	The	successful	development	of	the	Company’s	carbonate	reservoirs	depends	on,	among	other	
things,	the	successful	development	and	application	of	SAGD,	TAGD	or	other	recovery	processes	to	carbonate	reservoirs.	Although	the	SAGD	
technology	has	been	developed	for	application	to	non-carbonate	reservoirs,	there	are	no	known	successful	commercial	projects	that	use	SAGD	or	
TAGD	to	recover	bitumen	from	carbonate	formations	and	there	exists	a	large	range	in	the	expected	recoverable	volumes,	the	lower	end	of	which	
may	not	be	economically	viable.	The	principal	risks	associated	with	SAGD	and/or	TAGD	recovery	in	carbonate	reservoirs	are	(i)	the	possibility	
of	unexpected	steam	channeling	which	would	increase	steam	requirements	resulting	in	increased	costs	and	potentially	reduced	economically	
recoverable	bitumen	volumes,	(ii)	potential	mechanical	operating	problems	due	to	production	of	fines	which	could	cause	wellbore	plugging	
and	reduced	bitumen	production	rates	and	potential	interruption	of	surface	production	operations	and	(iii)	whether	the	technologies	can	be	
economically	applied	on	a	commercial	scale.	Although	the	technical	risks	associated	with	SAGD	have	been	accounted	for	in	the	GLJ	Report,	
the	timeline	for	verification	of	“technology	under	development”	and	“emerging	technology”	has	inherent	uncertainty.	Development	will	involve	
significant	capital	expenditures	and	a	lengthy	time	to	project	payout	and	project	payout	is	not	assured.	If	a	pilot	project	and/	or	the	technology	
under	development	do	not	demonstrate	potential	commerciality	in	carbonate	reservoirs	then	the	Company’s	projects	on	these	assets	may	not	
proceed	and	this	may	occur	only	after	significant	expenditures	have	been	incurred	by	the	Company.	With	respect	to	the	Company’s	Grosmont	
asset,	the	Company	has	not	prepared	a	development	plan	or	timeline	for	the	area,	and	is	monitoring	industry	activity	toward	demonstrating	
successful	development	and	production	methods	for	the	Grosmont	formation.

RESERVE AND RESOURCE INFORMATION

Both	the	GLJ	Report	and	the	D&M	Report	were	prepared	using	the	assumptions	and	methodology	guidelines	outlined	in	the	COGE	Handbook	
and	in	accordance	with	National	Instrument	51-101	Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.	For	additional	 information	regarding	the	
GLJ	Report	and	the	D&M	Report,	please	refer	to	the	Company’s	Annual	Information	Form	that	is	available	on	SEDAR	at	www.sedar.com.

DEFINITIONS
“Contingent Resources”	are	defined	in	the	“COGE	Handbook”	as	those	quantities	of	petroleum	estimated,	as	of	a	given	date,	to	be	potentially	
recoverable	from	known	accumulations	using	established	technology	or	technology	under	development,	but	which	are	not	currently	considered	
to	be	commercially	recoverable	due	to	one	or	more	contingencies.	Contingencies	may	include	factors	such	as	economic,	legal,	environmental,	
political	 and	 regulatory	matters	or	a	 lack	of	markets.	 It	 is	also	appropriate	 to	classify	as	 “Contingent	Resources”	 the	estimated	discovered	
recoverable	quantities	associated	with	a	project	in	the	early	evaluation	stage.	Contingent	Resources	are	further	classified	in	accordance	with	
the	level	of	certainty	associated	with	the	estimates	and	may	be	subclassified	based	on	project	maturity	and/or	characterized	by	their	economic	
status.	The	volumes	of	contingent	bitumen	resources	were	calculated	at	the	outlet	of	the	proposed	extraction	plant.

“Best Estimate”	is	a	classification	of	estimated	resources	described	in	the	COGE	Handbook	as	being	considered	to	be	the	best	estimate	of	the	
quantity	that	will	actually	be	recovered.	It	is	equally	likely	that	the	actual	remaining	quantities	recovered	will	be	greater	or	less	than	the	Best	
Estimate.	If	probabilistic	methods	are	used,	there	should	be	a	50%	probability	(P50)	that	the	quantities	actually	recovered	will	equal	or	exceed	
the	Best	Estimate.

“Probable Reserves”	are	those	additional	reserves	that	are	less	certain	to	be	recovered	than	Proved	Reserves.	It	is	equally	likely	that	the	actual	
remaining	quantities	recovered	will	be	greater	or	less	than	the	sum	of	the	estimated	Proved	Reserves	plus	Probable	Reserves.

ABBREVIATIONS

bbl/d	 barrels	per	day	 boe(1)	 barrels	of	oil	equivalent	
boe/d	 barrels	of	oil	equivalent	per	day	 FEED	 front	end	engineering	and	design
mmcf/d	 million	cubic	feet	per	day	 SIR	 supplemental	information	request
SAGD		 steam	assisted	gravity	drainage	 HAF	 heater	assembly	facility	 	
TAGD	 thermal	assisted	gravity	drainage		 ERP	 Enterprise	resource	planning
EIA	 Environmental	Impact	Assessment	 LIBOR	 London	Interbank	Offered	Rate

(1)	 Barrels	 of	 oil	 equivalent	 may	 be	 misleading,	 particularly	 if	 used	 in	 isolation.	 A	 boe	 conversion	 ratio	 of	 six	 thousand	 cubic	 feet	 of	 natural	 gas	 to	 one	 barrel	 of	 oil	 equivalent	
(6	mcf:	1	bbl)	is	based	on	an	energy	equivalency	conversion	method	primarily	applicable	at	the	burner	tip	and	does	not	represent	a	value	equivalency	at	the	wellhead.	As	the	value	
ratio	between	natural	gas	and	crude	oil	based	on	the	current	prices	of	natural	gas	and	crude	oil	is	significantly	different	from	the	energy	equivalency	of	6:1,	utilizing	a	conversion	
on	a	6:1	basis	may	be	misleading	as	an	indication	of	value.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATHABASCA OIL CORPORATION
We	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Athabasca	Oil	Corporation	(the	“Company”),	which	comprise	the	
consolidated	balance	sheets	as	at	December	31,	2012	and	2011	and	the	consolidated	statements	of	income	and	comprehensive	income,	changes	
in	equity	and	cash	flows	for	the	years	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management	of	the	Company	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	
with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	and	for	such	internal	control	as	management	determines	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	
of	consolidated	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our	 responsibility	 is	 to	 express	 an	 opinion	 on	 these	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 based	 on	 our	 audits.	 We	 conducted	 our	 audits	 in	
accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	Those	standards	require	that	we	comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	
and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	free	from	material	misstatement.

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	
The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditors’	judgment,	including	the	assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	 In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditors	consider	 internal	control	relevant	to	the	
entity’s	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	
the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	
evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	as	
evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	in	our	audits	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.	

OPINION
In	our	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	of	Athabasca	Oil	Corporation	
as	at	December	31,	2012	and	2011	and	its	financial	performance	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	years	then	ended	in	accordance	with	International	
Financial	Reporting	Standards.

Chartered Accountants 
Calgary,	Canada	
March	20,	2013	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at ($ Thousands)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

ASSETS

CURRENT	ASSETS

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	(Note	4) $ 426,013 $ 424,542

	 Restricted	cash	(Note	4) - 25,050

	 Short-term	investments	(Note	4) 536,787 799,441

	 Dover	Put	Option	(Note	5) 374,582  -

	 Accounts	receivable	(Note	13) 37,012 12,687

	 Income	tax	receivable	(Note	13) - 9,376

	 Prepaid	expenses	and	other 5,235 1,206

	 Assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5) - 671,893

1,379,629 1,944,195

	 Investments	(Note	6) 873,848 865,694

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	(Note	7) 1,109,851 347,971

	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	(Note	8) 1,095,307 786,926

$ 4,458,635 $ 3,944,786

LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY

CURRENT	LIABILITIES

	 Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	(Note	11) $ 229,617 $ 120,378

	 Current	portion	of	long-term	debt	(Note	10) - 473,884

229,617 594,262

	 Long-term	debt	(Note	10) 529,011 -

	 Decommissioning	obligations	(Note	11) 46,643 35,528

	 Deferred	income	tax	liability	(Note	12) 193,644 161,102

998,915 790,892

SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY

	 Common	shares	(Note	15) 1,960,914 1,943,362

	 Warrants	(Note	15) - 6,997

	 Contributed	surplus	 119,259 84,222

	 Retained	earnings	 1,379,547 1,119,313

3,459,720 3,153,894

$ 4,458,635 $ 3,944,786

Commitments	and	contingencies	(Note	20)

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	

Approved	by	the	Board:	

	

WILLIAM GALLACHER MARSHALL MCRAE
DIRECTOR	 DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended ($ Thousands, except per share amounts)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

REVENUE

	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales $ 25,797 $ 4,070

	 Interest	income	and	other 13,468 22,457

	 Royalties (1,242) (595)

Total	revenue 38,023 25,932

EXPENSES

	 Operating	expenses	and	transportation	expenses 10,124 1,541

	 General	and	administrative	(Note	18) 50,318 28,233

	 Stock-based	compensation	(Note	16) 18,293 18,597

	 Financing	and	interest	(Note	19) 14,384 29,004

	 Depreciation	and	depletion 25,110 3,154

Total	expenses 118,229 80,529

	 Unrealized	Put	Option	gain	(Note	5) 374,582 216,146
	 Loss	on	sale	of	assets	(Note	5) (742) -

Income	(loss)	before	income	taxes 293,634 161,549

INCOME	TAXES	(Note	12)

	 Current	income	tax	recovery (1,348) -

	 Deferred	income	tax	expense 32,542 14,634

31,194 14,634

Income	before	the	following 262,440 146,915

	 Equity	loss	on	investments	(Note	6) (2,206) (4,600)

Net	income	and	comprehensive	income	(loss) $ 260,234 $ 142,315

BASIC	INCOME	(LOSS)	PER	SHARE	(Note	17) $ 0.65 $ 0.36

DILUTED	INCOME	(LOSS)	PER	SHARE	(Note	17) $ 0.65 $ 0.35

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Year ended ($ Thousands) 
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

COMMON	SHARES	(Note	15)

	 Balance,	beginning	of	year $ 1,943,362 $ 1,950,054

	 	 Exercise	of	warrants	 13,812 6,060

	 	 Exercise	of	stock	options	and	RSUs 1,174 1,743

	 	 Release	of	contingently	returnable	shares	 2,566 7,018

	 	 Repurchase	of	common	shares	 - (21,513)

	 Balance,	end	of	year $ 1,960,914 $ 1,943,362

WARRANTS	(Note	15)

	 Balance,	beginning	of	year $ 6,997 $ 8,876

	 Exercise	of	warrants	 (4,350) (1,879)

	 Expiry	of	warrants (2,647) -

	 Balance,	end	of	year $ - $ 6,997

CONTRIBUTED	SURPLUS

	 Balance,	beginning	of	year $ 84,222 $ 62,899

	 	 Stock-based	compensation 35,874 29,038

	 	 Expiry	of	warrants 2,647 -

	 	 Exercise	of	stock	options	and	RSUs (918) (697)

	 	 Release	of	contingently	returnable	shares	 (2,566) (7,018)

	 Balance,	end	of	year $ 119,259 $ 84,222

RETAINED	EARNINGS	

	 Balance,	beginning	of	year $ 1,119,313 $ 976,998

	 	 Net	income	(loss) 260,234 142,315

Balance,	end	of	year $ 1,379,547 $ 1,119,313

TOTAL	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY $ 3,459,720 $ 3,153,894

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Year ended ($ Thousands) 
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

OPERATING	ACTIVITIES

	 Net	income	 $ 260,234 $ 142,315

	 Items	not	affecting	cash

	 	 Stock-based	compensation	(Note	16) 18,293 18,597

	 	 Non-cash	financing	and	interest 3,491 2,246

	 	 Depreciation	and	depletion 25,110 3,154

	 	 Deferred	income	tax	expense	(recovery) 32,542 14,634

	 	 Equity	loss	on	investments	(Note	6) 2,206 4,600

	 	 Loss	on	sale	of	assets	(Note	5) 742 -

	 	 Unrealized	Put	Option	gain	(Note	5) (374,582) (216,146)

	 	 Other	non-cash	expenses - 1,146

	 Reclamation	expenditures	(Note	11) (5,884) (125)

(37,848) (29,579)

	 Changes	in	non-cash	working	capital	(Note	22) (2,808) 14,043

(40,656) (15,536)

FINANCING	ACTIVITIES

	 	 Net	proceeds	from	long	term	debt	(Note	10) 528,520 24,148

	 	 Repayment	of	long	term	debt	(Note	10) (473,884) -

	 	 Proceeds	from	equity	instrument	issuances	(Note	15) 256 1,046

	 	 Proceeds	from	warrants	exercised	(Note	15) 9,462 4,181

	 	 Repurchase	of	common	shares	(Note	15) - (21,513)

64,354 7,862

INVESTING	ACTIVITIES

	 	 Proceeds	from	sale	of	investments	(Note	5) 681,689 -

	 	 Proceeds	from	disposal	of	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	(Note	8) 10,724 -

	 	 Additions	to	property,	plant	and	equipment	(Note	7) (595,793) (6,122) 

	 	 Additions	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	(Note	8) (484,673) (587,491) 

	 	 Additions	to	assets	held	for	sale	(Note	6) (11,355) (15,922)

	 	 Contributions	to	investments	(Note	6) (8,195) (12,414)

	 	 Decrease	(increase)	in	restricted	cash	(Note	4) 25,050 (25,050)

	 	 Decrease	in	short-term	investments	(Note	4) 262,654 534,587

	 	 Changes	in	non-cash	working	capital	(Note	22) 97,672 75,124

(22,227) (37,288)

NET	INCREASE	(DECREASE)	IN	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS 1,471 (44,962)

CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS,	BEGINNING	OF	YEAR 424,542 469,504

CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS,	END	OF	YEAR $ 426,013 $ 424,542

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS 

Athabasca	 Oil	 Corporation	 (“Athabasca”	 or	 the	 “Company”)	 is	 an	 exploration	 and	 production	 Company	 developing	 thermal	 and	 light	 oil	
resource	plays	in	the	Western	Canadian	Sedimentary	Basin	in	Alberta,	Canada.	Athabasca	was	incorporated	on	August	23,	2006	under	the	laws	
governing	the	Province	of	Alberta.	In	May	2012,	the	Company	changed	its	name	from	Athabasca	Oil	Sands	Corp.	to	Athabasca	Oil	Corporation.	
The	domicile	of	the	Company	is	2000,	250	–	6th	Avenue	SW,	Calgary,	Alberta.	The	Company	is	publicly	traded	on	the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange	
(“TSX”)	under	the	symbol	“ATH”.	The	consolidated	financial	statements	were	authorized	for	issue	by	the	Board	of	Directors	on	March	20,	2013.	

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

These	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	as	issued	
by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”).	These	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	a	historical	cost	
basis,	 except	 for	 financial	 instruments	 which	 are	 measured	 at	 their	 estimated	 fair	 value.	 The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	
prepared	using	the	same	accounting	policies	and	methods	as	the	consolidated	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011.	
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
These	consolidated	financial	statements	reflect	the	activities	of	the	Company	and	its	wholly	owned	subsidiaries.	Intercompany	transactions	and	
balances	are	eliminated	upon	consolidation.	The	Company	accounts	for	its	investments	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	as	equity	
investments	in	accordance	with	IAS	28	Investments in Associates.	Management	has	made	an	assessment	under	IAS	27	Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements,	IAS	31	Interest in Joint Ventures	and	SIC	12	Consolidated ‑ Special Purpose Entities	and	determined	that	Athabasca	does	not	
control	or	 jointly	control	 its	 interests	 in	 these	 joint	ventures	as	Athabasca	does	not	presently	have	exposure	 to	 the	majority	of	associated	
benefits	or	risks.	

The	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 joint	 ventures	 are	 investments	 in	 which	 the	 Company	 has	 significant	 influence	 and	 are	 accounted	 for	 as	
long-term	 investments	using	 the	equity	method	of	accounting	whereby	 the	carrying	value	of	 the	 investment	 is	 increased	or	decreased	 for	
the	 Company’s	 percentage	 of	 net	 income	 or	 loss,	 reduced	 by	 dividends	 paid	 to	 the	 Company,	 and	 increased	 or	 decreased	 to	 reflect	 the	
Company’s	share	of	capital	transactions.	As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	in	December	of	2011,	the	MacKay	River	
investment	was	presented	as	an	asset	held	for	sale	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet	as	at	December	31,	2011.	Refer	to	Note	5	and	Note	6	for		
additional	information.

JOINT VENTURES
Athabasca	undertakes	certain	business	activities	through	joint	ventures.	A	joint	venture	is	established	under	contractual	arrangement	whereby	
two	or	more	parties	undertake	an	economic	activity	that	is	subject	to	joint	control.	Joint	control	is	the	contractually	agreed	sharing	of	control	
over	an	economic	activity,	and	exists	only	when	the	strategic	financial	and	operating	decisions	relating	to	the	activity	require	the	unanimous	
consent	of	the	parties	sharing	control.	The	Grosmont	joint	venture	is	accounted	for	as	jointly	controlled	assets	whereby	Athabasca	recognizes	
its	proportionate	share	of	assets,	liabilities,	income	and	expenses	that	arise	from	the	joint	venture.	

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The	 preparation	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 requires	 management	 to	 make	 estimates	 and	 assumptions.	 These	 estimates	 and	
assumptions	affect	the	reported	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities,	the	disclosure	of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	date	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of	revenues	and	expenses	during	the	applicable	reporting	period.	These	estimates	relate	to	
unsettled	transactions	and	events	as	of	the	date	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	may	differ	from	actual	results	as	future	confirming	
events	occur.	Estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	are	reviewed	by	management	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	
recognized	prospectively	in	the	year	in	which	the	estimates	are	revised.	Changes	in	the	Company’s	accounting	estimates	and	judgments	could	
have	a	significant	impact	on	net	income.

The	carrying	value	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	related	to	reserve	amounts	used	for	impairment	and	depletion	calculations	which	are	
based	on	estimates	of	bitumen	and	oil	and	gas	 reserves	and	 resources,	 future	commodity	prices	and	 future	costs	 required	 to	develop	and	
produce	the	reserves	and	resources.	The	Company	expects	that	reserve	estimates	could	be	revised	either	upwards	or	downwards	based	on	
updated	information	from	drilling	and	operating	results.	Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	require	 judgment	as	to	whether	future	economic	
benefits	exist,	including	the	existence	of	proven	reserves	and	the	ability	to	finance	exploration	and	evaluation	projects,	where	technical	feasibility	
and	commercial	viability	has	not	yet	been	determined.	

The	fair	value	calculation	of	decommissioning	obligations	is	based	upon	numerous	assumptions	including	the	ultimate	settlement	amounts,	
inflation	factors,	credit-adjusted	discount	rates,	timing	of	settlement	and	changes	in	the	legal,	regulatory,	environmental	and	political	environments.

The	provision	for	 income	taxes	is	based	on	judgments	in	applying	income	tax	law	and	estimates	on	the	timing	and	likelihood	of	reversal	of	
temporary	differences	between	the	accounting	and	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities.	Athabasca	has	had	significant	taxable	events	in	the	past	
and	the	tax	authorities	have	not	concluded	on	Athabasca’s	tax	treatment	of	each	event.	The	provision	for	income	taxes	is	based	on	Athabasca’s	
interpretation	of	the	tax	legislation	and	regulations	which	is	also	subject	to	change.	Athabasca	recognizes	a	tax	provision	when	a	payment	to	
tax	authorities	is	considered	more	likely	than	not.	

Valuation	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	includes	estimates	for	the	expected	timing	and	probability	of	regulatory	approval	as	well	as	the	probability	
of	either	party	exercising	their	option.	Judgment	was	also	applied	in	determining	the	appropriate	discount	rate	to	be	used	in	the	valuation	and	
additional	costs	to	be	incurred	prior	to	completion.

Stock-based	compensation	includes	volatility,	option	life	and	forfeiture	rates	which	are	based	on	management’s	assumptions	and	estimates.
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Commitment	disclosures	relating	to	post-sanction	thermal	oil	projects	include	estimates	of	the	total	cost	of	the	long	term	projects	and	could	be	
revised	either	upwards	or	downwards	based	on	the	actual	results	of	operations.

All	of	these	estimates	are	subject	to	measurement	uncertainty	and	changes	in	these	estimates	could	materially	impact	the	financial	statements	
of	future	periods	and	have	a	significant	impact	on	net	income.	

SEGMENT REPORTING
The	Company’s	operating	segments	are	determined	based	on	differences	in	the	nature	of	their	operations,	products	sold,	economic	characteristics,	
regulatory	environments	and	management	responsibility.	Operating	segments	have	been	aggregated	based	on	similar	characteristics	as	follows:

•	 Thermal	oil	-	includes	the	Company’s	assets,	liabilities	and	operating	results	for	the	exploration,	development	and	production	of	bitumen	
from	sand	and	carbonate	rock	formations	located	in	the	Athabasca	region	of	Northern	Alberta

•	 Light	oil	-	includes	the	Company’s	assets,	liabilities	and	operating	results	for	the	exploration,	development	and	production	of	unconventional	
oil,	natural	gas	and	natural	gas	liquids	located	in	various	regions	in	the	province	of	Alberta

Segment	results,	assets	and	liabilities	include	items	directly	attributable	to	a	segment	and	those	items	that	can	be	allocated	on	a	reasonable	
basis.	Unallocated	items	are	comprised	mainly	of	corporate	assets,	head	office	expenses,	interest	revenues,	and	income	tax	assets	and	liabilities.	
There	were	no	changes	to	the	Company’s	operating	segments	during	the	year	other	than	the	renaming	of	the	Oil	Sands	Division	to	the	Thermal	
Oil	Division.	Segmented	information	is	presented	in	Note	9.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
All	financial	 instruments	are	 initially	 recognized	at	 fair	value	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet.	The	Company	has	classified	each	financial	
instrument	into	the	following	categories:	“held-for-trading”;	“loans	and	receivables”	and	“other	financial	liabilities.”	Subsequent	measurement	of	
the	financial	instruments	is	based	on	their	classification.	Unrealized	gains	and	losses	on	held-for-trading	financial	instruments	are	recognized	in	
income.	The	other	categories	of	financial	instruments	are	recognized	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	The	Company	
has	classified	its	financial	instruments	as	follows:

Financial Assets and Liabilities Classification

Cash,	cash	equivalents	and	restricted	cash Held-for-trading

Short-term	investments Held-for-trading

Dover	and	MacKay	River	Put/Call	Option Held-for-trading

Accounts	receivable Loans	and	receivables

Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities Other	financial	liabilities

Long-term	debt Other	financial	liabilities

Transaction	costs	for	all	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	expensed	as	incurred,	with	the	exception	of	long-term	debt.	Transaction	costs	related	
to	long-term	debt	are	included	in	the	initial	fair	value	and	the	instruments	are	carried	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	
The	fair	value	of	Athabasca’s	long-term	debt	is	derived	from	quoted	prices	provided	by	financial	institutions.

At	each	reporting	date,	the	Company	assesses	whether	there	are	any	indicators	that	its	financial	assets	are	impaired.	An	impairment	loss	is	only	
recognized	if	there	is	evidence	of	impairment	and	the	loss	event	has	an	impact	on	future	cash	flow	and	can	be	reliably	estimated.	

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH AND SHORT‑TERM INVESTMENTS
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	consist	of	cash	and	investments	in	money	market	instruments	with	an	initial	maturity	date	of	three	months	or	less.	
Restricted	cash	consists	of	cash	on	deposit	which	is	not	available	for	immediate	use.	Restricted	cash	is	presented	as	a	separate	asset	on	the	
balance	sheet	and	classified	as	current	unless	the	cash	is	restricted	from	being	exchanged	or	used	to	settle	a	liability	for	at	least	twelve	months	
after	the	reporting	period,	in	which	case,	it	will	be	presented	as	long-term.	Short-term	investments	consist	of	investments	in	money	market	
instruments	with	an	initial	maturity	date	of	more	than	three	months	but	a	maturity	date	of	less	than	twelve	months	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION (“E&E”) ASSETS
Costs	of	exploring	for	and	evaluating	oil	and	gas	activities,	including	lease	acquisition	costs,	exploratory	drilling	to	delineate	resource	formations,	
geological	and	geophysical	costs,	engineering,	licensing	and	regulatory	fees,	carrying	charges	on	non	productive	assets	and	employee	salaries	
and	stock	based	compensation	directly	related	to	exploration	and	evaluation	activities	are	initially	capitalized.	Exploration	and	evaluation	costs	
do	not	 include	general	prospecting	or	evaluation	costs	 incurred	prior	to	having	obtained	the	 legal	rights	to	explore	an	area,	these	costs	are	
expensed	directly	to	the	income	statement	as	they	are	incurred.
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Tangible	assets	acquired	and	utilized	to	develop	an	exploration	and	evaluation	asset	are	recorded	as	part	of	the	cost	of	the	E&E	asset.	When	a	
tangible	asset	is	disposed	of	in	the	exploration	and	evaluation	phase	the	proceeds	of	the	assets	sold	is	de-recognized	from	the	E&E	asset	pool	
with	no	gain	or	loss	recognized.

E&E	assets	are	carried	at	cost	until	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	extracting	a	mineral	resource	is	considered	to	be	determined.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	thermal	oil	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	reserves	are	determined	to	
exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approvals	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	regulatory	authorities.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	conventional	petroleum	and	natural	gas	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	
reserves	are	determined	to	exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approval	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	
Upon	technical	 feasibility	and	commercial	viability	being	established,	E&E	assets	are	first	 tested	 for	 impairment	and	 then	 reclassified	 from	
exploration	and	evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (“PP&E”)
Items	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	are	measured	using	historical	cost	less	any	accumulated	impairment	losses.	The	initial	cost	of	an	asset	
comprises	its	purchase	price,	any	cost	directly	attributable	to	bringing	the	asset	to	the	location	and	condition	necessary	for	its	intended	use	and	
an	initial	estimate	of	the	cost	of	dismantling	and	removing	the	item	and	restoring	the	site	on	which	it	is	located.	Included	in	PP&E	are	assets	
that	 have	 been	 transferred	 from	 exploration	 and	 evaluation	 upon	 the	 establishment	 of	 commercial	 viability	 and	 technical	 feasibility.	 Once	
Athabasca’s	projects	are	available	for	use	in	the	manner	intended	by	management,	they	will	be	depreciated	over	their	useful	life	or	depleted.	
The	net	carrying	value	of	the	related	PP&E	assets	are	depleted	by	using	the	unit	of	production	method	by	reference	to	the	ratio	of	production	in	
the	year	to	the	related	proved	plus	probable	reserves,	taking	into	account	estimated	future	development	costs	necessary	to	bring	those	reserves	
into	production.		

The	Company	 is	 in	the	early	stages	of	developing	 its	thermal	oil	assets	and	the	assets	are	not	yet	ready	for	use;	therefore,	no	depletion	or	
depreciation	has	been	recorded	with	respect	to	the	related	thermal	oil	capitalized	expenditures	to	date.	Light	oil	assets	that	are	ready	for	use	
in	the	manner	intended	by	management	have	had	depletion	recorded	against	their	related	capitalized	expenditures.	Depreciation	of	corporate	
assets	is	calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	over	the	estimated	useful	life	of	the	asset,	ranging	from	one	to	five	years.

IMPAIRMENT
Impairment	tests	are	performed	on	cash-generating	units	(“CGUs”)	which	are	determined	by	the	Company	to	be	at	the	project	level	for	thermal	
oil	assets	and	at	the	area	level	for	light	oil	assets	in	the	development	phase.	Light	oil	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	may	be	grouped	together	
when	assessing	impairment	indicators.	CGUs	are	not	larger	than	an	operating	segment.	

Exploration	 and	 evaluation	 assets	 and	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 tested	 for	 impairment	 at	 each	 reporting	 date	 when	 facts	 and	
circumstances	suggest	that	the	carrying	amount	exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	The	recoverable	amount	is	determined	as	the	greater	of	the	
CGU’s	value	in	use	(“VIU”)	and	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	(“FVLCTS”).	In	assessing	VIU,	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	
their	present	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	
the	asset.	FVLCTS	is	defined	as	the	amount	obtainable	from	the	sale	of	an	asset	or	CGU	in	an	arm’s	length	transaction	between	knowledgeable	
parties,	less	the	costs	to	dispose	of	the	CGU.	

The	 calculations	 identified	 above	 require	 the	 use	 of	 estimates	 and	 assumptions	 and	 are	 subject	 to	 changes	 as	 new	 information	 becomes	
available.	Factors	that	are	subject	to	change	include	information	on	future	commodity	prices,	expected	production	volumes,	quantity	of	reserves	
and	discount	rates	as	well	as	future	development	and	operating	costs.	Changes	in	assumptions	used	in	determining	the	recoverable	amount	
could	affect	the	carrying	value	of	the	related	E&E	and	PP&E	assets	and	CGU’s.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The	Company	engages	in	research	and	development	activities	to	develop	or	 improve	processes	and	techniques	to	extract	oil	 from	bitumen	
deposits.	 Athabasca	 also	 performs	 research	 over	 light	 oil	 extraction	 techniques	 such	 as	 horizontal	 drilling	 in	 shale	 oil	 and	 gas	 mineral	
formations.	Research	involves	planned	investigation	with	the	goal	of	attaining	new	knowledge	and	is	not	directly	related	to	specific	E&E	projects.	
Development	involves	translating	that	knowledge	into	a	new	technology	or	process.	Research	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred.	Development	
costs	are	capitalized	with	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	as	the	Company	assesses	commercial	viability	and	technical	feasibility.	These	costs	
are	capitalized	until	the	development	is	ready	for	use,	considered	to	be	the	commencement	of	commercial	operations	or	production.	Otherwise,	
development	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred.	Development	costs	include	directly	attributable	pre-operating	revenues	and	costs.
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CAPITALIZED BORROWING COSTS
The	proportion	of	borrowing	costs	that	relates	to	qualifying	assets	is	capitalized	per	IAS	23	Borrowing	Costs.	A	qualifying	asset	is	an	asset	that	
has	probable	future	economic	benefit	and	necessarily	takes	a	substantial	period	of	time	to	get	ready	for	its	intended	use.	Athabasca	capitalizes	
borrowing	costs	associated	with	its	sanctioned	Hangingstone	Project	1	assets.	Athabasca’s	thermal	oil	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	have	
not	yet	proven	commercial	viability	and	technical	feasibility	and	are,	therefore,	not	qualifying	assets.	Athabasca’s	light	oil	property,	plant	and	
equipment	assets	are	not	qualifying	assets	because	they	do	not	take	a	substantial	period	of	time	to	get	ready	for	their	intended	use.	

PROVISIONS AND DECOMMISSIONING OBLIGATIONS
A	provision	is	recognized	if,	as	a	result	of	a	past	event,	the	Company	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	that	can	be	estimated	reliably,	
and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	Provisions	are	determined	by	discounting	the	
expected	future	cash	flows	at	a	pre-tax	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	
liability.	The	Company’s	oil	and	gas	activities	give	rise	to	dismantling,	decommissioning	and	site	disturbance	remediation	activities.	Provisions	
are	made	for	the	estimated	cost	of	site	restoration	and	capitalized	to	the	corresponding	asset.	

Decommissioning	obligations	are	measured	at	the	present	value	of	management’s	best	estimate	of	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	
The	 present	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 risk-adjusted	 expenditure	 estimates	 and	 the	 Company’s	 credit-adjusted	 risk-free	 discount	 rate.	
Subsequent	to	initial	measurement,	the	obligation	is	adjusted	at	the	end	of	each	period	to	reflect	the	passage	of	time,	changes	in	the	estimated	
future	cash	flows	underlying	the	obligation	and	changes	in	discount	rates.	The	increase	in	the	obligation	due	to	the	passage	of	time	is	recognized	
as	a	finance	cost	whereas	changes	due	to	revisions	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	and	discount	rate	are	capitalized.	Actual	costs	incurred	
upon	settlement	of	the	obligations	are	charged	against	the	provision	to	the	extent	the	provision	was	established.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue	earned	from	the	sale	of	petroleum	and	natural	gas	products	is	recognized	when	title	passes	from	Athabasca	to	the	customer.	Royalty	
expenses	are	recognized	as	production	is	incurred.	Interest	income	is	recorded	as	cash	equivalents	and	short-term	investments	mature.	For	
outstanding	investments	that	mature	in	future	periods,	revenue	is	accrued	up	to	and	including	the	final	day	of	the	applicable	reporting	period	
based	on	the	terms	and	conditions	of	the	individual	instruments.	Incidental	revenues	are	recognized	in	net	income	as	incurred.

INCOME TAXES
Income	tax	is	comprised	of	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	expense	is	recognized	in	the	statement	of	income	and	comprehensive	income	
except	to	the	extent	that	it	relates	to	items	recognized	directly	in	equity,	in	which	case	it	is	recognized	in	equity.	Current	tax	is	the	expected	tax	
payable	(receivable)	on	the	taxable	income	(loss)	for	the	period,	using	tax	rates	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	reporting	date,	and	any	
adjustment	to	tax	payable	in	respect	of	previous	years.	

Deferred	tax	is	recognized	using	the	balance	sheet	method,	providing	for	temporary	differences	between	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	
liabilities	for	financial	reporting	purposes	and	the	amounts	used	for	taxation	purposes.	Deferred	tax	is	not	recognized	on	the	initial	recognition	
of	assets	or	liabilities	in	a	transaction	that	is	not	a	business	combination	and	does	not	affect	profit.	Deferred	tax	is	measured	at	the	tax	rates	that	
are	expected	to	be	applied	to	temporary	differences	when	they	reverse,	based	on	the	laws	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	
the	reporting	date.	

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	if	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset,	and	they	relate	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	
tax	authority	on	the	same	taxable	entity,	or	on	different	tax	entities,	but	the	Company	intends	to	settle	current	tax	liabilities	and	assets	on	a	net	
basis	or	the	tax	assets	and	liabilities	will	be	realized	simultaneously.	A	deferred	tax	asset	is	recognized	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	
taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	temporary	difference	can	be	utilized.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	
and	are	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	is	no	longer	probable	that	the	related	tax	benefit	will	be	realized.	Athabasca	also	recognizes	deferred	tax	
liabilities	on	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries	unless	the	Company	is	able	to	control	the	timing	of	the	reversal	
of	the	temporary	differences	and	it	is	probable	that	they	will	not	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.	

STOCK‑BASED COMPENSATION
The	Company’s	stock-based	compensation	plans	for	employees,	directors,	and	consultants	consist	of	stock	options	and	restricted	share	units.	
Athabasca	also	has	issued	and	outstanding	incentive	shares	granted	under	legacy	plans	which	are	held	in	trust	until	certain	length	of	service	
requirements	are	met.	At	the	grant	date	the	Company	uses	the	fair	value	method	to	account	for	securities	issued	as	part	of	its	stock-based	
compensation	plans.	The	fair	value	is	recorded	as	stock-based	compensation	over	the	vesting	period	with	a	corresponding	amount	reflected	in	
contributed	surplus.	When	stock	options	are	exercised,	the	cash	proceeds	along	with	the	amount	previously	recorded	as	contributed	surplus	
are	recorded	as	share	capital.

The	 stock-based	 compensation	 fair	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 an	 estimated	 forfeiture	 rate.	 Compensation	 ultimately	 recognized	 is	 revised	
in	 subsequent	 periods	 to	 reflect	 the	 final	 grant	 amounts.	 For	 employees	 and	 consultants	 who	 are	 working	 on	 specific	 capital	 projects,	 the	
stock-based	compensation	is	allocated	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	or	property,	plant	and	equipment.	For	the	remainder	of	employees,	
the	compensation	is	expensed.
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PER SHARE AMOUNTS
Basic	 income	 per	 share	 is	 calculated	 by	 dividing	 net	 income	 by	 the	 weighted	 average	 number	 of	 common	 shares	 outstanding	 during	 the	
period.	Diluted	income	per	share	reflects	the	potential	dilution	that	would	occur	if	dilutive	securities	were	exercised	or	released	from	trust.	To	
determine	the	dilutive	effect	of	 its	dilutive	 instruments,	the	Company	assumes	that	proceeds	received	from	the	exercise	of	“in-the-money”	
equity	instruments	are	used	to	repurchase	common	shares.	In	any	period	in	which	there	is	a	loss,	per	share	amounts	are	calculated	excluding	
potentially	dilutive	securities.	Shares	held	in	trust	and	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company	have	been	excluded	from	basic	income	per	share	
and	included	as	dilutive	securities.

LEASES
The	determination	of	whether	an	arrangement	is,	or	contains	a	lease	is	based	on	the	substance	of	the	arrangement	at	the	inception	date	of	the	
contract.	Leases	which	transfer	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	to	Athabasca	are	classified	as	finance	leases.	Finance	leases	
are	recognized	at	the	lower	of	the	fair	value	of	the	leased	property	or	the	present	value	of	the	minimum	lease	payments	and	are	depreciated	
over	the	shorter	of	the	estimated	useful	life	of	the	asset	and	the	lease	term.	Other	leases	are	classified	as	operating	leases	and	payments	are	
recognized	as	an	expense	in	the	period	incurred.	Lease	inducement	costs	are	initially	capitalized	and	amortized	to	net	income	over	the	lease	
term.	As	at	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	does	not	have	any	finance	leases.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
For	post-sanctioned	thermal	oil	projects,	Athabasca	discloses	the	total	sanctioned	value	of	the	project	yet	to	be	incurred	at	the	reporting	date.	
For	 contractual	 arrangements	 relating	 to	 pre-sanctioned	 thermal	 oil	 projects,	 light	 oil	 and	 other	 projects,	 Athabasca	 discloses	 its	 financial	
commitments,	 yet	 to	 be	 incurred,	 based	 on	 the	 minimum	 contractual	 costs	 at	 the	 reporting	 date.	 Contingent	 asset	 and	 liabilities	 are	 not	
recognized	 in	 the	financial	statements.	Disclosure	of	contingent	 liabilities	 is	provided	only	when	the	possibility	of	an	outflow	of	a	 resource	
embodying	economic	benefits	is	other	than	remote.	Contingent	assets	are	disclosed	if	a	future	economic	benefit	is	probable.	

Contingent	asset	and	 liabilities	are	not	recognized	 in	the	financial	statements.	Disclosure	of	contingent	 liabilities	 is	provided	only	when	the	
possibility	of	an	outflow	of	a	resource	embodying	economic	benefits	is	other	than	remote.	Contingent	assets	are	disclosed	if	a	future	economic	
benefit	is	probable.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In	November	2009,	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”)	issued	IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments.	The	standard	was	expanded	in	
October	2010.	The	new	standard	is	the	first	phase	of	three	to	replace	IAS	39	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement.	This	standard	
replaces	the	current	approach	to	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	and	uses	a	model	of	only	two	classification	
categories:	fair	value	or	amortized	cost.	The	standard	also	clarifies	the	use	of	a	single	impairment	method	when	evaluating	financial	instruments.	
The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	Athabasca	will	
be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	9	on	January	1,	2015.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	IFRS	10	creates	a	standard	definition	of	control	focusing	on	power	to	
direct	activities	and	variable	returns.	This	new	control	definition	replaces	those	found	in	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements	
and	SIC	 12	Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities.	Athabasca	will	be	 required	 to	adopt	 IFRS	 10	on	 January	 1,	2013.	The	adoption	of	 this	
standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements.	The	standard	classifies	joint	arrangements	as	either	joint	operations	or	joint	ventures,	
based	on	the	rights	and	obligations	of	the	participants.	Equity	accounting	is	required	for	joint	ventures	while	for	joint	operations	each	participant	
recognizes	their	share	of	rights	and	obligations.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	11	on	January	1,	2013.	The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	
not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	12	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities	which	requires	the	disclosure	of	information	that	enables	users	
of	financial	statements	to	evaluate	the	nature	of,	and	risks	associated	with	its	interests	in	other	entities	and	the	effects	of	those	interests	on	
a	Company’s	financial	position,	financial	performance	and	cash	flows.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	 IFRS	12	on	January	1,	2013.	The	
adoption	of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	 impact	on	the	Company	other	than	additional	disclosures	to	the	Company’s	
consolidated	financial	statements.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement	which	provides	guidance	on	the	measurement	of	fair	value	and	related	disclosures.	
The	standard	aims	to	improve	consistency	and	reduce	complexity	by	providing	a	precise	definition	of	fair	value	and	a	single	source	of	fair	value	
measurement	and	disclosure	requirements	for	use	across	IFRSs.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	13	on	January	1,	2013.	The	adoption	
of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH AND SHORT‑TERM INVESTMENTS

Term  
(Days)

Interest  
 Rates (%) Amount

AS	AT	DECEMBER	31,	2012

	 Cash - 0.50 - 1.50 $ 378,347

	 Cash	equivalents 60 - 62 1.61 47,666

426,013

	 Short-term	investments 92 - 365 1.50 - 1.71 536,787

Total $ 962,800

AS	AT	DECEMBER	31,	2011

	 Cash - 0.50 - 1.24 $ 144,879

	 Cash	equivalents 89 - 90 1.41 - 1.46 279,663

424,542

	 Restricted	cash 365 1.24 25,050

	 Short-term	investments 91 - 365 1.29 - 1.63 799,441

Total $ 1,249,033

As	at	December	31,	2011,	$25.1	million	was	held	in	a	restricted	interest	bearing	cash	collateral	account	which	was	used	to	secure	access	to	a	
revolving	senior	secured	demand	credit	facility.	The	restricted	cash	was	classified	as	current	due	to	the	demand	nature	of	the	facility	and	the	
fact	that	all	letters	of	credit	issued	under	the	facility	expired	within	one	year.	The	demand	credit	facility	was	closed	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012	
(Note	10).	

5. SALE OF ASSETS TO PETROCHINA 

INITIAL SALE OF ASSETS TO PETROCHINA
On	February	10,	2010,	the	Company	entered	into	a	series	of	agreements	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements”)	pursuant	to	which,	among	
other	things,	for	$1.90	billion	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	of	PetroChina	International	Investment	Company	Limited	(Phoenix	Energy	Holdings	
Limited	[successor	by	amalgamation	of	Cretaceous	Oilsands	Holdings	Limited]	(“Phoenix”))	acquired	100%	of	the	shares	of	a	corporation	
which	held	a	60%	working	interest	in	the	Company’s	MacKay	River	and	Dover	oil	sands	projects	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction”).	The	PetroChina	
Transaction	also	included	three	loan	agreements	outlined	in	Note	10	and	Put/Call	Options	over	the	Company’s	remaining	40%	working	interest	
in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	as	outlined	below	and	in	Note	13(c).	

EXERCISE OF THE MACKAY RIVER PUT OPTION
In	 2011,	 the	 first	 phase	 of	 the	 MacKay	 River	 oil	 sands	 project	 received	 regulatory	 approval.	 In	 accordance	 with	 the	 terms	 of	 the	 Put/Call	
Options	Agreement,	the	regulatory	approval	triggered	Athabasca’s	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option,	to	require	Phoenix	to	purchase	
Athabasca’s	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project.	At	the	same	time,	Phoenix	was	also	granted	the	right,	exercisable	at	its	option,	
to	require	Athabasca	to	sell	its	remaining	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project.	In	December	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	its	Put	
Option	to	divest	its	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	to	Phoenix	for	gross	proceeds	of	$680	million.	
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Athabasca’s	assets	held	for	sale	consisted	of	the	following	components	as	at	December	31,	2011:

Investment in MacKay River
Assets held  

for sale

Investment	in	MacKay	River	(Note	6) $ 455,457

Fair	value	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	 216,146

Other	 290

ASSETS	HELD	FOR	SALE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011 $ 671,893

The	fair	value	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	was	determined	to	be	the	residual	value	of	the	gross	proceeds	from	the	exercised	Put	Option,	
the	carrying	value	of	the	MacKay	River	investment	and	estimated	working	capital	adjustments,	discounted	for	the	duration	to	the	expected	
transaction	close	date.	The	valuation	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	resulted	in	a	gain	of	$216.1	million	recognized	in	net	income	in	2011.	

SALE OF MACKAY RIVER ASSET TO PETROCHINA
Pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	in	December	of	2011,	Athabasca	closed	the	sale	of	its	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	
River	oil	sands	project	to	Phoenix	on	March	15,	2012.	In	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	Put/Call	Option	Agreement,	Athabasca	was	required	
to	repay	PetroChina	loans	#1	and	#2	(Note	10)	from	the	proceeds	of	sale	at	the	transaction	close	date.	Athabasca	received	net	proceeds	of	
$202.1	million.

Sale of 40% interest in MacKay River
Net  

proceeds

Gross	proceeds	from	sale	of	assets $ 680,000

	 Repayment	of	PetroChina	loans	#1	and	#2	(Note	10) (473,884)

	 Interest	expense	on	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2	 (5,700)

	 Other	net	working	capital	adjustments 1,689

NET	PROCEEDS	ON	SALE	OF	ASSETS $ 202,105

For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	recognized	a	loss	of	$0.7	million	relating	to	final	working	capital	changes	in	the	MacKay	River	
joint	venture	between	the	exercise	date	and	the	transaction	close	date.

VALUATION OF THE DOVER PUT OPTION
In	2012,	Athabasca	was	required	to	measure	the	Dover	Put	Option	given	greater	clarity	around	regulatory	approval	and	potential	exercise	of	
the	option.	The	fair	value	was	determined	to	be	the	residual	of	the	gross	proceeds	from	the	exercised	Put	Option	and	the	anticipated	carrying	
value	of	the	Dover	investment	at	the	time	of	exercise,	discounted	for	the	duration	to	the	expected	transaction	close	date,	using	a	risk	free	rate	
given	PetroChina’s	investment	grade	credit	rating.	The	fair	value	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	was	adjusted	for	the	estimated	probability	of	exercise	
and	receipt	of	regulatory	approval.	The	valuation	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	resulted	in	a	gain	of	$374.6	million	recognized	in	net	income	in	2012.		
The	investment	in	Dover	has	not	been	classified	to	an	asset	held	for	sale	as	the	Company	has	not	committed	to	exercising	the	Put	Option.
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6. INVESTMENTS 

The	Company	has	a	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	joint	venture	(“Dover”)	through	its	100%	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	AOC	(Dover)	Energy	Inc.	
(“AOC	(Dover)”).	On	March	15,	2012,	Athabasca	sold	its	remaining	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project,	which	was	previously	
held	through	its	100%	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	AOSC	(MacKay)	Energy	Inc.	(Note	5).

Equity Method Investment Continuity MacKay River Dover Total

TOTAL	INVESTMENTS,	DECEMBER	31,	2010 $ 441,412 $ 853,770 $ 1,295,182

	 Contributions 15,922 12,414 28,336

	 Stock-based	compensation	 1,675 558 2,233

	 Share	of	net	loss	on	investments (3,552) (1,048) (4,600)

TOTAL	INVESTMENTS,	DECEMBER	31,	2011 $ 455,457 $ 865,694 $ 1,321,151

Presented	as:

	 Assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5) $ 455,457 $ - $ 455,457

	 Investments $ - $ 865,694 $ 865,694

	 Contributions $ 11,355 $ 8,195 $ 19,550

	 Stock-based	compensation	 - 1,348 1,348

	 Share	of	net	loss	on	investments (817) (1,389) (2,206)

	 Sale	of	MacKay	River	to	Phoenix	(Note	5) (465,995) - (465,995)

TOTAL	INVESTMENT,	DECEMBER	31,	2012 $ - $ 873,848 $ 873,848

Equity	investments	are	initially	recorded	at	fair	value.	The	carrying	cost	of	the	investment	is	then	subsequently	increased	for	the	Company’s	
contributions	to	the	investments	and	decreased	for	its	share	of	the	net	losses	in	the	investments.	At	December	31,	2012,	AOC	(Dover)	had	
$136.9	million	(2011	-	$129.6	million)	in	total	assets	and	$27.0	million	(2011	-	$27.9	million)	in	total	liabilities.	

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2010	 $ 1,382

	 PP&E	expenditures 6,122

	 Transfers	from	exploration	and	evaluation	assets,	net	of	accumulated	depletion	(Note	8) 341,973

	 Depletion	and	depreciation (1,506)

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011 $ 347,971

	 PP&E	expenditures 595,793

	 Non-cash	capitalized	costs(1) 7,002

	 Transfers	from	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	(Note	8) 184,195

	 Depletion	and	depreciation (25,110)

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2012 $ 1,109,851

(1)	 Non-cash	PP&E	expenditures	includes	capitalized	stock	based	compensation,	decommissioning	obligation	assets	and	capitalized	interest	and	financing.	

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	Athabasca	received	regulatory	and	Board	of	Director	approval	 for	the	development	of	 the	first	Hangingstone	
thermal	oil	project	resulting	in	the	transfer	of	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.	In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	
Athabasca	received	Board	of	Directors	approval	for	the	development	phase	of	the	Light	Oil	Fox	Creek	area	resulting	in	the	transfer	of	exploration	
and	evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.	
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Property,	plant	&	equipment	consist	of	the	following:

Net book value (As at)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Property,	plant	and	equipment,	cost $ 1,139,677 $ 352,687

Accumulated	depletion	and	depreciation (29,826) (4,716)

TOTAL	EXPLORATION	AND	EVALUATION	ASSETS $ 1,109,851 $ 347,971

As	at	December	31,	2012,	$588.0	million	(December	31,	2011	-	$267.0	million)	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	was	not	subject	to	depletion	
or	depreciation	as	it	relates	to	oil	and	gas	assets	that	are	not	ready	for	use	in	the	manner	intended	by	management.

8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2010	 $ 521,238

	 E&E	expenditures 587,491

	 Non-cash	capitalized	costs(1) 21,818

	 Depletion (1,648)

	 Transfers	to	property,	plant	and	equipment,	net	of	accumulated	depletion	(Note	7) (341,973)

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011 $ 786,926

	 E&E	expenditures 484,673

	 Non-cash	capitalized	costs(1) 18,627

	 Transfers	to	property,	plant	and	equipment	(Note	7) (184,195)

	 Disposals	 (10,724)

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2012 $ 1,095,307

(1)	 Non-cash	E&E	expenditures	include	capitalized	stock-based	compensation	and	decommissioning	obligation	assets.

In	the	third	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	closed	an	asset	acquisition	for	$53.6	million	in	cash	to	acquire	oil	sands	rights	in	the	Hangingstone	area.	
As	part	of	the	acquisition,	Athabasca	acquired	$0.7	million	in	decommissioning	obligations.	In	2012,	Athabasca	closed	asset	acquisitions	for	
$135.4	million	in	cash	to	acquire	oil	sands	rights	in	the	Dover	West	area.	All	asset	acquisitions	have	been	included	in	E&E	expenditures.	

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	Athabasca	disposed	of	assets	in	the	Liege	and	Fox	Creek	areas	totaling	$10.7	million.	As	a	result	of	the	disposal	of	
assets,	Athabasca	disposed	of	$2.1	million	in	related	decommissioning	obligations	(Note	11).		

Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	consist	of	the	following:

Net book value (As at)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Exploration	and	evaluation	assets,	cost $ 1,095,307 $ 786,926

TOTAL	EXPLORATION	AND	EVALUATION	ASSETS $ 1,095,307 $ 786,926
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9. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

SEGMENTED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Athabasca’s	total	capital	expenditures	by	segment	are	as	follows:

Capital expenditures (Year ended)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

THERMAL	OIL

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment $ 9,521 $ -

	 Exploration	and	evaluation	 450,497 235,874

	 Investments	 8,195 12,414

	 Assets	held	for	sale 11,355 15,922

479,568 264,210

LIGHT	OIL

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment 577,161 -

	 Exploration	and	evaluation 34,176 351,617

611,337 351,617

CORPORATE

	 Corporate	assets	and	other 9,111 6,122

TOTAL	CAPITAL	SPENDING(1) $ 1,100,016 $ 621,949

(1)	 Excludes	non-cash	capitalized	costs	consisting	of	capitalized	stock	based	compensation	and	decommissioning	obligation	assets.	

SEGMENTED ASSETS
Athabasca’s	total	assets	by	segment	are	as	follows:

Net book value (As at)
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

THERMAL	OIL

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment $ 194,161 $ -

	 Exploration	and	evaluation 966,199 690,946

	 Investments 873,848 865,694

	 Dover	Put	Option 374,582 -

	 Assets	held	for	sale - 671,893

2,408,790 2,228,533

LIGHT	OIL

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment 905,985 341,881

	 Exploration	and	evaluation 129,108 95,980

1,035,093 437,861

CORPORATE

	 Current	assets,	excluding	assets	held	for	sale	and	the	Dover	Put	Option 1,005,047 1,272,302

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	and	other 9,705 6,090

1,014,752 1,278,392

TOTAL	ASSETS $ 4,458,635 $ 3,944,786
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SEGMENTED OPERATING RESULTS
Athabasca’s	operating	results	by	segment	are	as	follows:

Thermal Oil Light Oil Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

SEGMENT	REVENUES

	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales $ - $ - $ 25,797 $ 4,070 $ 25,797 $ 4,070

	 Royalties - - (1,242) (595) (1,242) (595)

- - 24,555 3,475 24,555 3,475

SEGMENT	EXPENSES	&	OTHER

	 Operating	expenses	and	transportation	 - - 10,124 1,541 10,124 1,541

	 Depreciation	and	depletion	 - - 19,614 1,648 19,614 1,648

	 Equity	loss	on	investments	(Note	6) 2,206 4,600 - - 2,206 4,600

	 Loss	on	sale	of	assets	(Note	5) 742 - - - 742 -

	 Unrealized	Put	Option	gain	(Note	5) (374,582) (216,146) - - (374,582) (216,146)

(371,634) (211,546) 29,738 3,189 (341,896) (208,357)

Segment	income	(loss) $371,634 $ 211,546 $ (5,183) $ 286 366,451 $ 211,832

CORPORATE

	 Net	interest	expense (916) (6,547)

	 General	and	administrative	 (50,318) (28,233)

	 Stock-based	compensation (18,293) (18,597)

	 Depreciation	 (5,496) (1,506)

	 	Current	and	deferred	income	tax	expense (31,194) (14,634)

Net	income	and	comprehensive	income $ 260,234 $ 142,315

10. LONG‑TERM DEBT 

As at
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#1	(a) $ - $ 430,000

Long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#2	(a) - 43,884

Senior	secured	second	lien	notes	(b) 550,000 -

Debt	issuance	costs	(b) (21,480) -

Amortization	of	debt	issuance	costs	 491 -

$ 529,011 $ 473,884

	 Less:	Current	portion	of	long-term	debt - (473,884)

TOTAL	LONG-TERM	DEBT $ 529,011 $ -
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a) LONG‑TERM NON‑REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENTS #1 AND #2 (PETROCHINA LOANS #1 AND #2)
During	 the	first	quarter	of	2010,	Athabasca	entered	 into	a	 long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	of	$430.0	million	 (“PetroChina	Loan	
#1”).	Athabasca	also	entered	a	second	 long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	of	up	to	$100.0	million	(“PetroChina	Loan	#2”)	of	which	
$43.9	million	had	been	drawn	as	at	December	31,	2011.	Interest	on	the	credit	agreements	was	equal	to	LIBOR	plus	450	basis	points	and	was	
paid	semi-annually.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca’s	effective	interest	rate	on	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2	was	5.8%.	In	
accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	credit	agreements,	the	loans	matured	upon	exercise	by	Athabasca	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	and	were	
repaid	from	the	net	proceeds	of	the	sale,	which	closed	on	March	15,	2012	(Note	5).	

b)  SENIOR SECURED SECOND LIEN NOTES 
On	November	19,	2012,	Athabasca	issued	Senior	Secured	Second	Lien	Notes	(the	“Notes”)	in	an	aggregate	principal	amount	of	$550	million.	
The	Notes	bear	interest	at	a	rate	of	7.50%	per	annum	and	have	a	term	of	five	years	maturing	on	November	19,	2017.	Interest	payments	will	be	
made	semi-annually	on	May	19	and	November	19	of	each	year,	commencing	on	May	19,	2013.	The	Notes	are	collateralized	by	all	assets	of	the	
Company	except	for	the	Dover	Investment	and	the	Company’s	rights	under	the	Dover	Put/Call	Agreement.	Should	the	Dover	Put/Call	Options	
be	exercised,	and	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	has	been	completed,	the	net	proceeds	from	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	would	also	be	
held	as	collateral.	

Athabasca	has	the	option	to	redeem	the	Notes	at	any	time	prior	to	November	19,	2014	at	a	price	of	107.50%	plus	the	present	value	of	interest	
from	the	date	of	redemption	to	November	19,	2014.	Beyond	that	date,	Athabasca	will	have	the	option	to	redeem	the	Notes	at	a	price	of	107.50%,	
103.75%	and	100.00%	in	the	12-month	periods	ending	November	19,	2015,	2016	and	2017,	respectively.	Debt	issuance	costs	associated	with	
the	transaction	were	initially	capitalized	and	are	amortized	to	net	income	over	five	years	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

c) REVOLVING SENIOR SECURED CREDIT FACILITIES
In	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2011,	 Athabasca	 entered	 into	 a	 revolving	 senior	 secured	 demand	 credit	 facility	 (the	 “Demand	 Facility”)	 for	 up	 to	
$25.0	million	which	could	be	used	to	fund	short-term	working	capital	activities	or	issue	letters	of	credit.	The	Demand	Facility	was	secured	with	
$25.0	million	in	cash	deposited	in	a	restricted	interest	bearing	cash	collateral	account	(Note	4).	All	borrowings	against	the	Demand	Facility	bore	
interest,	paid	monthly,	at	the	prime	rate.	

On	November	30,	2012,	the	Demand	Facility	was	replaced	with	a	$200	million	revolving	senior	secured	first	 lien	credit	facility	(the	“Credit	
Facility”).	Amounts	borrowed	under	the	Credit	Facility	bear	interest	at	a	floating	rate	based	on	the	applicable	Canadian	prime	rate,	US	base	rate,	
LIBOR	rate	or	bankers’	acceptance	rate,	between	1.00%	and	4.50%	depending	on	the	type	of	borrowing	and	the	Corporations’	debt	to	EBITDA	
ratio,	as	defined	in	the	credit	agreement	for	the	Credit	Facility.	All	borrowings	are	subject	to	a	quarterly	debt	to	EBITDA	ratio	and	tangible	net	
worth	covenants.	In	2013,	the	amount	drawn	on	the	Demand	Facility	 is	 limited	to	three	times	EBITDA.	The	Dover	Put	Option	must	also	be	
exercised	if	the	Demand	Facility	 is	drawn	upon.	Amounts	drawn	under	the	Demand	Facility	are	collateralized	by	all	assets	of	the	Company	
except	for	the	Dover	Investment.	Should	the	Demand	Facility	be	drawn	upon	and	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	has	been	completed,	the	net	
proceeds	from	the	sale	of	the	Dover	Investment	would	also	be	held	as	collateral.	

Under	the	terms	of	the	Credit	Facility,	the	restricted	interest	bearing	cash	collateral	account	was	no	longer	required	and	closed.	All	existing	
letters	of	credit	under	the	previous	Demand	Facility	are	now	backed	by	the	Credit	Facility.	Facility	setup	costs	were	initially	capitalized	to	prepaid	
expenses	and	are	amortized	to	net	income	over	one	year	using	the	straight	line	method.	At	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	had	$2.6	million	in	
issued	letters	of	credit	secured	by	the	Credit	Facility	(December	31,	2011	-	$4.1	million).	Other	than	the	issued	letters	of	credit,	there	were	no	
borrowings	drawn	against	either	facility	in	2012	or	2011.
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11. DECOMMISSIONING OBLIGATIONS

The	total	future	costs	to	reclaim	oil	and	gas	assets	are	estimated	by	management	based	on	the	Company’s	ownership	interest	in	wells	and	
facilities,	estimated	costs	to	reclaim	and	abandon	the	wells	and	facilities,	and	the	estimated	timing	of	the	costs	to	be	incurred	in	future	periods.	
The	following	table	reconciles	the	change	in	decommissioning	obligations:	

Year ended
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

DECOMMISSIONING	OBLIGATIONS,	BEGINNING	OF	YEAR $ 41,518 $ 24,361

	 Liabilities	incurred 3,988 3,016

	 Liabilities	acquired - 1,096

	 Liabilities	settled (5,884) (125)

	 Liabilities	disposed (2,147) -

	 Change	in	discount	rate (6,346) 4,832

	 Change	in	estimate 13,874 6,102

	 Accretion	expense 3,027 2,236

DECOMMISSIONING	OBLIGATIONS,	END	OF	YEAR $ 48,030 $ 41,518

Presented	as:	

	 Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities $ 1,387 $ 5,990

	 Decommissioning	obligations 46,643 35,528

The	Company	has	calculated	the	net	present	value	of	its	decommissioning	obligations	using	an	inflation	rate	of	2%	(December	31,	2011	-	2%)	
and	a	credit-adjusted	risk	free	discount	rate	of	7.50%	per	annum	(December	31,	2011	-	6.50%).	The	payments	to	settle	these	obligations	are	
expected	to	occur	during	a	period	of	up	to	50	years	due	to	the	long	term	nature	of	the	infrastructure	added	in	2012.	The	total	undiscounted	
amount	of	estimated	cash	flows	required	to	settle	the	obligations	as	at	December	31,	2012	is	$142.6	million	(December	31,	2011	–	$95.2	million).	

A	1%	increase	in	the	credit-adjusted	risk	free	discount	rate	would	decrease	the	provision	by	$5.8	million,	with	a	corresponding	adjustment	to	
E&E	and	PP&E.	A	1%	decrease	in	the	credit-adjusted	risk	free	discount	rate	would	increase	the	provision	by	$6.7	million,	with	a	corresponding	
adjustment	to	E&E	and	PP&E.

12. INCOME TAXES

Athabasca’s	deferred	income	tax	position	consists	of	the	following:

As at
December 31,  

2012
December	31,		

2011

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	ASSETS

	 Non-capital	losses $ 60,251 $ 75,458

	 Share	issuance	costs 9,988 14,657

	 Other 1,356 2,510

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITIES

	 Capital	assets	in	excess	of	tax	values (114,207) (69,237)

	 Investments	in	excess	of	tax	values (151,032) (104,219)

	 Outside	tax	basis	on	assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5) - (80,271)

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITY $ (193,644) $ (161,102)
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The	changes	in	the	deferred	tax	balances	are	as	follows:	

Year ended
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	ASSETS

	 Balance,	beginning	of	year $ 92,625 $ 51,160

	 Deferred	tax	assets	recognized	through	net	income (21,030) 41,465

Balance,	end	of	year 71,595 92,625

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITIES

	 Balance,	beginning	of	year (253,727) (195,623)

	 Deferred	tax	liabilities	recognized	through	net	income (11,512) (56,099)

	 Flow	through	share	renouncement	 - (2,005)

Balance,	end	of	year (265,239) (253,727)

NET	DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITY $ (193,644) $ (161,102)

The	following	table	reconciles	expected	income	tax	expense	calculated	at	the	Canadian	statutory	rate	of	25%	(2011	–	26.5%)	to	actual	income	
tax	expense:

Year ended
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

INCOME	(LOSS)	BEFORE	INCOME	TAXES $ 293,634 $ 161,549

EXPECTED	INCOME	TAX	EXPENSE	

	 Income	tax	expense	at	statutory	rate 73,410 42,811

ADJUSTMENTS	RELATED	TO	THE	FOLLOWING:

	 Non-taxable	portion	of	unrealized	Put	Option	gain	 (46,823) (28,639)

	 Effects	of	tax	rate	changes	and	timing	of	use	 - (4,278)

	 Stock-based	compensation 4,573 4,928

	 Other 34 (188) 

INCOME	TAX	EXPENSE	 $ 31,194 $ 14,634

Consisting	of:	

	 Current	income	tax	recovery $ (1,348) $ -

	 Deferred	income	tax	(recovery)	expense $ 32,542 14,634

As	at	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	had	approximately	$1.95	billion	of	consolidated	tax	pools	available	for	deduction	against	future	taxable	
income,	including	$426.9	million	in	non-capital	losses	which	mostly	expire	after	2025.
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The	Company’s	consolidated	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	comprised	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash,	short-term	investments,	
accounts	receivable,	Dover	Put/Call	Options,	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	and	long-term	debt.

a) FAIR VALUE 
The	carrying	values	of	Athabasca’s	financial	instruments,	other	than	the	long-term	debt,	approximate	their	fair	value	due	to	their	short	term	
nature.	As	at	December	31,	2012,	no	financial	assets	or	liabilities	were	measured	at	fair	value	aside	from	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	short-term	
investments	and	 the	Dover	Put	Option.	The	Company	classifies	 its	financial	 instruments	measured	at	 fair	value	according	 to	 the	 following	
hierarchy	based	on	the	amount	of	observable	inputs	used	to	value	the	instrument.	Assessment	of	the	significance	of	a	particular	input	to	the	fair	
value	measurement	requires	judgment	and	may	affect	the	placement	level	within	the	fair	value	hierarchy.		

•	Level	1	–	Unadjusted	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;

•	Level	2	–	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability	either	directly	or	indirectly;	and

•	Level	3	–	Inputs	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data.

The	Company’s	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments	and	restricted	cash	have	been	assessed	on	the	fair	value	hierarchy	described	
above	and	have	been	classified	as	Level	1.	At	December	31,	2012,	the	fair	value	of	Athabasca’s	long	term	Notes	was	$552.8	million	based	on	
observable	Level	2	inputs	which	were	quoted	prices	from	financial	institutions.

The	fair	value	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	has	been	classified	as	Level	3.	The	fair	value	was	determined	to	be	the	residual	of	the	fixed	exercise	price	
and	the	anticipated	carrying	value	of	the	Dover	 investment	at	the	time	of	exercise,	discounted	for	the	duration	to	the	expected	transaction	
close	date	using	a	risk	 free	rate	given	PetroChina’s	 investment	grade	credit	 rating.	The	fair	value	of	 the	Dover	Put	Option	was	adjusted	for	
the	estimated	probability	of	exercise	and	receipt	of	regulatory	approval.	Athabasca	assessed	the	probability	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	exercise	
and	receipt	of	regulatory	approval	as	both	being	greater	than	90%.	For	every	5%	increase	(decrease)	in	either	probability,	the	fair	value	of	the		
Put	Option	increases	(decreases)	by	approximately	$20.0	million.

b) RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
CREDIT RISK 
The	 maximum	 exposure	 to	 credit	 risk	 is	 represented	 by	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 of	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash,	 short-term	
investments,	accounts	receivable	and	the	Dover	Put	Option	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheets.	Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash	and	
short-term	investments	held	by	the	Company	are	invested	with	counterparties	meeting	credit	quality	requirements	and	issuer	and	concentration	
limits	pursuant	to	an	investment	policy	that	is	periodically	reviewed	by	the	Audit	Committee.	The	policy	emphasizes	security	of	assets	over	
investment	yield.	

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	at	the	reporting	date	is:	

As at
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Cash	and	cash	equivalents $ 426,013 $ 424,542

Restricted	cash - 25,050

Short-term	investments 536,787 799,441

Accounts	receivable 37,012 12,687

Income	tax	receivable - 9,376

Dover	Put	Option 374,582 -

MacKay	River	Put	Option - 216,146

MAXIMUM	CREDIT	RISK	 $ 1,374,394 $ 1,487,242
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As	 at	 December	 31,	 2012	 and	 2011	 Athabasca’s	 cash,	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash	 and	 short-term	 investments	 were	 held	 with	 four	
counterparties.	The	Company	holds	investments	in	term	deposits	and	GICs	with	large	reputable	Canadian	financial	institutions.	The	Company’s	
management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	with	these	investments	is	low.	At	December	31,	2012,	no	one	institution	held	more	than	32%	
of	the	balances	(2011	–	42%).	

As	at	December	31,	2012,	54%	of	the	Company’s	consolidated	accounts	receivable	balance	is	due	from	the	Government	of	Canada	for	input	tax	
credits	(December	31,	2011,	41%).	25%	of	the	accounts	receivable	balance	relates	to	the	sale	of	petroleum	and	natural	gas	and	was	substantially	
collected	within	30	days	after	year	end.	Management	believes	collection	risk	on	outstanding	accounts	receivable	as	at	December	31,	2012		
is	minimal	as	the	Company	deals	with	high	quality	counterparties.	No	material	amounts	were	past	due	at	December	31,	2012,	based	on	the	
terms	with	the	counterparties.

As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	had	$9.4	million	in	income	tax	receivable	owing	from	the	provincial	government	for	tax	credits	earned	in	
2010	which	were	carried	back	and	claimed	against	2009	taxable	income.	The	receivable	was	collected	in	the	third	quarter	of	2012.	

Athabasca	holds	a	Put	Option	to	sell	its	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	oil	sands	project	for	gross	proceeds	of	$1.32	billion	which	has	been	valued	on	
the	consolidated	balance	sheet	(Note	13(c)).	Should	the	Dover	Put	Option	be	exercised,	the	Company’s	management	believes	that	credit	risk	
associated	with	this	financial	instrument	is	low	given	PetroChina’s	investment	grade	credit	rating.	

LIQUIDITY RISK 
The	Company’s	objective	in	managing	liquidity	risk	is	to	maintain	sufficient	available	reserves	to	meet	its	liquidity	requirements	at	any	point.	
The	Company	achieves	this	by	managing	its	capital	spending	and	maintaining	sufficient	funds	for	anticipated	short-term	spending	in	cash	and	
cash	equivalent	accounts.

Athabasca’s	announced	2013	capital	and	operating	budgets	will	be	 funded	with	existing	cash	and	short	 term	 investments,	cash	flow	 from	
operations	and	available	operating	lines	of	credit.	Beyond	2013,	the	Company	will	require	additional	capital	to	maintain	its	pace	of	development.	
The	Company	may	also	require	additional	capital	or	an	acceptable	alternate	form	of	security	if	needed	to	file	an	objection	against	any	possible	
tax	reassessment.	Athabasca	believes	it	will	fund	its	activities	and	other	requirements	through	some	combination	of	cash	flow	from	operations,	
the	potential	exercise	of	the	Dover	Put/Call	Options,	a	reasonable	level	of	debt	and	further	joint	ventures.	Until	required,	excess	cash	will	be	
invested.	The	Company’s	outstanding	financial	liabilities	mature	within	one	year,	except	for	the	Notes	which	mature	on	November	19,	2017.	

INTEREST RATE RISK 
The	Company’s	floating	interest	rate	profile	at	the	reporting	date	was	as	follows:

As at
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Cash	and	cash	equivalents(1) $ 378,347 $ 144,879

Restricted	cash - 25,050

Short-term	investments(2) - -

Current	portion	of	long-term	debt - (473,884)

Long	term	debt(3) - -

NET	INTEREST	RATE	EXPOSURE $ 378,347 $ (303,955)

(1)	 $47.7	million	in	cash	equivalents	as	at	December	31,	2012	(December	31,	2011	-	$279.7	million),	are	fixed	rate	financial	instruments	and	are	not	exposed	to	changes	in	interest	
rates	at	the	balance	sheet	date.

(2)	 All	short-term	investments	are	fixed	rate	financial	instruments	and	are	not	exposed	to	changes	in	interest	rates	at	the	reporting	date.

(3)	 The	Notes	of	$550	million	as	at	December	31,	2012	(December	31,	2011	–	nil),	are	subject	to	a	fixed	interest	rate	of	7.5%	per	annum	and	are	not	exposed	to	changes	in	interest	
rates	as	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	At	December	31,	2012,	no	amounts	were	drawn	under	the	Credit	Facility	which	bears	interest	based	on	the	applicable	Canadian	prime	rate,	US	
base	rate,	LIBOR	rate	or	bankers’	acceptance	rate	(Note	10).

The	Company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	fluctuations	on	interest	earned	on	the	floating	rate	cash	balance	of	$378.3	million,	from	a	1.0%	change	
in	interest	rates,	would	be	approximately	$3.7	million	for	a	twelve	month	period	(year	ended	December	31,	2011	-	$1.7	million).	
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c) PUT/CALL OPTIONS RELATED TO DOVER 
Detailed	 below	 are	 the	 Dover	 Put/Call	 Options	 associated	 with	 the	 Company’s	 40%	 interest	 in	 Dover	 (the	 “Dover	 Put/Call	 Options”).		
In	2012,	the	fair	value	of	the	Dover	Put	Option	was	recognized	for	accounting	purposes	(Note	5).

DOVER PUT OPTION

Phoenix	has	granted	to	the	Company	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option	within	30	days	following	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	project	
regulatory	approval	(as	described	in	the	Dover	Put/Call	Option	Agreement),	to	require	Phoenix	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOC	(Dover)	
for	the	purchase	price	of	$1.32	billion.	

DOVER CALL OPTION

The	Company	has	granted	to	Phoenix	the	right,	exercisable	at	Phoenix’s	option,	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOC	(Dover)	for	a	purchase	
price	of	$1.32	billion.	With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	by	Athabasca,	the	Dover	Call	Option	is	exercisable	and	will	remain	
exercisable	until	30	days	after	the	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	project	regulatory	approval.

14. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The	 Company’s	 objectives	 when	 managing	 capital	 are	 to	 safeguard	 the	 Company’s	 ability	 to	 pursue	 the	 acquisition,	 exploration	 and		
development	of	 its	resource	properties	or	potential	other	business	and	to	maintain	a	flexible	capital	structure	to	undertake	projects	 for	the	
benefit	of	its	stakeholders.	The	Company	considers	the	items	included	in	shareholders’	equity	and	long-term	debt	as	capital.		

Capital	managed	by	the	Company	as	at	December	31,	2012	and	December	31,	2011	was	as	follows:

As at
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#1 $ - $ 430,000

Long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#2 - 43,884

Senior	secured	second	lien	notes 529,011 -

Shareholders’	equity 3,459,720 3,153,894

TOTAL	CAPITAL	MANAGED $ 3,988,731 $ 3,627,778

The	Company	manages	the	capital	structure	and	makes	adjustments	 in	 light	of	changes	to	economic	conditions	and	risk	characteristics	of	
underlying	assets.	To	maintain	or	adjust	its	capital	structure	the	Company	may	obtain	or	repay	debt,	enter	into	joint	exploration	and	development	
arrangements,	acquire	or	dispose	of	assets,	issue	new	shares	or	repurchase	existing	shares.

To	facilitate	the	management	of	its	capital	requirements,	the	Company	prepares	annual	expenditure	budgets	that	are	approved	by	the	Board	of	
Directors	and	are	updated	throughout	the	year	as	required.	Longer	term	financial	models	are	also	utilized	to	schedule	and	forecast	anticipated	
cash	requirements.	Excess	cash	is	invested	in	accordance	with	an	investment	policy,	which	is	designed	to	ensure	that	cash	is	invested	in	highly	
liquid	short-term	 interest-bearing	 investments,	possessing	pre-approved	risk	profiles,	and	 is	available	as	 required.	The	 investment	policy	 is	
reviewed	periodically	by	the	Audit	Committee.

There	were	no	changes	in	the	Company’s	approach	to	capital	management	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012.	During	the	year,	Athabasca	
repaid	PetroChina	Loan	#1	and	PetroChina	Loan	#2	(Note	10)	and	issued	long	term	Notes.	In	addition,	Athabasca	entered	into	a	Credit	Facility	
providing	additional	borrowing	capacity	(Note	10).
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15. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING COMMON SHARES 
The	Company’s	authorized	share	capital	consists	of	an	unlimited	number	of	common	shares	and	an	unlimited	number	of	first	and	second	
preferred	shares.	There	are	no	first	or	second	preferred	shares	currently	outstanding.	None	of	the	Company’s	share	capital	has	a	par	value.	The	
following	table	summarizes	changes	to	the	Company’s	common	share	capital:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Number of 
Shares Amount

Number of 
Shares Amount

Balance	at	beginning	of	year 398,479,069 $ 1,943,362 398,917,941 $ 1,950,054

	 Repurchase	of	common	shares - - (1,717,310) (21,513)

	 Exercise	of	warrants	(b) 1,081,662 13,812 473,170 6,060

	 Exercise	of	stock	options	and	RSUs	(Note	16	b,c) 72,468 1,174 126,676 1,743

	 Contingently	returnable	shares	released	(Note	16	a) 170,725 2,566 823,509 7,018

	 Cancellation	of	incentive	shares	(Note	16	a) (19,833) - (144,917) -

BALANCE	AT	END	OF	YEAR 399,784,091  1,960,914 398,479,069 $ 1,943,362

On	December	20,	2010	Athabasca	filed	notice	to	make	a	Normal	Course	Issuer	Bid	(“the	Bid”)	to	purchase,	from	time	to	time,	up	to	10.0	million	
common	shares	on	the	open	market.	During	August	2011,	Athabasca	purchased	1.7	million	common	shares	on	the	open	market	pursuant	to	the	
Bid	at	an	average	price	of	$12.53	per	share.	The	Bid	expired	in	December	2011	and	was	not	renewed.

b) WARRANTS
On	November	9,	2010,	the	Company	acquired	100%	of	the	issued	and	outstanding	shares	of	Excelsior	Energy	Limited	(“Excelsior	Energy”),	
a	public	company	with	oil	sands	assets	in	the	Hangingstone	area,	by	way	of	plan	of	arrangement	for	total	cash	and	equity	consideration	of	
$133.2	million.	Pursuant	to	the	Excelsior	Energy	acquisition,	the	Company	issued	a	total	of	3.5	million	Athabasca	purchase	warrants,	2.8	million	
with	an	exercise	price	of	$8.65	per	warrant	and	0.7	million	with	an	exercise	price	of	$9.22	per	warrant.	The	following	table	summarizes	the	
changes	to	the	Company’s	warrants:

Warrant exercise price $8.65 $9.22 Total

Warrants Amount Warrants Amount Warrants Amount

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2010 1,727,008 $ 7,041 489,068 $ 1,835 2,216,076 $ 8,876

	 Warrants	exercised	 (319,324) (1,302) (153,846) (577) (473,170) (1,879)

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011 1,407,684 $ 5,739 335,222 $ 1,258 1,742,906 $ 6,997

	 Warrants	exercised (896,530) (3,655) (185,132) (695) (1,081,662) (4,350)

	 Warrants	expired	 (511,154) (2,084) (150,090) (563) (661,244) (2,647)

BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2012 - $ - - $ - - $ -

All	unexercised	warrants	expired	on	November	9,	2012.	The	value	of	the	remaining	warrants	was	transferred	to	contributed	surplus	upon	expiry.
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16. STOCK‑BASED COMPENSATION 

The	 Company’s	 stock-based	 compensation	 plans	 for	 employees,	 directors,	 and	 consultants	 consist	 of	 incentive	 shares,	 stock	 options	 and	
restricted	share	units.

a) INCENTIVE SHARES, AMENDED STOCK OPTIONS AND NOMINALLY PRICED STOCK OPTIONS
In	2006	the	Company	issued	to	Avenir	Capital	Corporation	(“Avenir”)	incentive	shares,	the	majority	of	which	were	available	for	allocation	to	
employees,	directors,	and	consultants.	This	plan	was	replaced	for	future	grants	with	the	Restricted	Share	Unit	plan	(Note	16(c)).	The	Company	
had	a	stock	option	plan	approved	in	2006	which	allowed	options	to	be	granted	to	employees,	directors	and	consultants.	This	option	plan	was	
replaced	by	a	new	option	plan	in	2009	(Note	16(b)).

In	2009,	the	options	issued	under	the	2006	plan	were	amended	and	additional	nominally	priced	stock	options	were	granted.	The	amended	
stock	options	and	nominally	priced	stock	options	were	immediately	exercised	with	the	returned	shares	held	in	trust	subject	to	the	satisfaction	
of	length	of	service	requirements.	

The	following	table	summarizes	all	common	shares	granted	and	held	in	trust	under	the	incentive	share,	amended	stock	option	and	nominally	
priced	stock	option	agreements:

Year ended
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Balance	granted	and	held	in	trust	at	beginning	of	year 2,133,700 5,647,586

	 Forfeited	 (151,999) (130,250)

	 Vested	and	released (526,934) (3,383,636)

BALANCE	GRANTED	AND	HELD	IN	TRUST	AT	END	OF	YEAR 1,454,767 2,133,700

As	at	December	31,	2012,	a	total	of	1,454,767	common	shares	were	held	in	trust	subject	to	length	of	service	requirements.	Of	this	amount,	
814,378	relate	to	shares	initially	issued	to	Avenir	and	will	be	returned	to	Avenir	if	the	length	of	service	requirement	is	not	met.	During	2012,	
19,833	shares	which	had	previously	been	forfeited	to	Avenir	were	returned	to	Athabasca	and	cancelled.	The	remaining	640,389	shares	held	
in	trust	are	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company	and	will	be	cancelled	if	the	length	of	service	requirement	is	not	met.	The	length	of	service	
requirements	for	the	shares	in	trust	will	be	met	at	various	times	in	2013.

b) STOCK OPTIONS 
The	Company	has	a	stock	option	plan,	approved	 in	2009,	which	allows	options	to	be	granted	to	employees,	directors	and	consultants.	All	
options	issued	by	the	Company	permit	the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	of	the	Company	at	the	stated	exercise	price	or	to	receive	a	
cash	payment	equal	to	the	appreciated	value	of	the	stock	option	at	the	sole	discretion	of	the	Company.	

The	stock	option	plan	is	a	rolling	plan	and	currently	limits	the	number	of	common	shares	that	may	be	issued	on	exercise	of	options	awarded	
under	the	plan	to	an	aggregate	of	10%	of	the	common	shares	outstanding	from	time	to	time,	less	the	number	of	common	shares	issuable	under	
the	Restricted	Share	Unit	plan.	Options	generally	vest	within	four	years	and	have	a	life	of	five	years.	

Year Ended December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Number of 
options

Exercise 
price(1) 

Number of 
options

Exercise 
price(1) 

Outstanding	stock	options	at	beginning	of	year 7,639,725 $ 13.11 3,242,000 $ 10.57

	 Granted	 5,453,565 $ 11.29 4,906,500 $ 14.82

	 Forfeited	and	cancelled (351,820) $ 13.37 (413,149) $ 13.91

	 Exercised	 (26,300) $ 9.64 (95,626) $ 10.90

OUTSTANDING	STOCK	OPTIONS	AT	END	OF	YEAR 12,715,170 $ 12.33 7,639,725 $ 13.11

EXERCISABLE	STOCK	OPTIONS	AT	END	OF	YEAR 2,721,276 $ 12.03 911,700 $ 9.64

(1)	 Weighted	average.	

The	average	estimated	fair	value	per	stock	option	granted	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	was	$3.91	(2011	-$4.89).	
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The	weighted	average	exercise	prices	of	the	Company’s	outstanding	stock	options	as	at	December	31,	2012	range	from	$3.95-$17.52	as	follows:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Range of exercise prices ($)
Number of 

options
Exercise 

price(1)

Years to 
expiry(1) 

Number of 
options

Exercise
price(1)

3.00-10.49 1,227,950 $ 8.82 2.36 753,750 $ 8.33

10.50-10.99 2,861,350 $ 10.83 4.56 55,825 $ 10.59

11.00-11.49 2,369,595 $ 11.29 3.43 539,375 $ 11.32

11.50-12.99 2,398,000 $ 12.00 3.77 417,225 $ 12.04

13.00-15.49 2,501,475 $ 14.68 3.58 615,901 $ 14.72

15.50-18.00 1,356,800 $ 16.72 3.26 339,200 $ 16.72

12,715,170 $ 12.33 3.66 2,721,276 $ 12.03

(1)	 Weighted	average.	

c) RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS (“RSUs”)
During	the	first	quarter	of	2010,	the	Company	established	a	RSU	stock-based	compensation	plan.	Under	the	terms	of	the	RSU	plan,	the	Company	
may	grant	RSUs	to	employees,	directors,	and	consultants.	All	RSU’s	issued	by	the	Company	permit	the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	
of	the	Company	for	$0.10	or	to	receive	a	cash	payment	equal	to	the	fair	market	value	of	the	common	shares	less	the	exercise	price	of	the	RSU	
at	the	sole	discretion	of	the	Company.	

The	RSU	plan	is	a	rolling	plan	and	currently	limits	the	number	of	common	shares	that	may	be	issued	on	exercise	of	RSUs	awarded	under	the	
plan	to	an	aggregate	of	10%	of	the	common	shares	outstanding	from	time	to	time,	less	the	number	of	common	shares	issuable	under	the	stock	
option	plan.	The	life	and	vesting	terms	of	the	RSU	plan	are	consistent	with	the	Company’s	stock	option	plan.

Year Ended
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Outstanding	restricted	share	units	at	beginning	of	period 2,313,629 708,400

	 Granted 3,539,001 1,741,979

	 Forfeited (92,380) (105,700)

	 Exercised (46,168) (31,050)

OUTSTANDING	RESTRICTED	SHARE	UNITS	AT	END	OF	PERIOD 5,714,082 2,313,629

EXERCISABLE	RESTRICTED	SHARE	UNITS	AT	END	OF	PERIOD 693,818 163,300

The	average	estimated	fair	value	per	RSU	granted	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	was	$11.10	(2011	-	$14.73).	

d) FAIR VALUE ASSUMPTIONS FOR STOCK‑BASED COMPENSATION 
The	Company	uses	the	Black-Scholes	pricing	model	to	calculate	the	fair	value	for	grants	under	its	stock-based	compensation	plans.	Estimated	
fair	values	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	were	calculated	using	the	following	weighted	average	assumptions:

For the year ended December 31, 2012
Stock Options and 

RSUs

Risk-free	interest	rate	(%) 1.2

Estimated	forfeiture	rate	(%) 5.0

Expected	life	(years) 3.8

Dividend	rate	(%) -

Volatility	(%) 43.8

The	share	price	is	determined	using	the	TSX	quoted	market	price	on	the	date	of	grant.	The	weighted	average	share	price	used	on	the	stock	
option	and	RSU	grants	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012	was	$11.29	per	share.	Volatility	is	based	on	the	historical	trading	price	variances	
of	the	Company’s	share	price	using	market	data.
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17. PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS

December 31,  
2012

December 31,  
2011

Weighted	average	shares	outstanding	-	basic 398,801,921 398,792,468

	 Dilutive	effect	of	stock	options	and	RSUs 1,225,695 1,542,199

	 Dilutive	effect	of	contingently	returnable	shares 640,389 876,613

	 Dilutive	effect	of	purchase	and	performance	warrants - 694,017

Weighted	average	shares	outstanding	-	diluted 400,668,005 401,905,297

Dilutive	securities	will	have	a	dilutive	effect	under	the	treasury	stock	method	only	when	the	average	market	price	of	the	common	shares	during	
the	period	exceeds	the	sum	of	the	exercise	price	of	the	securities	and	unamortized	stock-based	compensation.	

For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	14,820,056	(2011	-	4,434,300)	in	anti-dilutive	securities	were	excluded	from	the	calculation	of	diluted	
income	per	share.

18. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For	 the	 years	 ended	 December	 31,	 2012	 and	 2011,	 the	 Company’s	 general	 and	 administrative	 expenses	 consisted	 of	 the	 following		
expenditures	(activities):

December 31,  
2012

December 31,  
2011

Salaries	and	benefits $ 26,481 $ 14,285

Office	costs 12,692 7,209

Legal,	accounting	and	consulting 8,815 3,894

Stakeholder	relations 1,843 1,291

Other 487 1,554

TOTAL	GENERAL	AND	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXPENSES $ 50,318 $ 28,233

19. FINANCING AND INTEREST

For	the	years	ended	December	31,	2012	and	2011,	the	Company’s	financing	and	interest	expense	consisted	of	the	following:

December 31,  
2012

December 31,  
2011

Interest	expense	on	PetroChina	loans	#1	and	#2	(Note	10) $ 5,700 $ 26,768

Interest	expense	on	senior	secured	second	lien	notes	(Note	10) 4,919 -

Accretion	of	decommissioning	obligations	(Note	11) 3,026 2,236

Amortization	of	debt	issuance	costs 739 -

TOTAL	FINANCING	AND	INTEREST $ 14,384 $ 29,004
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20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The	following	table	summarizes	Athabasca’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	as	at	December	31,	2012	for	the	following	five	years		
and	thereafter:	

($ Thousands) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

Interest	expense	on	Notes	(Note	10)	 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 $ 41,250 - $ 206,250

Repayment	of	Notes	(Note	10) - - - - 550,000 - 550,000

Office	leases 4,112 4,092 10,256 10,181 9,775 88,837 127,253

Drilling	rigs 8,960 6,360 6,360 2,650 - - 24,330

Transportation 152 389 627 627 627 8,567 10,989

Purchase	commitments	and	other 7,486 94 - - - - 7,580

TOTAL	COMMITMENTS $ 61,960 $ 52,185 $ 58,493 $ 54,708 $ 601,652 $ 97,404 $ 926,402

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2012,	Athabasca	sanctioned	the	development	of	its	first	thermal	oil	project	in	Hangingstone	for	a	$536	million	base	
facility	and	$27	million	in	supporting	infrastructure	(not	included	in	the	table	above).	The	facilities	and	infrastructure	will	be	constructed	in	2013	
and	2014.

Athabasca	is	responsible	for	the	retirement	of	its	resource	assets	at	the	end	of	their	useful	lives	(Note	11).

Athabasca	has	entered	into	indemnity	agreements	with	its	directors	and	officers	whereby	the	Company	indemnifies	the	directors	and	officers	
from	all	personal	liability	and	loss	that	may	arise	in	service	to	the	Company.

In	2010	Dover	Operating	Corp	(“Dover	OpCo”),	was	created	to	operate	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures.	As	at	December	31,	2012	
(not	included	in	the	above	table),	Athabasca’s	40%	share	of	Dover	OpCo’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	was	$1.3	million	consisting	
mainly	of	office	leases.	

Athabasca	is	currently	undergoing	tax	related	reviews,	including	review	of	the	capital	treatment	of	the	February	2010	transaction	with	PetroChina	
and	the	March	2010	capital	dividend.	While	the	final	outcome	of	such	reviews	cannot	be	predicted	with	certainty	and	could	be	significant,	
Athabasca	believes	its	positions	as	filed	are	supportable	under	applicable	law	and	the	Company	has	not	currently	recognized	a	provision	in	its	
financial	statements	for	any	potential	reassessments.	In	the	event	that	the	Company	is	reassessed,	the	Company	would	be	required	to	deposit	
cash	with	the	relevant	taxing	authority	in	order	to	file	an	objection	against	such	reassessment,	the	amount	of	which	deposit	could	be	material.	

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Athabasca	has	seconded	staff	to	Dover	OpCo	and	some	members	of	Athabasca’s	staff	are	utilized	by	Dover	OpCo	under	a	shared	services	
arrangement.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	Athabasca	charged	Dover	OpCo	$6.8	million	to	recover	the	costs	of	these	seconded	and	
shared	service	staff	(2011	-	$8.2	million).	These	transactions	were	 in	the	normal	course	of	operations	and	were	measured	at	the	exchange	
amount.	The	charges	are	recorded	as	a	reduction	in	general	and	administrative	expense.	As	at	December	31,	2012,	accounts	receivable	did	not	
include	any	amounts	owing	from	Dover	OpCo	for	staff	discussed	above	(2011	-	$0.6	million).

During	the	first	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	entered	into	an	operating	and	technical	services	agreement	with	an	energy	company	that	has	certain	
directors	in	common	with	Athabasca,	which	provides	for	the	mutual	exchange	of	certain	services.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	no	
costs	were	 incurred	by	Athabasca	on	behalf	of	 the	energy	company	(2011	-	$1.2	million)	and	at	December	31,	2012	no	amounts	remained	
receivable.	These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	course	of	operations	and	were	measured	at	the	exchange	amount.
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Athabasca	has	determined	that	the	Company’s	key	management	personnel	consist	of	the	Company’s	directors	and	officers.	The	compensation	
and	other	benefits	paid	to	key	management	personnel	are	as	follows:

Executive compensation (year ended)
December 31,  

2012
 December 31,  

2011

Salaries,	fees	and	short-term	employee	benefits $ 5,480 $ 4,263

Share	based	payments 5,042 5,666

TOTAL	EXECUTIVE	COMPENSATION $ 10,522 $ 9,929

22. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

NET CHANGE IN NON‑CASH WORKING CAPITAL 
The	 following	 table	 reconciles	 the	 net	 changes	 in	 non-cash	 working	 capital	 from	 the	 balance	 sheet	 to	 the	 cash	 flow	 statement	 as	 at	
December	31,	2012	and	2011:

Year ended
December 31,  

2012
 December 31,  

2011

Change	in	accounts	receivable $ (24,325) $ (5,063)

Change	in	prepaid	expenses	and	other (4,029) (873)

Change	in	current	income	tax	receivable 9,376 -

Change	in	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 109,239 99,088

90,261 93,152

Other	items	impacting	changes	in	non-cash	working	capital:

	 Renouncement	of	flow	through	shares	(Note	12) - 2,005

	 Change	in	current	portion	of	decommissioning	obligations	(Note	11) 4,603 (5,990)

$ 94,864 $ 89,167

RELATED	TO:

	 Operating	activities $ (2,808) $ 14,043

	 Financing	activities - -

	 Investing	activities 97,672 75,124

NET	CHANGE	IN	NON-CASH	WORKING	CAPITAL $ 94,864 $ 89,167

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Year ended
December 31,  

2012
December 31,  

2011

Cash	taxes	paid	net	of	(refunds)	received $ (10,787) $ -

Cash	interest	paid $ 5,700 $ 26,734
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Chief	Financial	Officer

Rob	Harding	
Vice	President,	Corporate	Services

Anne	Schenkenberger	
Vice	President,	Legal	&	Corporate	Secretary

Richard	Koshman	
Vice	President,	Projects	&	Thermal	Operations

Rob	Bowie	
Vice	President,	Corporate	Development

Andre	De	Leebeeck	
Vice	President,	Investor	Relations

Heather	Douglas	
Vice	President,	Communications	&	External	Affairs

Don	Verdonck		
Vice	President

DIRECTORS

William	Gallacher	(2)(3)	
Chairman

Gary	H.	Dundas	(1)(2)(3)

Thomas	W.	Buchanan	(1)(3)

Marshall	L.	McRae	(1)(3)

Ronald	J.	Eckhardt	(2)

Sveinung	Svarte	(2)	
Chief	Executive	Officer

Member	of:	
(1)	 Audit	Committee	
(2)	 Reserves	and	Health,	Safety	&	Environmental	Committee	
(3)	 Compensation	and	Governance	Committee

CORPORATE OFFICE

2000,	250	-	6	Avenue	SW	
Calgary,	Alberta,	T2P	3H7	
Telephone:	(403)	237-8227	
Fax:	(403)	264-4640

WEBSITE

www.atha.com

Detailed	biographies	of	Athabasca’s	Board	of	Directors	and	
Management	are	available	on	the	Corporation’s	website.

TRUSTEE AND TRANSFER AGENT

Olympia	Trust	Company	
2300,	125	-	9	Avenue	SW	
Calgary,	Alberta,	T2P	0P6	
Telephone:	(403)	261-0900	
Fax:	(403)	265-1455

BANK

TD	Canada	Trust

AUDITORS

Ernst	&	Young	LLP

LEGAL COUNSEL

Burnet,	Duckworth	&	Palmer	LLP

INDEPENDENT EVALUATORS

GLJ	Petroleum	Consultants	Ltd.		
DeGolyer	and	MacNaughton	Canada	Limited

STOCK SYMBOL

ATH	
Toronto	Stock	Exchange
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